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FORWARD BY THE RANKING MEMBERS 

  

 This partisan investigation, such as it is, rests in large part on what Chairman Jordan has 
described as “dozens and dozens of whistleblowers… coming to us, talking about what is going 
on, the political nature at the Justice Department.”1 To date, the House Judiciary Committee has 
held transcribed interviews with three of these individuals. Chairman Jordan has, of course, 
refused to name any of the other “dozens and dozens” who may have spoken with him. He has 
also refused to share any of the documents which these individuals may have provided to the 
Committee. 

Nevertheless, based on interviews of the three witnesses that have been made available to 
us, we are able to draw a number of striking conclusions about the state of the Republican 
investigation. 

First, the three individuals we have met are not, in fact, “whistleblowers.”  These 
individuals, who put forward a wide range of conspiracy theories, did not present actual evidence 
of any wrongdoing at the Department of Justice or the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI). 

Second, the transcribed interviews we have held   thus far refute House Republican 
narrative about “bias” at the Department of Justice. We urge Chairman Jordan to schedule the 
public testimony of these individuals without delay. The American public should be able to 
judge for themselves whether these witnesses or their allegations are remotely credible. 

Third,  these interviews also reveal the active engagement and orchestration of disturbing 
outside influence on the witnesses and, potentially, the Republican members of the Select 
Subcommittee. A network of organizations, led by former Trump administration officials like 
Kash Patel and Russell Vought, appears to have identified these witnesses, provided them with 
financial compensation, and found them employment after they left the FBI. These same 
individuals lobbied for the creation of the Select Subcommittee in the first place. They have a 
story to tell, and they appear to be using House Republicans to tell it. 

Fourth, and finally, nearly all of the Republicans involved in this investigation—the 
witnesses, some of the Members, and certainly their outside operators—are tied together by the 
attacks of January 6, 2021. The witnesses whom we have met objected to the arrest of 
individuals suspected to have laid siege to the United States Capitol. Others of the “dozens and 
dozens,” we suspect, participated directly in the riot. If this investigation is an attempt to 
whitewash the insurrection or hedge against pending indictments, it has been spectacularly 
ineffective—but these extremists share a view antithetical to the safety of our republic, and the 
American public has a right to be concerned. 

We note that, in the ordinary course of business, we would not disclose the substance of a 
transcribed interview at this stage of an investigation. Even when we do not agree with the aims 
of our Republican colleagues, we respect the importance of Congressional oversight. We 
directed our staff to prepare this report only after we learned that House Republicans had begun 

 
1 The Weaponization of the Federal Government: Hearing Before the H. Select Subcomm. on the Weaponization of 
the Fed. Gov’t, 118th Cong. (Feb. 9, 2023) (statement of Hon. Jim Jordan, Chairman, H. Comm. on the Judiciary). 
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to share the contents of these interviews with the press. Full context and a reasonable rebuttal are 
necessary to protect the truth. 

We commend to you this staff report on GOP Witnesses: What Their Disclosures 
Indicate About the State of the Republican Investigations. We hope it serves to educate the public 
about how House Republicans have found very few facts to fit their favorite talking points, even 
if it does not convince our colleagues to change their ways. 

____________________________ ____________________________ 

Jerrold Nadler  Stacey E. Plaskett 
Ranking Member Ranking Member 
House Committee on the Judiciary Select Subcommittee on the Weaponization 

of the Federal Government   
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Executive Summary 

On November 4, 2022, House Judiciary Committee Republicans released a staff report 
claiming that “a multitude of whistleblowers” had contacted them to describe a wide range of 
politically motivated misconduct at the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI).2 These allegations 
appear to form the basis of the Republican investigation into “the FBI’s politicized bureaucracy” 
and “misconduct and abuses apparent in the Justice Department.”3 

The Committee has now heard from three of these so-called whistleblowers: George Hill, 
a retired FBI Supervisory Intelligence Analyst from the FBI’s Boston Field Office; Garret 
O’Boyle, a suspended FBI special agent from the Wichita Resident Agency in Kansas; and 
Stephen Friend, a former special agent with the FBI’s Daytona Beach Resident Agency. 

None of these witnesses has provided evidence of misconduct by the FBI, the Department 
of Justice, or any other public official. Each offered a wide range of personal opinions—but to 
the extent that they testified about matters to which they claim to have firsthand knowledge at 
all, none showed any evidence of wrongdoing. 

Additionally, there is reason to doubt the credibility of these witnesses. Each endorses an 
alarming series of conspiracy theories related to the January 6 Capitol attack, the COVID 
vaccine, and the validity of the 2020 election. One has called repeatedly for the dismantling of 
the FBI. Another suggested that it would be better for Americans to die than to have any kind of 
domestic intelligence program. It is no surprise that House Republicans have so far refused to 
allow these individuals to testify in public. 

Even more alarming, these so-called “whistleblowers” are directly connected to a 
network of extreme MAGA Republican operatives, including former Trump administration 
officials Kash Patel, Russell Vought, and Mark Meadows, who have incentive to promote these 
witnesses and their meritless claims in order to feed their radical agenda, attack Democrats, cast 
doubt on the decisions of the Department of Justice, and advance Donald Trump’s candidacy for 
President. Chairman Jordan made the ultimate goal of his inquiries clear when he promised that 
his investigation would “frame up the 2024 race when I hope and I think President Trump is 
going to run again and we need to make sure that he wins.”4 

Key Findings 

Finding 1: No evidence of misconduct. 

 Whistleblowers who come forward to expose waste, fraud, and abuse in government 
often do so at great personal risk, and federal law rightly protects good faith whistleblowers from 
retaliation by their employers. Republicans may want to use the term “whistleblower” to describe 
their witnesses so that they can conduct their investigation in secret and spin a narrative about 
retaliation. They have refused to share disclosures made by these witnesses on the grounds of 

 
2 Republican Staff Report, FBI Whistleblowers: What Their Disclosures Indicate About the Politicization of the FBI 
and Justice Department at 2 (Nov. 4, 2022), https://judiciary.house.gov/sites/evo-subsites/republicans-
judiciary.house.gov/files/legacy_files/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/HJC_STAFF_FBI_REPORT.pdf. 
3 Id. at 2-3. 
4 Rep. Jim Jordan, Chairman, H. Comm. on the Judiciary, Statement at the Conservative Political Action Conference 
at 05:15 (Aug. 4, 2022), https://www.c-span.org/video/?522151-109/conservative-political-action-conference-rep-
jim-jordan 
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“whistleblower” protection.5 They have attempted to shield their witnesses from public scrutiny 
on the same grounds. But the witnesses interviewed by the Committee so far are not, in fact, 
“whistleblowers.”  

Federal law only protects FBI employees from retaliation when making claims that they 
“reasonably believe” provide evidence of “(A) any violation of any law, rule, or regulation; or 
(B) gross mismanagement, a gross waste of funds, an abuse of authority, or a substantial and 
specific danger to public health or safety.”6 None of the three witnesses interviewed to date 
comes close to meeting that definition. 

 Witness George Hill, who retired from the Boston Field Office as a supervisory 
intelligence analyst in October 2021, claimed to have learned that a financial institution provided 
the FBI with evidence it believed may be relevant to the January 6 Capitol attack investigations. 
He had no knowledge of the actual origins of this supposed evidence, never used the evidence 
himself, and never looked at the actual document containing the information. In fact, he did not 
even work on January 6 cases himself—at most, he supervised intelligence analysts who did 
research in support  of “less than a dozen” cases.7 Committee Democrats cannot reasonably find 
this testimony reliable. In any event, that a large financial institution may have provided 
evidence to the FBI in the aftermath of the attack on the Capitol is hardly newsworthy, and 
certainly not evidence of FBI misconduct. 

 Hill also alleged that the FBI’s Washington Field Office (WFO) asked the Boston Field 
Office to assist in running particular January 6-related investigative leads. He admitted that he 
was not actually privy to those conversations and said further that, as far as he knew, Boston 
exercised its independent judgment and declined to pursue those leads. Again, his testimony is 
based on secondhand knowledge. Again, even standing alone, the underlying allegation does not 
actually show either misconduct or the “weaponization” of the government. 

 Witness Garret O’Boyle claimed that he had made protected disclosures to Committee 
Republicans but, in his interview, declined to state for the record what those disclosures might 
be. Based on his testimony, however, it appears that he was asked to consider taking a particular 
investigative step with respect to a January 6 matter; that he declined to do so; and that he 
suffered no professional repercussions for exercising his judgment. Nothing in his testimony 
suggests misconduct at the FBI. 

 Witness Stephen Friend made two primary claims. First, Friend claimed that the FBI 
departed from its internal operations manual as it managed hundreds of cases after the January 6 
Capitol attack. Friend brought this claim to the Justice Department Inspector General and the 
Office of Special Counsel. Both rejected the claim. The Office of Special Counsel noted, in its 
rejection letter, that FBI policy explicitly allows for departure from the manual in certain 
circumstances. Friend admitted that he had no knowledge of any discussion at FBI leadership 

 
5 Committee Democrats have repeatedly asked Committee Republicans to produce any documents and disclosures 
made to them by the so-called “whistleblowers.” Committee Republicans have repeatedly declined to do so, in one 
case wrongly claiming, “we don't have the authority to provide [the documents] to you.” Interview with Garret 
O’Boyle at 56 (Feb. 10, 2023) (transcript on file with the Committee). [Hereinafter Garret O’Boyle Testimony] 
6 5 U.S.C. § 2303 (a)(2)(A-B). 
7 Interview with George Hill at 111 (Feb. 7, 2023) (transcript on file with the Committee). [Hereinafter George Hill 
Testimony] 
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related to a departure from the manual, and he could not clearly explain why such a departure 
might be harmful. 

Second, Friend objected to the use of a SWAT team in the arrest of certain January 6 
suspects on August 24, 2022. The suspects arrested that day are members of the Three Percenters 
domestic extremist group. On cross-examination, Friend admitted that he was not a member of 
the SWAT team, did not participate in any decisions about the use of the SWAT team, did not 
review the SWAT team matrix, and was not certain which suspect the SWAT team would arrest. 
He acknowledged that the individuals arrested that day were known by the FBI to be armed and 
dangerous. He presented no evidence to suggest that the FBI’s decision to use the SWAT team 
was anything more than a precaution to protect FBI personnel and other law enforcement 
officers. 

 In sum, none of the witnesses have provided evidence related to a violation of law, 
policy, or abuse of authority. None are “whistleblowers” in any sense recognized by federal law 
or any federal agency. Although each has offered predominantly secondhand claims and hearsay, 
none has provided evidence to support the claims of House Republicans. 

Finding 2: These witnesses are deeply biased. 

Committee Democrats find that the witnesses’ embrace of January 6-related conspiracy 
theories and related extreme views on domestic terrorism and the FBI strongly undermine their 
credibility. 

George Hill claimed, among other things, that the attack on the Capitol on January 6, 
2021, was “a set up,”8 that it was “a larger #Democrat plan using their enforcement arm, the 
#FBI,”9 and that rioter Ashli Babbit was “murdered” by a Capitol Police officer10. He also 
described the FBI as “the Brown Shirt enforcers of the @DNC,” an apparent reference to Nazi 
Storm Troopers.11 He has publicly stated that “there needs to take place a reeducation” and that 
Americans should embrace the risk of dying by terrorism rather than accept the domestic 
intelligence programs that keep them safe.12 He even has extreme views on the work of the new 
Republican Select Subcommittee: 

The Republicans are talking about a 21st century, a 2023 version of the Church 
Committee…I think what Shakespeare said, if you’re going to kill the king, make 
sure you kill the king. If they’re going to go after—this new committee—after the 
intelligence community, they better make sure they get out every bit of cancer 

 
8 George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Dec. 28, 2022, 9:45 AM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1608111891749937155. 
9 George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Nov. 26, 2022, 5:17 PM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1596629184788721664. 
10 George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Jan. 6, 2023, 8:29 AM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1611354279851298816. 
11 George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Nov. 30, 2022, 10:53 AM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1597982151601160193. 
12 The Kyle Seraphin Show, George Hill: FBI, NSA & USMC, PODBEAN at 01:48:38 (Jan. 9, 2023), 
https://thekyleseraphinshow.podbean.com/e/george-hill-nsa-fbi-usmc/. 
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that’s out there. Because I can tell you right now, it’s going to come back, and it’ll 
come back stronger and more vicious than ever.13 

Garret O’Boyle declined to say that Capitol Police Officer Brian Sicknick died as a result 
of the actions of rioters during the attack on the Capitol. He compared COVID-19 vaccine 
acceptance to the actions of Reserve Police Battalion 101, a Nazi police force.14 

Stephen Friend also embraces conspiracy theories about the January 6 Capitol attack. In a 
December 2, 2022, public letter to FBI Director Wray, Friend asked what he described as “tough 
but fair” questions such as, “Will you commit to educating executive management personnel that 
J6 protesters did not kill any police officers?”; “Is Ray Epps a confidential human source?”; and 
“Why didn’t the FBI open a civil rights violation investigation concerning the killing of Ashli 
Babbit?”15 

Friend has also demonstrated severe animus against the FBI, calling it a “a feckless, 
garbage institution”16 that “needs to be control, alt, deleted and completely eliminated and 
eradicated from the federal government.”17 From when he joined Twitter on November 16, 2022, 
through February 14, 2023, Friend posted over 20 times calling for the FBI to be defunded,18 
dismantled,19 dissolved,20 aborted,21 abolished,22 or otherwise ended.23 

Committee Democrats find the witnesses’ comments seriously troubling and conclude 
that the severe bias demonstrated by each witness sharply undermines their credibility. 

Finding 3: These witnesses are supported by extreme MAGA operatives. 

Kash Patel, a longtime Trump loyalist, has made no secret of his disdain for the Justice 
Department and the FBI—in fact, in 2018, he was the primary author of a memo “widely 
dismissed as a biased argument of cherry-picked facts,”24 which accused the FBI and Justice 

13 Id. at 1:40:51. 
14 Garret O’Boyle (@GOBActual), TWITTER (Jan. 17, 2023, 10:10 AM) 
15 Stephen Friend (@Real_SteveFriend), TRUTH SOCIAL, (Feb. 26, 2023, 4:22 PM), 
https://truthsocial.com/@Real_SteveFriend/posts/109933135255526894. 
16 Steve Friend (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER (Feb. 21, 2023), 
https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend/status/1628171705586704387. 
17 Mill Creek View Tennessee Podcast, Mill Creek View Tennessee Podcast EP17 Stephen Friend Interview & More 
November 8 2022, PODOMATIC at 23:24 (Nov. 8, 2022), 
https://www.podomatic.com/podcasts/steve70281/episodes/2022-11-08T16_30_09-08_00. 
18 E.g., Steve Friend (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER (Jan. 2, 2023, 10:10 AM), 
https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend/status/1609930175965270017. 
19 E.g., Steve Friend (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER (Dec. 24, 2022, 9:04 PM), 
https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend/status/1606833333165596673. 
20 E.g., Steve Friend (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER (Dec. 16, 2022, 10:40 PM), 
https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend/status/1603958354694610944. 
21 E.g., Steve Friend (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER (Dec. 26, 2022, 6:52 AM), 
https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend/status/1607343573615124482. 
22 E.g., Steve Friend (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER (Feb. 8, 2023, 7:26 PM), 
https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend/status/1623478351934418946. 
23 See, e.g., Steve Friend (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER (Feb. 14, 2023, 7:42 PM), 
https://twitter.com/realstevefriend/status/1625656884626706433; see also Appendix A. 
24 Julian E. Barnes, Adam Goldman & Nicholas Fandos White House Aides Feared That Trump Had Another 
Ukraine Back Channel, N.Y. TIMES (Oct. 13, 2019), https://www.nytimes.com/2019/10/23/us/politics/kash-patel-
ukraine.html. 
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Department of abusing their powers—substantially similar to the claims Committee Republicans 
now advance through their investigations. 

Witnesses Garret O’Boyle and Stephen Friend both testified that they have received 
financial support from Patel, with Friend explaining that Patel sent him $5,000 almost 
immediately after they connected in November 2022. Patel has also promoted Friend’s 
forthcoming book on social media. 

But Patel’s assistance has not just been financial. He arranged for attorney Jesse Binnall, 
who served as Donald Trump’s “top election-fraud lawyer” when Trump falsely claimed the 
2020 election was stolen, to serve as counsel for Garret O’Boyle. When Committee Democrats 
asked O’Boyle about this financial connection, Binnall appeared to surprise his client with an 
announcement that he was now representing O’Boyle pro bono. Committee Democrats infer that 
Binnall hoped to distance his connection to Patel and others. 

Patel also found Friend his next job. Friend now works as a fellow on domestic 
intelligence and security services with the Center for Renewing America, which is run by former 
Trump official Russell Vought and is largely funded by the Conservative Partnership Institute, 
which itself is run by former Trump chief of staff Mark Meadows and former Senator Jim 
DeMint.  

Conclusion 

In an attempt to prove their “weaponization” allegations, Republicans have turned to 
three individuals who have not only failed to provide any evidence of wrongdoing but are also 
entirely lacking in credibility. In contrast, the Committee heard from one supremely credible 
former FBI official who directly refuted the narratives Republicans are working to advance. 
Committee Democrats thus conclude that Republicans are not running good-faith investigations. 
Instead, they are using this committee as a political messaging campaign designed “make sure” 
that Donald Trump wins in 2024. 
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Section I: The Transcribed Interviews Conducted to Date Do Not Provide Any Evidence to 
Support Allegations of FBI Misconduct With Respect to Its Handling of January 6 Matters 

or Other Allegations Raised by Committee Republicans 

I. The Individuals Who Appeared Before the Committee Are Witnesses, Not 
“Whistleblowers” 

Committee Republicans rest much of their ongoing investigation on a set of “FBI agents 
who have come forward as whistleblowers.”25 Although he has not shared their names or any 
disclosures they may have made to the Committee, Chairman Jordan has hinted that there are 
“dozens and dozens” of such individuals forming the basis of his work this Congress.26  

 The individuals who have appeared before the Committee so far are “witnesses,” 
not “whistleblowers.”  

Whistleblowing activity at the FBI is governed by federal statute. Under 5 U.S.C. § 2303, 
Prohibited Personnel Practices, only certain categories of information qualify as “protected 
disclosures,” meaning that it is illegal for agencies, including the FBI, to take any retaliatory 
action against a witness on the basis of that disclosure.27  

Specifically, it is illegal for FBI officials to retaliate against an individual who makes a 
disclosure to certain designated authorities, including Congress, that he or she “reasonably 
believes” provides evidence of “(A) any violation of any law, rule, or regulation, or (B) gross 
mismanagement, a gross waste of funds, an abuse of authority, or a substantial and specific 
danger to public health or safety.”28 

As the interview transcripts demonstrate, none of the allegations made by any witness 
who has appeared so far concerns either a violation of a law, or gross mismanagement, waste of 
funds, abuse of authority, or a substantial or specific danger to public health or safety. Instead, 
the witnesses presented claims relating to their personal opinions—most of which lacked actual 
firsthand knowledge of the events or matters at issue. No law protects witnesses who speak to 
Congress under these circumstances. Accordingly, the individuals who testified before the 
Committee cannot be referred to as “whistleblowers,” nor should the information they provided 
be considered protected disclosures.  

II. Witness Summary: George Hill  

Retired FBI Supervisory Intelligence Analyst George Hill testified before the Committee 
on February 7, 2023.29 Hill made multiple statements regarding the FBI’s handling of January 6-
related investigations, but on cross-examination admitted that he did not in fact have personal 
firsthand knowledge of the matters he was describing. Moreover, an investigation of Hill’s prior 
public statements shows that he embraces extreme conspiracy theories about the attack on the 

 
25 The Weaponization of the Federal Government: Hearing Before the H. Select Subcomm. on the Weaponization of 
the Fed. Gov’t, 118th Cong. (Feb. 9, 2023) (statement of Hon. Jim Jordan, Chairman, H. Comm. on the Judiciary). 
26 Id. 
27 5 U.S.C. § 2303 
28 5 U.S.C. § 2303 (a)(2)(A-B). 
29 In advance of the interview, Committee Democrats asked Committee Republicans to produce any documents Mr. 
Hill had previously produced to them. Committee Republicans declined to do so and instead referred Committee 
Democrats to Hill’s attorney. 

10 of 315



Capitol on January 6, 2021, and he exhibits significant bias towards the government, the FBI, 
and certain political groups. Hill has also expressed a desire to help Committee Republicans 
dismantle the intelligence community. 

For these reasons, Committee Democrats find that Hill’s testimony is marred by 
substantial bias and lacks any real hallmarks of credibility.  

A. Hill Testified About Matters as to Which He Had Limited Firsthand 
Knowledge 

During his interview, Hill made multiple claims about the FBI’s handling of criminal 
investigations into the January 6 Capitol attack, despite having very little personal involvement 
in those investigations. In fact, Hill stated that prior to his October 2021 retirement, neither he 
nor the analysts he supervised were responsible for any January 6-related cases: 

Q  So you and … your intelligence analysts were not directly involved in any 
cases. Is that right?  

A My analysts may do research in support of a case, yes, but not interviews. 
They may respond to a lead from a case, but they're not responsible for the 
case.30  

While he noted that the analysts he supervised “may do research in support of a case,” 
when he was asked to estimate how many January 6-related cases his analysts may have 
supported, he answered, “I wouldn’t say it’s a great deal. I’d say less than a dozen.”31 

This lack of direct personal knowledge appears to have led Hill to reach certain 
conclusions without an adequate predicate. For example, while being questioned by Republican 
staff, Hill claimed that a financial institution provided a self-generated customer list to the FBI of 
its own volition, that the Boston Field Office had been asked to conduct seven preliminary 
investigations based on that list, and that FBI field offices around the country were also asked to 
open preliminary investigations—according to Hill, the “least-intrusive method” of 
investigation—based on that list.32  

As noted, Hill explained that he himself did not handle any cases, so his knowledge of the 
investigations was limited by his role. Moreover, he revealed that he had no information about 
the origins of the list, he did not recall which entity uploaded the list to the FBI’s system, and, 
while he viewed an electronic communication referencing the list in the FBI’s case management 
system, he never opened or viewed the actual list itself.33 Hill also explained multiple times that 
the Boston office did not actually take any action with respect to the list.34 For example, when 
asked if he had been instructed to analyze the list, Hill explained that “the CT2 supervisor said, 
‘No, we’re not doing this based on that.’”35 Finally, another witness who has come before the 

 
30 George Hill Testimony at 111. 
31 Id. 
32 Id. at 74-79. Hill explained, “Least intrusive methods would be, okay, who is that person? What is their social 
media profile? Stuff without interrupting people’s daily routine. So are there any police records related to this 
individual? Were there any other reports related to this individual?” Id. at 115. 
33 George Hill Testimony at 74-81, 113-14, 118-19. 
34 E.g., Id. at 74-75. 
35 Id. at 119. 
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Committee has testified that, while he viewed January 6-related information packets 
disseminated to various field offices, he has no recollection of seeing anything similar to that 
described by Hill.36 

Committee Republicans emphasized that the list was provided “without any legal 
process.”37 This claim is spurious because no legal process is required when an entity freely 
shares information with a federal agency, particularly when the FBI or another government 
agency has not actually requested that information. As Hill explained, nothing prevents citizens 
from voluntarily providing evidence to law enforcement.38 

Hill also claimed that a supervisor in the Boston Field Office declined to investigate 
certain individuals who traveled to Washington, DC, on January 6, 2021, because he did not feel 
he had sufficient predicate to do so.39 While originally claiming that he “was privy to these 
conversations firsthand,”40 Hill later admitted during Democratic questioning that he heard about 
this case secondhand, noting that his memory may be faulty: “It’s over 2 years ago.”41 Again, 
because of Hill’s limited involvement in January 6 matters, it is unlikely he would have had 
personal knowledge of the handling of this or other January 6 cases. 

B. Hill’s Severe Anti-FBI Bias and Extreme Views Regarding January 6 and 
Domestic Intelligence Undermine His Credibility 

1. Hill Embraces January 6-Related Conspiracy Theories 

Hill’s testimony before the Committee must be viewed in light of his adherence to 
extreme conspiracy theories about the Capitol attack, as demonstrated by statements he has made 
on his Twitter account, @SeniorChiefEXW42 and by his refusal to disclaim these statements 
when presented with the opportunity to do so during his interview. 

Notably, Hill embraces the discredited theory that a pro-Trump rioter, Ray Epps, was in 
fact a confidential human source “planted” by the “Deep State” to instigate other rioters to attack 
the Capitol on January 6, 2021. The Epps conspiracy theory has been disproven by near-
contemporaneous recordings released in connection with January 6 criminal cases43 and by 
testimony Epps himself provided to the January 6 Select Committee on January 21, 2022.44 

 
36 Interview with Stephen Friend at 108-109 (Feb. 15, 2023) (transcript on file with the Committee). [Hereinafter 
Stephen Friend Testimony] 
37 George Hill Testimony at 76. 
38 Id. 
39 Id. at 82. 
40 Id. 
41 Id. at 117. 
42 During the interview, Hill confirmed that he is responsible for the “@SeniorChiefEXW” Twitter account. Id. at 
127. According to the account header, Hill joined Twitter in August 2021, and as of March 1, 2023, he has tweeted 
or retweeted items 6,011 times.  
43 Alan Feuer, New Evidence Undercuts Jan. 6 Instigator Conspiracy Theory, N.Y. TIMES (Oct. 13, 2022), 
https://www.nytimes.com/2022/05/05/us/jan-6-ray-epps-evidence.html. 
44 Transcript, Interview with Ray Epps, H. SELECT COMM. TO INVESTIGATE THE JAN. 6TH ATTACK ON THE U.S. 
CAPITOL (Jan. 21, 2022), https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/GPO-J6-TRANSCRIPT-
CTRL0000038864/pdf/GPO-J6-TRANSCRIPT-CTRL0000038864.pdf; see also Ryan J. Reilly, Pro-Trump 
Protestor Ray Epps Told Committee ‘Crazy’ Conspiracy Theories Tore Apart His Life, NBC NEWS (Dec. 29, 2022), 
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Nonetheless, Hill has repeatedly supported the Epps theory, such as tweeting on January 
6, 2023, “Happy Anniversary Ray Epps, from your friends in The Deep State. Job well done! 
#J6.”45 During his interview, Hill acknowledged that this tweet came off his profile, but he stated 
that he could not remember posting it: “I don’t know how many Twitter posts I have. I don’t 
recall every single one.”46 

In addition to embracing the Epps conspiracy theory, Hill has also suggested that an 
unidentified “scaffold commander”47 and active-duty marines arrested for participating in the 
January 648 riot all secretly acted on behalf of the government in support of what he has called 
the “Fedsurrection.”49 When asked about these tweets at his interview, Hill declined to comment, 
stating that he was “not going to get into defending or explaining First Amendment-protected 
activity.”50 

On December 22, 2022, Hill wrote, “@SpeakerPelosi and her staff have blood on their 
hands. #J6.”51 At his interview, Hill admitted this was his tweet and stated that it was “First 
Amendment-protected activity” and that he would not explain it further.52 

 
 

https://www.nbcnews.com/politics/congress/-trump-protester-ray-epps-told-jan-6-committee-crazy-conspiracy-
theori-rcna63615. 
45 Geroge Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Jan. 6, 2023, 8:27 AM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1611353706070409218. 
46 George Hill Testimony at 132. 
47 George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Jan. 8, 2023, 4:55 PM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1612206373856493568. 
48 George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Jan. 19, 2023, 6:02 PM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1616209590110019585. 
49 George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Jan. 6, 2023, 5:44 PM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1611493962002432003. 
50 George Hill Testimony at 132. 
51 George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Dec. 22, 2022, 6:16 PM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1606066219987210242. 
52 George Hill Testimony at 138-39. 
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On December 28, 2022, he retweeted a post from @LynneS700 stating, “Patriots were 
the ONLY ones trying to STOP the Fake Insurrection violence being committed by Implanted 
Antifa. (Pelosi’s buddies).” He commented, “Insurrection my a$$. It was a set up and sadly, 
there’s no shortage of idiots willing to take the bait.”53 At his interview, Mr. Hill acknowledged, 
“It does look like it’s my tweet,” but did not comment further.54 

 
Hill has also advanced theories that Democratic politicians colluding with the FBI were 

responsible for the events of January 6, including comparing the FBI to Nazi Storm Troopers,55 
who were known as the Brownshirts.56 On November 30, 2022, Hill retweeted a post from Rep. 
Marjorie Taylor Greene which asked, “If the FBI had so many informants inside a group, why 
don’t they stop J6 from happening?”57 He commented, “The #FBI are the Brown Shirt enforcers 

 
53 George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Dec. 28, 2022, 9:45 AM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1608111891749937155. 
54 George Hill Testimony at 137-38. 
55 E.g., George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Jun. 25, 2022, 10:44 PM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1540888727152742400. 
56 The Editors of Encyclopaedia Britannica, SA, ENCYCLOPAEDIA BRITANNICA (Feb. 18, 2023), 
https://www.britannica.com/topic/SA-Nazi-organization. 
57 George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Nov. 30, 2022, 10:53 AM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1597982151601160193. 
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of the @DNC. By the Bureau’s own policy, they are obligated to disrupt if innocent lives are at 
risk. But #Trump supporters aren’t ever innocent – are they?”58 

 
This mirrors a theme he raised in November 2022, when he retweeted an Epoch Times article 
with a picture of now-Chairman Jordan.59 The headline of the article reads, “FBI Waited Over a 
Year to Fully Investigate Jan. 6 Pipe Bombs: House Judiciary.” He commented, “The reason that 
bomber is not already in jail is because this is part of a larger #Democrat plan using their 
enforcement arm, the #FBI.”60 When asked about both tweets during the interview, Hill stated 
that it was First Amendment-protected activity and that he would not explain it.61 

Hill also promotes extreme views of the deaths of January 6 rioters Ashli Babbit and 
Rosanne Boyland. Boyland was crushed by the crowd in the Capitol on January 6, 2021, and 
died of acute amphetamine intoxication.62 Some on the far-right, though, believe without 
evidence that Boyland was killed by law enforcement and see her as a martyr.63 On January 19, 
2023, Hill tweeted an Epoch Times story referencing bodycam footage that shows Boyland, and 
he commented, “I’m disappointed @SpeakerMcCarthy ended the #J6 committee. There needs to 
be a real investigation. #RosanneBoyland.”64 

 
58 Id. 
59 George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Nov. 26, 2022, 5:17 PM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1596629184788721664. 
60 Id. 
61 George Hill Testimony at 139-40. 
62 Ayman M. Mohyeldin & Preeti Varathan, Rosanne Boyland Was Outside the U.S. Capitol Last January 6. How—
And Why—Did She Die?, VANITY FAIR (Jan. 5, 2022), https://www.vanityfair.com/news/2022/01/capitol-
insurrection-rosanne-boyland-how-and-why-did-she-die. 
63 Id. 
64 George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Jan. 19, 2023, 8:53 PM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1616252459143282692. 
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Hill has similarly claimed that Ashli Babbitt was murdered by Capitol Police and that 
Lieutenant Michael Byrd, the African American officer who shot her, should be in jail. On 
January 6, 2023, Hill tweeted a meme with a photo of Byrd next to a photo of Babbitt.65 The 
meme states, “This needs to be posted daily until that SOB is arrested & stands trial. Michael 
Byrd Murdered Ashli Babbitt January 6, 2021.”66 A few days prior, Hill retweeted a post which 
read, “FACT: Michael Byrd murdered Ashli Babbitt… The [expletive] should be in Prison.”67 
Byrd, who was the target of racist vitriol and death threats after his name was leaked, was 
cleared of wrongdoing by both Capitol Police and the Department of Justice, the latter of which 
concluded that there was no evidence to contradict that Byrd believed that it was necessary to 
fire a single shot at Babbitt “in self-defense or in defense of the Members of Congress and others 
evacuating the House Chamber.”68 

2. Hill Holds Extreme Views Opposing a Domestic Intelligence Program 

Much of Hill’s testimony to the Committee concerned allegations regarding the FBI’s 
intelligence gathering components. This testimony must be viewed in light of his extreme views 
of the intelligence community. One instance in which he expressed these views was during a 
January 9, 2023, podcast appearance, when he asserted, “I don’t think we need a domestic intel 
program.”69 According to Hill:  

The Congress with the Patriot Act gave them [the FBI] a mission. They gave them 
a domestic intelligence capability. George Bush challenged Bob Mueller – Bob –
he told Bob Mueller, he said, “I know you're going to find the people who did 
this, the 9/11 attack. What I want to know, Bob, is what are we going to do to stop 
the next one?” And that was the genesis. That was the very beginning of how we 
got to where we're at today of this Minority Report-like manner of law 
enforcement where we're trying to do predictive analysis of when a crime is going 
to be committed…  

…The FBI is going to salute smartly and say, “Yes sir, we can do this,” or 
“Yes, ma'am,” if we have a female president. They're going to say, “We can do 
this.” And they're going to do it, which is no American shall die at the hands of 
terrorism. And that was the mission.70 

Hill perceives this is as a negative goal: 

There needs to take place a reeducation. And people need to understand that line 
in the national anthem, “And the home of the brave,” willing to accept some risk 
… People have to learn to start embracing risk, not only in terms of achieving 

 
65 George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Jan. 6, 2023, 8:29 AM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1611354279851298816. 
66 Id. 
67 @GuntherEagleman, TWITTER (Jan. 2, 2023, 5:36 PM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1610262756975935489. 
68 Rich Schapiro, Anna Schecter and Chelsea Damberg, Officer who shot Ashli Babbitt during Capitol riot breaks 
silence: 'I saved countless lives,’ NBC NEWS (Aug. 26, 2021), https://www.nbcnews.com/news/us-news/officer-
who-shot-ashli-babbitt-during-capitol-riot-breaks-silence-n1277736. 
69 The Kyle Seraphin Show, George Hill: FBI, NSA & USMC, RUMBLE at 01:33:46 (Jan. 9, 2023), 
https://rumble.com/v24ixrk-george-hill-fbi-nsa-and-usmc.html. 
70 Id at 1:08:35, 1:09:50. 
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success, but quite frankly, there's a little bit of excitement to it. When I go 
snowshoeing in the White Mountains in New Hampshire and it's minus 40-degree 
windchill, there's a good chance I'm not going to come back. But it's exciting. I’m 
going to make sure I pack the right gear. I make sure everybody knows where I'm 
going. I go with the right people… Zero risk is not a fun life.71 

When asked about these statements during the interview, he said that while he 
understands that it is Congress’ decision whether to permit the FBI to continue engaging in 
intelligence activities, he believes that a “zero tolerance” policy with the goal of preventing any 
American from dying at the hands of a terrorist infringes on civil liberties.72 He added: 

I mean, you take risk, you put yourself out there, and it gives you a deeper 
appreciation of the nice things that you do have, or going home to see your family 
or whatever it is. That's what I meant by that. And if I came across as callous, I 
want to apologize to you and anybody else who saw the video.73 

3. Hill Has Expressed Strong Animus Towards President Biden, 
Democratic Politicians, and Certain Republican Politicians 

Hill’s testimony must also be considered in light of his strong animus towards President 
Biden, Democratic politicians, and Republican politicians whom he considers to be insufficiently 
conservative. 

For example, on September 9, 2022, Hill wrote on Twitter, “#Biden should be impeached 
but many #Republicans are still members of the #UniParty or just gutless.”74 On February 1, 
2023, he tweeted a screenshot of a posted meme of President Biden sitting on a bench—an 
apparent reference to the movie Forrest Gump—with the words, “I’m not a very smart man but 
I’m not as stupid as those that support me,” to which Hill added, “#Biden #BidenCrimeFamily 
#BidenWorstPresidentEver @POTUS.”75 On November 27, 2022, he tweeted a New York Post 
article headlined, “‘Creepy’ Joe Biden roasted for strange selfies,” and commented, 
“#PedoJoe.”76 On September 1, 2022, Hill commented on a post about a speech from President 
Biden, “Not a good look Joe Stalin, er, Joe Biden.”77 In total, he has tweeted about President 
Biden or his family more than 150 times since September 1, 2022. 

Hill has directed similar animus towards other Democratic politicians. For example, he 
responded to a tweet from Rep. Eric Swalwell describing threatening voicemail messages the 
Congressman had received with, “Don’t be such a whiner.”78 He mocked the arrest of another 

 
71 Id at 01:49:55. 
72 George Hill Testimony at 61-63. 
73 Id. Testimony at 63. 
74 George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Sep. 9, 2022, 11:38 AM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1568262516928815104. 
75 George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Feb. 1, 2023, 7:09 AM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1620756320675667969. 
76 George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Nov. 27, 2022, 7:52 AM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1596849524382711809. 
77 George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Sep. 2, 2022, 10:23 PM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1565525735086981123. 
78 George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Jan. 27, 2023, 9:39 PM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1619163281620619264. 

17 of 315



Democratic House Member’s child.79 And he has repeatedly targeted Rep. Alexandria Ocasio-
Cortez, Rep. Maxine Waters, Sen. Cory Booker, and Chicago mayor Lori Lightfoot.80 

Hill has likewise attacked Republicans whom he considers to be insufficiently 
conservative. Notably, he has repeatedly attacked Mitch McConnell, such as in a post stating, 
“#DitchMitch This communist, along with his #CCP member wife, has to go!”81 

 
Other targets have included Republican National Committee chair Ronna McDaniel, whom he 
described as a member of the “Uniparty”82 and Rep. Dan Crenshaw.83  

4. Hill Is Motivated to Help Republicans “Kill the King,” Meaning the 
Intelligence Community 

During his January 9, 2023, appearance on The Kyle Seraphin Show, Hill discussed the 
missions of federal law enforcement and intelligence community entities and said of these 
entities, “These aren't fiefdoms, these are kingdoms.”84 He went on: 

 
79 George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Jan. 23, 2023, 5:53 AM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1617475674922700802. 
80 See, e.g., George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Jan. 31, 2023, 7:49 PM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1620585152987467776; George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER 
(Jan. 31, 2023, 7:08 PM), https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1620574897859694592; George Hill 
(@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Jan. 26, 2023, 6:53 PM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1618758963142729728; George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER 
(Jan. 31, 2023, 2:12 PM), https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1620500316054503424; George Hill 
(@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Sep. 9, 2022, 11:33 AM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1568261354989195270. 
81 George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Dec. 21, 2022, 9:38 AM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1605573408628129793. 
82 George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Jan. 28, 2023, 11:41 AM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1619375047445192706. 
83 See, e.g., George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Jan. 9, 2023, 5:19 PM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1612574753881051174; George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER 
(Dec. 25, 2022, 10:44 AM), https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1607039487179382785. 
84 The Kyle Seraphin Show, George Hill: FBI, NSA & USMC, RUMBLE at 01:41:17 (Jan. 9, 2023), 
https://rumble.com/v24ixrk-george-hill-fbi-nsa-and-usmc.html. 
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The Republicans are talking about a 21st century, a 2023 version of the Church 
Committee…I think what Shakespeare said, if you're going to kill the king, make 
sure you kill the king. If they’re going to go after – this new committee – after the 
intelligence community, they better make sure they get out every bit of cancer 
that's out there. Because I can tell you right now, it's going to come back, and it'll 
come back stronger and more vicious than ever.85 

Hill was asked to explain this comment during his interview. He responded, “First Amendment-
protected activity, not going to get into explaining my comments on a podcast.”86  

On August 13, 2022, George Hill wrote as a comment to a now-deleted post on Twitter, 
“Wray has never lost a minutes sleep over @ChuckGrassley @SenTedCruz or @Jim_Jordan – 
I’m sorry but it’s true. No one in #DOJ or #FBI has ever paid a price for unlawful conduct and 
never will. Sad but true.”87 During the interview, Hill stated that he could not recall making this 
post, but that he would not address its contents because it contained “First Amendment-protected 
activity.”88 

 
C. Conclusion 

Hill has admitted that he had limited involvement in January 6 matters and that he does 
not have direct personal knowledge about many of the issues which he raised. In addition, even if 
Hill’s allegations were accurate, they tend to refute—not support—Committee Republicans’ 
premise regarding the handling of Capitol attack cases. For example, Hill asserted that the FBI’s 
Boston Field Office declined to take certain suggested investigative steps. This fact directly 
contradicts the claims of Committee Republicans that the FBI’s criminal investigations related to 
the January 6 Capitol attack were subject to improper influence. 

Moreover, Hill’s extensive past statements and claims—in particular his expressed desire 
to “kill the king” of the intelligence community and make the Justice Department and the FBI 
“pay a price”—demonstrate strong bias and animus towards these entities and the United States 
government as a whole. His bias and animus may have motivated Hill to engage with Committee 
Republicans, but his claims lack merit. 

 
85 Id. at 01:41:22. 
86 George Hill Testimony at 141-42. 
87 George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Aug. 13, 2022, 10:13 AM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1558456715556884480. 
88 George Hill Testimony at 144. 
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III. Witness Summary: Garret O’Boyle  

The Committee conducted a transcribed interview of Garret O’Boyle on February 10, 
2023. O’Boyle was an FBI Special Agent assigned to the Joint Terrorism Task Force at the 
Wichita Resident Agency in Wichita, Kansas, beginning in 2018.89 He applied for and was 
accepted to a new unit in Virginia and was scheduled to begin work there on September 26, 
2022.90 His security clearance was suspended that day.91  

O’Boyle told the Committee that his suspension notice stated that “an unidentified person 
… made an allegation that [he] had been making unprotected disclosures to the media,” and that 
because of this he was “no longer deemed fit to hold a security clearance.”92 He denied having 
made such disclosures, and he explained that instead he believed that he had been retaliated 
against because he “had been coming to Congress… for nearly a year.”93 He described this as 
being a “weaponization of the [security] clearance” process.94 He has appealed that suspension 
and, to his knowledge, the appeal process is still ongoing.95 

Committee Democrats requested a copy of the suspension notice provided to O’Boyle, 
which had previously been produced to Committee Republicans.96 He declined to produce it to 
Committee Democrats, and his attorney prevented him from discussing “any detail as to the 
substance of the investigation afterwards.”97 In addition, O’Boyle indicated that he received a 
letter dated about November 3, 2022, informing him that his pay would be suspended.98 To date, 
Committee Democrats have not been provided with a copy of that letter, which may provide 
insights into O’Boyle’s claims and whether the FBI was able to substantiate any of the 
allegations against him, from either Committee Republicans or from O’Boyle directly.  

O’Boyle confirmed that he never took his allegation that the FBI had retaliated against 
him to the Justice Department Inspector General, FBI Office of Professional Responsibility, or 
FBI Inspection Division.99 These offices are tasked with, among other things, conducting 
independent, nonpartisan evaluations of whistleblower claims and, if consulted, could have 
provided the Committee with relevant analysis of O’Boyle’s allegations. 

 
89 Garret O’Boyle Testimony at 9-10. 
90 Id. at 10-11. 
91 Id. at 11. 
92 Id. at 13. 
93 Id. at 14. 
94 Id. at 17. 
95 Id. at 17, 45-46. 
96 Id. at 55-56. Prior to the interview, Committee Republicans declined to produce any documents to Committee 
Democrats. 
97 Id. at 44. O’Boyle confirmed that he had produced a copy of the suspension notice to both then-Ranking Member 
Jim Jordan and possibly to Rep. Ron Estes’ office. Id. at 44-45. During the interview, minority staff asked majority 
staff to share the notice with them. Majority staff stated, “we don’t have the authority to provide to you.” Minority 
staff then asked O’Boyle to ask majority staff to provide Committee Democrats with a copy. His attorney responded, 
“The request is being made right now, and it’s a legal decision that requires confidentiality. It's something that 
requires legal analysis. It requires any number of different things.” Id. at 56. O’Boyle’s attorney was unable to 
provide the statutory basis for his claim that information provided to a member of Congress—particularly a then-
Ranking Member—is confidential, and Committee Democrats are not aware of any legal privileges applicable to 
this situation. See Garret O’Boyle Testimony at 123-24. 
98 Garret O’Boyle Testimony at 49. 
99 Id. at 53. 
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As a result, Committee Democrats are not able to evaluate the veracity of O’Boyle’s 
claims regarding the contents of his suspension notice or information or evidence that may have 
come to light during the investigation related to his alleged media disclosures. 

Committee Democrats likewise asked O’Boyle to describe the substance of what he 
described as his “protected disclosures” to Congress after Committee Republicans said that they 
“did not have the authority” to provide this information without O’Boyle’s consent.100 O’Boyle’s 
attorney, Jesse Binnall,101 prevented him from doing so: 

A  That is confidential by the statute. And so my advice to him is to not 
disclose exactly what was disclosed.  

Q  Okay. And which statute are you referring to?  

A  Oh, I'm sure I can – I can get you a – I don't know a citation off the top of 
my head, but I'm sure I can get that to you.  

Q  Okay. And … can you tell me the act? … 

A  I'm sure I could get you that information.  

Q Okay. I think that'd be helpful for us to have.102  

Democratic staff repeatedly followed up with O’Boyle’s attorney via email following the 
interview. So far, he has declined to respond.  

Committee Democrats are thus unable to fully evaluate whether any of what O’Boyle 
describes as “protected disclosures” in fact show a violation of law or abuse of authority, as 
required by 5 U.S.C. § 2303.103 In addition, Committee Democrats note that 5 U.S.C. § 2303 
only prevents an agency from retaliating against an individual who makes a qualifying protected 
disclosure. It does not grant the individual who made that disclosure confidentiality and does not 
impose a confidentiality requirement upon the entity to whom it was made. In other words, the 
term “protected disclosure” means that a legitimate whistleblower who makes such a disclosure 
is protected from retaliation, not that the disclosure itself is protected from being disclosed more 
broadly. 

O’Boyle did confirm that he corresponded with staff of both Rep. Ron Estes and then-
Ranking Member Jim Jordan probably “more than 20” times in 2022 and produced “maybe 
around” 50 documents to them.104 O’Boyle’s attorney advised him “not to talk about specifics of 
any of his disclosures to Congress … because those are confidential” and in fact prohibited him 

 
100 Garret O’Boyle Testimony at 56. 
101 Jesse Binnall was Donald Trump’s “top election-fraud lawyer” when Trump falsely claimed the 2020 election 
was stolen and also represents “Defending the Republic, Inc.,” a group associated with conspiracy theorists Sidney 
Powell and L. Lin Wood, “in the $1.3 billion lawsuit that Dominion Voting Systems brought against Powell” in 
2021. Roger Sollenberger, Top Trump Lawyer Is a Longtime Tax Deadbeat, DAILY BEAST (May 6, 2022), 
https://www.thedailybeast.com/top-trump-lawyer-jesse-binnall-is-a-longtime-tax-deadbeat. 
102 Id. at 123-24. 
103 5 U.S.C. § 2303. 
104 Garret O’Boyle Testimony at 40-42. 
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from describing the substance of any of his communications with the offices of Rep. Estes or 
then-Ranking Member Jordan.105 

That said, O’Boyle did raise specific allegations during his interview. These allegations 
are discussed below. For the reasons stated therein, Committee Democrats conclude that none of 
these allegations constitute legitimate whistleblower claims. 

A. Based on the Information Which Is Available About O’Boyle’s Claims, They 
Do Not Show Evidence of Misconduct 

1. O’Boyle Did Not Present Evidence of Misconduct With Respect to 
January 6 Cases 

While O’Boyle generally refused to share information about his “protected disclosures” 
with Committee Democrats, he did confirm in response to Republican questioning that one 
disclosure concerned a request he received from a special agent with the FBI’s Washington Field 
Office (WFO) regarding a lead in a January 6-related case.106 Committee Republicans asked 
O’Boyle whether the WFO pressured agents “to keep January 6 cases open or open cases.”107 He 
responded: 

I would say they pressured us to open cases to some degree. One example that I 
have personally -- I made this as one of my protected disclosures, so I'll just touch 
on it a little bit. 

But I received a lead about someone based on an anonymous tip, and in 
law enforcement anonymous tips don't hold very much weight, especially without 
evidence that you can corroborate pretty easily.  

I wasn't able to corroborate anything they said, even after speaking with 
the person they alleged potential criminal behavior of.  

While I'm trying to figure all that out, I get another lead from the same 
agent who sent me that lead.108  

He explained that he decided to call the agent who had sent him the lead:  

Q [A]fter talking to her, my mind was blown that she was still trying to get 
me to do some legal process on the guy that I got the anonymous tip on. 
… And so I ended up writing that all up and denying it. …  

When we got off the phone, I was like, “I’m just going to close 
this.” She still wanted me to do what she wanted me to do in the lead, and 
I was like, no. I can’t… 

Q  So, to your knowledge, that case was closed? 

 
105 Id. at 38, 43. 
106 Id. at 102-03. 
107 Id. at 102. 
108 Id. at 102-103. 
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A  To my knowledge, yeah.109 

 O’Boyle later confirmed that the WFO special agent was not in a supervisory position 
over him and that there were no punitive actions taken against him for declining to take the steps 
she suggested: 

Q The Washington Field Office agent that communicated with you, was she 
at your level? Was she a higher level than you?  

A She was a special agent just like me… 

Q …So, at the end of the day, you exercised your judgment, and you weren't 
– there were no consequences for that.  

A As far as I know.110  

 Committee Democrats conclude that the incident O’Boyle describes does not show a 
violation of any law, rule, or regulation, or gross mismanagement, a gross waste of funds, an 
abuse of authority, or a substantial and specific danger to public health or safety. Rather, this 
appears to be a situation in which two special agents engaged in dialogue regarding a case 
process. O’Boyle has provided no evidence that he was retaliated against in any way for 
exercising his independent judgment regarding what he viewed as appropriate procedures in this 
matter. 

2. O’Boyle’s Claims Regarding the FBI’s Handling of COVID 
Vaccination Requirements Must Be Evaluated in Light of His 
Embrace of Vaccine-Related Conspiracy Theories 

O’Boyle stated that a separate concern raised in his “protected disclosures” to Congress 
involved what he perceived as pressure from the FBI to be vaccinated against COVID-19.111 

The FBI’s COVID-19 vaccination policy was enacted pursuant to Executive Order 
14043, “Requiring Coronavirus Disease 2019 Vaccination for Federal Employees,” issued in 
September 2021.112 In January 2022, a Texas District Court judge issued a nationwide 
preliminary injunction staying enforcement of the vaccine mandate.113 A Fifth Circuit panel 
vacated that injunction in April 2022, at which time the mandate went back into effect.114 As 
noted in the April 2022 Fifth Circuit opinion, “At least twelve district courts previously rejected 
challenges to Executive Order 14043 for various reasons.”115 The April 2022 opinion was itself 
vacated by the Fifth Circuit in a per curium opinion in June 2022, at which time the injunction, 

 
109 Id. at 104-05. 
110 Id. at 120-21. 
111 Id. at 133. 
112 Exec. Order No. 14043, 86 Fed. Reg. 50989 (Sep. 9, 2021), 
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2021/09/14/2021-19927/requiring-coronavirus-disease-2019-
vaccination-for-federal-employees. 
113 Feds for Medical Freedom v. Biden, 581 F.Supp.3d 826 (S.D. Tex. 2022). 
114 Feds for Medical Freedom v. Biden, 30 F. 4th 503, 505 n.1 (5th Cir. Apr. 7, 2022). 
115 Feds for Medical Freedom v. Biden, 30 F. 4th 503, 505 n.1 (5th Cir. Apr. 7, 2022), reh’g en banc granted, 
vacated by Feds for Medical Freedom v. Biden, 37 F. 4th 1093 (5th Cir. June 27, 2022). 
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which stopped enforcement of the mandate, went back into effect.116 The Fifth Circuit heard oral 
arguments in this case en banc in September but has not yet issued a final ruling.117  

 It would not have been a violation of law or policy for the FBI to enforce Executive 
Order 14043 during the time period from September 2021 to when the Texas District Court 
issued a preliminary injunction enjoining the mandate in January 2022, or throughout the time 
period during which the preliminary injunction was no longer in effect between April and June 
2022. 

It is possible that O’Boyle felt pressured to get vaccinated against COVID-19 during 
those windows in which the policy was paused. However, because Democratic staff have not 
been provided with sufficient information about what he describes as his “protected disclosure” 
concerning “inappropriate pressure,” Committee Democrats are unable to evaluate what type of 
pressure he may have faced. Moreover, O’Boyle’s vaccination-related claims must be evaluated 
in light of his embrace of a wide range of COVID-19 vaccination conspiracy theories. For 
example, on January 15, he posted on his Twitter account, @GOBActual,118 “There are still 
plenty [of people] bragging about being jabbed and still think we are killing people by not.”119 
Asked about this tweet during his testimony, he indicated that it is self-explanatory.120 

O’Boyle was also asked about a tweet in which he compared individuals being 
vaccinated to “Reserve Police Battalion 101.”121 

 
 

116 Feds for Medical Freedom v. Biden, 37 F. 4th 1093 (5th Cir. June 27, 2022). 
117 Eric Katz, Appeals Court: Where Does POTUS' Power to Force Feds to Vax End?, GOV’T EXEC. (Sep. 13, 
2022), https://www.govexec.com/management/2022/09/appeals-court-where-does-potus-power-force-feds-vax-
end/377074/. 
118 During the interview, O’Boyle confirmed that he is responsible for the “@GOBActual” Twitter account. Garret 
O’Boyle Testimony at 64. Since the interview, O’Boyle has made his Twitter account private. 
119 Garret O’Boyle (@GOBActual), TWITTER (Jan. 14, 2022, 12:15 AM). 
120 Garret O’Boyle Testimony at 132-33. 
121 Garret O’Boyle (@GOBActual), TWITTER (Jan. 17, 2023, 10:10 AM); Garret O’Boyle Testimony at 136-37. 
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O’Boyle explained that he analogized vaccination to Nazi Reserve Police Battalion 101 because 
in both situations people “crossed a line” in response to pressure from leaders: 

Q So what did you mean by “99 percent followed an order to harm 
themselves with mRNA injections”?  

A I believe that the vaccines, the mRNA ones, can potentially be harmful, 
and there's a lot of that starting to come out now, and that the military had 
the most severe mandates to take those.  

Q What did you mean when you said “it's a lot easier to follow orders to 
harm others”?  

A I think there's a multitude of historical examples that has demonstrated 
that. I mention one there, Reserve Police Battalion 101. So that's all I 
meant by that.  

Q Can you explain the Reserve Police Battalion 101 very briefly, if you can?  

A Sure. So my understanding of that is, the Reserve Police Battalion 101 was 
a reserve police force in Poland during World War II, and they were 
initially comprised of just normal people – butchers and carpenters and 
different other type of people who had normal jobs or other positions. And 
then, by the end of the war, they were slaughtering – they were basically 
engaging in genocide like the rest of the Nazi regime.  

Q So why did the Reserve Battalion 101 come to mind when you were asked 
about U.S. military forces?  

A So I think with this tweet I was just trying to raise a broader scope of the 
discussion. Like, where is the line? When your commander tells you you 
have to get an injection even if you don't want to, to some people that's not 
a difficult line to cross. But it seems, with history as our example, that that 
line just continues to get moved, and eventually you cross a line like the 
Reserve Police Battalion 101 did, and you don't even know how you got 
there.122 

 Thus, while Committee Democrats do not have sufficient information to assess 
O’Boyle’s claim of improper pressure, any such claim must be viewed in light of his comparison 
of vaccine mandates to the actions of the Nazi regime. 

3. O’Boyle’s Claim Regarding COVID Testing Policy Does Not Meet the 
Standard of a Protected Disclosure 

O’Boyle stated that a separate disclosure he made involved mandatory COVID testing 
requirements: “this is one of the disclosures I made to my chain of command, that not only was 
the vaccine mandate reasonably a violation of law, rule, or policy, the FBI then enacted a 
mandatory testing for only unvaccinated people.”123  

 
122 Garret O’Boyle Testimony at 136-37. 
123 Id. at 138. 
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O’Boyle explained that he declined to take a required COVID test after recovering from 
COVID.124 When his supervisors objected to this, he explained that he viewed his refusal as 
being in accordance with FDA guidelines: 

I brought up the FDA's guidelines, which is what the FBI was supposed to be 
going off of, as well as other guidelines. And I said, they're not following the 
guidelines they're supposed to be following. I think this is another example of a 
violation of law, rule, or policy.  

And they said, “Well, why don't you think about it over the weekend?” 
and then, you know, “We'll be in touch.” And I said, okay. And then they called 
me over the weekend, and I told them I wasn't going to change my position.  

And so, then, the following workday, they told me not to come in, and my 
boss came to my house and gave me an AWOL paperwork. And so I was placed 
onto absent without leave, which at the time was a violation of the Safer Federal 
Workforce Task Force guidelines, which the FBI was supposed to be following, 
which said that if the person had an outstanding religious exemption, which I did 
– I had applied for one of those – that they were supposed to be placed on 
administrative leave. But the FBI broke that rule and placed me and others into 
AWOL status instead.  

So I told my boss, okay, “Now that you placed me on AWOL, I'll take a 
test,” and I went back to testing. And then I think I tested one or two more times, 
and then shortly thereafter the testing stopped.125 

 O’Boyle suggested that this instance occurred in late 2021, after the announcement of a 
vaccine requirement for federal employees and before its injunction in January 2022.126 In this 
time period, the Safer Federal Workforce Task Force published “Agency Model Safety 
Principles,” which stated, “Agencies may establish a program to test Federal employees who are 
not fully vaccinated for COVID-19.”127 O’Boyle is incorrect that the Safer Federal Workforce 
Task Force guidelines established procedures for COVID testing related to exemptions from 
vaccine requirements. In fact, the Task Force notes on its “Frequently Asked Questions” page 
about vaccinations, “Enforcement of applicable workplace safety protocols, including any 
required testing for Federal employees with approved or pending exceptions, are the 
responsibility of occupant agencies.”128 Federal law permitted employees to request an 
exemption from the vaccine mandate, but that exemption was separate from any agency-imposed 

 
124 Id. at 138. 
125 Id. at 139. 
126 Id. at 138-40. 
127 COVID 19 Workplace Safety: Agency Model Safety Principles, SAFER FED. WORKFORCE TASK FORCE (Sep. 13, 
2021), 
https://www.saferfederalworkforce.gov/downloads/updates%20to%20model%20safety%20principles%209.13.21.pd
f. As of August 22, 2022, agencies’ COVID-19 safety protocols should no longer vary based on vaccination status. 
Initial Implementation Guidance for Federal Agencies on Updates to Federal Agency COVID-19 Workplace Safety 
Protocols, SAFER FED. WORKFORCE TASK FORCE (Aug. 17, 2022), 
https://www.saferfederalworkforce.gov/downloads/Initial%20Implementation%20Guidance_CDC%20Streamline_2
0220817.pdf. 
128 Vaccination, SAFER FED. WORKFORCE TASK FORCE, https://www.saferfederalworkforce.gov/faq/vaccinations/ 
(last updated Sep. 15, 2022) (expand “Vaccination Documentation and Information”).  
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testing requirements, which would require a separate process to receive accommodation. 
O’Boyle has thus failed to provide evidence that the FBI’s requirement for him to undergo 
COVID testing violated any law, rule, or regulation, or demonstrated gross mismanagement, a 
gross waste of funds, or an abuse of authority, or posed a substantial and specific danger to 
public health or safety. 

4. O’Boyle May Have Accessed and Removed Law Enforcement 
Sensitive Information From FBI Devices Without Authorization 

During the transcribed interview, Republican staff questioned O’Boyle about a 
September 14, 2022, letter from then-Ranking Member Jim Jordan to FBI Director Christopher 
Wray describing supposed whistleblower disclosures concerning an FBI investigation into Mike 
Glover, the founder of a group called American Contingency.129 That letter wrongly states that 
the FBI had recently characterized American Contingency as a DVE (domestic violent 
extremism) organization based on an internal FBI document which a “media organization,” 
Project Veritas, had obtained.130 In fact, the document from the FBI states only that some militia 
violent extremists “may self-identify with” American Contingency, but that the organization 
itself has a “low history of violence” and operates “mostly online.”131 

The letter also provides what appears to be a screenshot from the FBI’s internal 
eGuardian incident reporting and management system indicating that the agency had conducted a 
background investigation into Mike Glover and determined that he did not pose a threat.132 

Republican staff asked O’Boyle for his reaction to the FBI’s investigation. He responded:  

[T]his is, again, to me, another example of how the FBI has been weaponized. 
Thankfully, in this incident where Glover was investigated, that the agent 
determined that there was no actual threat there. But then for the other FBI 
employee to make that allegation in the first place based off of some, you know, 
very loose information, it’s like, what is going on in the FBI?133 

O’Boyle admitted that he was not personally involved in any way in any investigation into 
American Contingency or Mike Glover and that any investigation which did take place was not 
handled out of the Wichita Field Office.134 Nonetheless, he stated that he did have knowledge of 
the investigation into Glover:  

 
129 Garret O’Boyle Testimony at 150-51. 
130 Letter from Jim Jordan, Ranking Member, H. Comm. on the Judiciary, to Christopher A. Wray, Director, Fed. 
Bureau of Investigation at 1-2 (Sep. 14, 2022), https://judiciary.house.gov/sites/evo-subsites/republicans-
judiciary.house.gov/files/legacy_files/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/2022-09-14-JDJ-to-Wray-re-WB-follow-up.pdf. 
131 Press Release, FBI Whistleblower LEAKS Bureau’s ‘Domestic Terrorism Symbols Guide’ on ‘Militia Violent 
Extremists’ Citing Ashli Babbitt as MVE Martyr, PROJECT VERITAS (Aug. 2, 2022), 
https://www.projectveritas.com/news/fbi-whistleblower-leaks-bureaus-domestic-terrorism-symbols-guide-on-
militia/. The FBI document states, “The use or sharing of these symbols should not independently be considered 
evidence of MVE presence or affiliation or serve as an indicator of illegal activity, as many individuals use these 
symbols for their original, historic meaning, or other non-violent purposes.” Id. 
132 Letter from Jim Jordan, Ranking Member, H. Comm. on the Judiciary, to Christopher A. Wray, Director, Fed. 
Bureau of Investigation at 2 (Sep. 14, 2022), https://judiciary.house.gov/sites/evo-subsites/republicans-
judiciary.house.gov/files/legacy_files/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/2022-09-14-JDJ-to-Wray-re-WB-follow-up.pdf. 
133 Garret O’Boyle Testimony at 153 
134 Id. at 155-56. 
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Q Did you know anything about the investigation or what has been described 
as an investigation into him [Mike Glover] prior to having this letter put in 
front of you today?  

A I did.  

Q And what did you know?  

A Pretty much mostly what's in here.  

Q And that – how did you learn that information?  

BINNALL: Prior to our previous instructions, you can answer to the extent it's 
appropriate. 

A This is one of the protected disclosures that I made. 

Q Okay. And it involves Mr. Glover?  

A Uh-huh.  

Q But you … were not personally involved in any matters involving Mr. 
Glover in your capacity as an FBI employee?  

A Right. I never investigated him.  

Q Okay. And what about American Contingency?  

A Correct. No.  

Q Okay. So you don't have firsthand knowledge of anything that the FBI 
may have – may or may not have done?  

BINNALL: You can answer to the extent that it doesn't violate my previous 
instructions. 

A  I mean, I guess, in accordance with my work and my protected disclosure, 
I had some knowledge of what the FBI had done.  

BINNALL:  And don't go any further than that.135 

 Based on this exchange, Committee Democrats conclude that O’Boyle may have 
accessed information regarding the FBI’s investigation into Glover and/or American 
Contingency to which he would not have had access as part of his official responsibilities. 
Committee Democrats also conclude that he may have removed that information, including 
potentially law enforcement sensitive information, without being authorized to do so.  

 Moreover, Committee Democrats note that based on the information contained in the 
September 14 letter, the FBI appears to have conducted a non-intrusive background investigation 
based on a tip that Glover “‘appears to be rallying individuals to “take action”’ and ‘speaks about 
his distaste for how the government is handling the current situations in the US and encourages 

 
135 Id. 
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people to “join” his cause.’”136 The letter provides no evidence that the FBI committed a 
violation of any law, rule, or regulation or engaged in gross mismanagement, a gross waste of 
funds, an abuse of authority, or posed a substantial and specific danger to public health or safety 
with respect to its investigation. O’Boyle has likewise failed to provide any evidence supporting 
such a finding. Committee Democrats thus conclude that claims O’Boyle made regarding the 
Glover investigation are without merit. 

B. Conclusion 

O’Boyle admitted that he had produced extensive information and documents to 
Committee Republicans that are being withheld from Committee Democrats.137 That material 
may well include relevant, probative evidence that would bear on the validity of his claims.  

That said, to the extent that O’Boyle did discuss his allegations, he did not present any 
evidence of a violation of a law, rule, or regulation, or of gross mismanagement, waste of funds, 
an abuse of authority, or a substantial danger to public health or safety. He provided no evidence 
that supports Republican efforts to rewrite what happened on January 6, and his COVID vaccine-
related claims must be viewed in light of his stated extreme views on the vaccine itself. 

For all of these reasons, Committee Democrats conclude that O’Boyle’s claims lack 
merit. 

IV. Witness Summary: Stephen Friend 

 The Committee conducted a transcribed interview of Stephen Friend on February 15, 
2023.138 Friend was an FBI Special Agent with the Daytona Beach Residency Agency, a satellite 
office of the Jacksonville FBI Field Office.139 According to his testimony, Friend transferred to 
Daytona from the FBI’s Omaha Field Office’s Sioux City Resident Agency in June 2021 and 
was assigned to the Joint Terrorism Task Force (JTTF) at the end of September 2021.140 

Friend was placed on AWOL (Absent Without Leave) status for one day in August 2022 
after he objected to the manner of arrests of January 6 suspects associated with the Three 
Percenters domestic extremist group.141 His security clearance was then suspended on September 
19, 2022,142 and he officially resigned from the FBI on the morning of his February 15 interview 
with the committee.143 

 
136 Letter from Jim Jordan, Ranking Member, H. Comm. on the Judiciary, to Christopher A. Wray, Director, Fed. 
Bureau of Investigation at 2 (Sep. 14, 2022), https://judiciary.house.gov/sites/evo-subsites/republicans-
judiciary.house.gov/files/legacy_files/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/2022-09-14-JDJ-to-Wray-re-WB-follow-up.pdf. 
137 Garret O’Boyle Testimony at 41-42. 
138 In advance of the interview, Committee Democrats asked Committee Republicans to produce any documents 
which Friend had produced to them. Committee Republicans referred Committee Democrats to Friend’s publicly 
available September 2021 declaration but declined to produce anything further. 
139 Stephen Friend Testimony at 8. 
140 Id. 
141 Id. at 23. 
142 Id. at 27. Committee Democrats have, to date, not been provided with a copy of the suspension letter. According 
to his testimony, Friend’s suspension letter listed his “refusal to participate in the August 24th arrest warrant and 
search warrant operations,” his “refusal to participate in a security awareness briefing, and the improper accessing of 
documents from the FBI's classified system” as the reasons for his suspension. Id. at 28. 
143 Stephen Friend Testimony at 27. 
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 On September 21, 2022, Friend signed a ten-page declaration outlining his claims.144 He 
submitted this declaration to the Department of Justice Office of Inspector General, the Office of 
Special Counsel, then-Ranking Member Jim Jordan, and Senators Chuck Grassley, Ron Johnson, 
and Dick Durbin.145 Senators Grassley and Johnson subsequently attached the declaration to a 
public letter, which is available on Senator Johnson’s website, and the declaration remains 
publicly available.146 

 In brief, Friend alleges that the FBI is not following appropriate case management 
practices in its handling of January 6-related matters. He also objected to the use of a SWAT 
team in association with the arrest of the above-mentioned January 6 suspects.  

 Mr. Friend’s primary claim has been rejected by multiple entities, and Committee 
Democrats likewise conclude that the substance of these claims lacks merit. In addition, 
Committee Democrats note that Friend pushed Committee Republicans to investigate his claims, 
has profited and is profiting from making his allegations about the FBI public, and has repeatedly 
engaged in unauthorized media appearances. Finally, Friend has expressed severe animosity 
towards the Bureau, raising concerns about the impact this bias may have had on his testimony. 

A. Two Independent Entities Have Rejected Friend’s “Whistleblower” Claim 

 During the interview, Friend admitted that both the Department of Justice (DOJ) 
Inspector General and the Office of Special Counsel have rejected his primary claim.147 

The Office of Special Counsel (OSC) is an independent federal investigative agency 
whose “primary mission is to safeguard the merit system by protecting federal employees and 
applicants from prohibited personnel practices, especially reprisal for whistleblowing.”148 Its 
letter to him read, in relevant part (emphasis added): 

You alleged employees of the Department of Justice (DOJ), Federal Bureau of 
Investigation (FBI), Washington, D.C., engaged in activity that may constitute a 
violation of law, rule, or regulation and an abuse of authority. …. Disclosures 
referred to the agency for an investigation and a report must include information 
sufficient for OSC to determine whether there is a substantial likelihood of 
wrongdoing. …  

When determining whether there is a substantial likelihood of 
wrongdoing, OSC looks at several factors—including whether the whistleblower 
has first-hand knowledge of the wrongdoing. We understand that you were 
assigned to the Jacksonville Florida Field Office Joint Terrorism Task Force 
(Jacksonville JTTF) from October 2021 to August 2022. During that time, you 
were assigned as “case agent” on approximately six J6 Task Force casefiles with 

 
144 Decl. of Stephen M. Friend (Sep. 21, 2022), https://s3.documentcloud.org/documents/23010763/steve-friend-
declaration.pdf. [Hereinafter Stephen Friend Declaration] 
145 Stephen Friend Testimony at 90. 
146 Press Release, Sens. Johnson, Grassley Expose Wrongful FBI Retaliation Against Patriotic Whistleblower Who 
Revealed Breaches of Policy and Protocol, (Sept. 27, 2022), https://www.ronjohnson.senate.gov/2022/9/sens-
johnson-grassley-expose-wrongful-fbi-retaliation-against-patriotic-whistleblower-who-revealed-breaches-of-policy-
and-protocol.  
147 Stephen Friend Testimony at 93-97. 
148 About OSC, U.S. OFF. OF SPECIAL COUNS., https://osc.gov/Agency (last visited Feb. 28, 2022). 
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subjects who resided in and around the Jacksonville area. You were not involved 
in the decision to open those cases or to identify the Jacksonville Field Office 
as the “office of origin,” nor did you identify the individuals from the 
Washington D.C. or Jacksonville offices who made those decisions. 

We have carefully reviewed and considered the information you provided, 
including your sworn declaration and the DIOG, as a possible abuse of authority 
or a violation of a law, rule, or regulation. The DIOG is internal guidance that is 
“not intended to...and may not be relied upon to create any rights, substantive or 
procedural, enforceable by law by any party in any matter, civil or criminal, nor 
[does it] place any limitation on otherwise lawful investigative and litigative 
prerogatives of the DOJ and the FBI.” DIOG § 2.5. The DIOG also provides the 
FBI Director discretion to approve departures from its requirements. DIOG § 2.6. 
Thus, your allegations concern a matter of agency discretion. Agencies are 
generally afforded a wide degree of latitude in these areas, and the DIOG 
expressly allows departures from its requirements. Although we understand you 
strongly object to the FBI leadership’s decision to depart from the DIOG’s 
guidance for J6 Task Force casefiles, you were not involved in the decision-
making process, and you have not provided specific information to establish 
that the departure was made improperly. Therefore, we cannot find with a 
substantial likelihood that the agency has violated a law, rule, or regulation, 
or has abused its authority. Therefore, we will take no further action in this 
matter.149 

The DOJ Office of Inspector General (OIG) similarly declined to open an investigation 
into Friend’s allegations.150 While Friend has not yet produced the Inspector General findings to 
Committee Democrats, a January 31, 2023, letter from his attorney states that on December 2, 
2022, the Office of Inspector General informed Friend that it had “decided not to open an 
investigation of the allegations that you raise” and recommended that Friend contact the FBI’s 
Inspection Division if he wished to further pursue his claims.151  

 

 
149 (READ) Office of Special Counsel dismisses FBI whistleblower complaint about the agency, SHARYL ATKISSON 
(Nov. 26, 2022), https://sharylattkisson.com/2022/11/read-office-of-special-counsel-dismisses-fbi-whistleblower-
complaint-about-the-agency/. During his interview, Friend confirmed that he had produced OSC’s letter to 
Attkisson, and he confirmed that the letter published on her website was in fact the letter he received from OSC. 
Stephen Friend Testimony at 96. During the interview he also stated that he was not aware that she had published 
the letter on her website. Stephen Friend Testimony at 96. But, on November 27, 2022, he thanked Attkisson for 
publishing the letter and linked to the article on his Twitter account. Steve Friend (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER 
(Nov. 27, 2022, 9:05 AM), https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend/status/1596867895304519682. 
150 Stephen Friend Testimony at 91-92. 
151 Letter from Jason Foster, Founder & President, Empower Oversight, to the Office of Inspector General, Dep’t of 
Justice at 11-12 (Jan. 31, 2023), https://empowr.us/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/2023-1-31-JF-to-DOJOIG-Closure-
of-Friend-Complaint.pdf. In the letter, Foster questions whether “the DOJ-OIG, with its hundreds of agents, 
attorney[s], and multiple field offices around the country [could] really be so overextended that it has no capacity to 
investigate” the various claims raised by Friend. Id. at 12. Committee Democrats agree that the DOJ OIG has 
sufficient resources to investigate claims it finds meritorious. 
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B. Friend Pushed the Committee to Investigate His Claims, and He Is Profiting 
From His Participation in the Committee’s Investigation 

When the Inspector General rejected his claims, Friend declined to pursue them further 
through the Inspection Division.152 Instead, he began urging House Republicans to take action 
through his social media accounts on Twitter and Truth Social: 

• On December 20, 2022, he tweeted, “@FBI Whistleblowers know where the bodies are 
buried @JudiciaryGOP. Prioritize protecting us in 2023 and more will come forward. 
Subpoenas and hearings aren't good enough.”153 

• On December 21, he responded to a tweet from journalist Breanna Morello which asked, 
“[I]sn’t this why you became a FBI whistleblower?” by stating, “Yep. One of the 
disclosures I brought to Congress. Maybe @tedlieu missed it. Hoping @JudiciaryGOP 
will ask me about it in 2023.”154 

When Republicans did not act quickly enough for Friend, he began pursuing them more 
aggressively: 

• On December 24, Friend wrote on Truth Social, “GOP House Judiciary Committee is 
tweeting out clips of @realDonaldTrump in Home Alone 2. President Trump is off 
Twitter guys. How about you DM some suspended FBI whistleblowers instead?”155 

• On December 25, he posted on Truth Social, “Trolling all day from the House GOP 
Judiciary Committee twitter account. Can they pretend to show an interest in protecting 
FBI whistleblowers like @kyleseraphin and me? Or does the committee exist solely for 
social media interns to ‘own the libs?’”156 

• On December 26, he responded to an NTD Television Truth Social post which states, 
“Republicans are vowing to investigate cooperation between #Twitter, the #FBI, and the 
federal government,” with the following: “Spoiler: They took my whistleblower 
complaint. Used it for campaign rocket fuel and 4 minute appearances on Fox News. 
Ignored me after I lost my income. Focused on other dead investigations that get no 
results but deliver more appearances. I’m not alone either, @kyleseraphin.”157 

 
152 Stephen Friend Testimony at 94. 
153 Steve Friend (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER (Dec. 20, 2022, 4:01 PM), 
https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend/status/1605307475497992193. 
154 Steve Friend (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER (Dec. 21, 2022, 9:37 PM), 
https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend/status/1605754480506519552. 
155 Steve Friend (@Real_SteveFriend), TRUTH SOCIAL (Dec. 24, 2022, 9:47 PM), 
https://truthsocial.com/@Real_SteveFriend/posts/109572026898527069. 
156 Steve Friend (@Real_SteveFriend), TRUTH SOCIAL (Dec. 25, 2022, 9:15 PM), 
https://truthsocial.com/@Real_SteveFriend/posts/109577563422431659. 
157 Steve Friend (@Real_SteveFriend), TRUTH SOCIAL (Dec. 26, 2022, 8:47 PM), 
https://truthsocial.com/@Real_SteveFriend/posts/109583116369352493. 
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• On that same day, he responded to a House Judiciary GOP tweet which read, “Fauci 
lied,” by writing, “We already know. Skip those headlines and focus on @FBI 
whistleblower abuse.”158 

Friend’s decision to urge the GOP to focus on him coincides with a marked uptick in his 
media appearances. Committee Democrats found that prior to the OIG’s December 2 
determination that it would not pursue his claims, he appeared on just five shows: Unfiltered with 
Dan Bongino on October 15;159 Full Measure with Sharyl Attkisson on October 23;160 the Mill 
Creek View Tennessee Podcast on November 8;161 twice with Glenn Beck, on his radio show on 
November 15162 and on a television special that aired on November 16;163 and three times on The 
Kyle Seraphin Show on November 19 and November 22.164 Between December 6 and the end of 
2022, he appeared on at least eight programs.165 In the time that has elapsed since, he has made 
so many media appearances that when asked to estimate the total number of podcasts he has 
appeared on, he said, “I couldn’t tell you. I’ve made a lot of appearances. It would be 
irresponsible for me to just throw out a number.”166 Though Friend states that he has not 
received monetary compensation for his media appearances beyond travel and accommodation 

 
158 Steve Friend (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER (Dec. 26, 2022, 8:37 PM), 
https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend/status/1607551304854904832. 
159 Unfiltered with Dan Bongino, FBI whistleblower Steve Friend reveals what at the agency made him speak out, 
FOX NEWS (Oct. 15, 2022), https://www.foxnews.com/video/6313831472112. 
160 Sharyl Attkisson, Sharyl Attkisson’s full interview with FBI whistleblower Steve Friend, RUMBLE (Oct. 24, 2022), 
https://rumble.com/v1pm8vp-sharyl-attkissons-full-interview-with-fbi-whistleblower-steve-friend.html. 
161 Mill Creek View Tennessee Podcast, Mill Creek View Tennessee Podcast EP17 Stephen Friend Interview & 
More November 8 2022, PODOMATIC (Nov. 8, 2022), 
https://www.podomatic.com/podcasts/steve70281/episodes/2022-11-08T16_30_09-08_00. 
162 Glenn Beck, SHOCK: FBI agent LEAVES over agency’s handling of Jan. 6, YOUTUBE (Nov. 20, 2022), 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KuIsvxdGWIU. 
163 Glenn Beck, Targets of Tyranny: How to Survive Being an Enemy of the State, YOUTUBE (Nov. 16, 2022), 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rj4W-UXMF1A. 
164 The Kyle Seraphin Show, The Suspendables, PODBEAN (Nov. 19, 2022), 
https://thekyleseraphinshow.podbean.com/e/2-the-suspendables/; The Kyle Seraphin Show, Seraphin & Friend(s), 
PODBEAN (Nov. 19, 2022), https://thekyleseraphinshow.podbean.com/e/1-seraphin-friends/; The Kyle Seraphin 
Show, Politically Appointed Princess, PODBEAN (Nov. 22, 2022), 
https://thekyleseraphinshow.podbean.com/e/politically-appointed-princes/. 
165See Radix Verum, Interview with FBI Whistleblower Steve Friend, YOUTUBE (Dec. 6, 2022), 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=C4PDxZ8untI; Steve Friend (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER (Dec. 7, 2022, 12:35 
PM), https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend/status/1600544553878142986 (“Looking forward to appearing on 
@NEWSMAX tonight with @gregkellyusa at 9:30ET”); Steve Friend (@RealSteveFriend), TWITTER (Dec. 7, 2022, 
8:29 PM), https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend/status/1600663729019842560 (“Looking forward to appearing on 
American Sunrise tomorrow at 9:30ET”); The Kyle Seraphin Show, The FBI Emperor Has No Clothes, RUMBLE 
(Dec. 9, 2022), https://rumble.com/v1zuydg-the-fbi-emperor-has-no-clothes.html; Frank Clips, The Absolute Truth 
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2022), https://frankspeech.com/video/absolute-truth-interview-steve-friend-fbi-whistleblower; Joe Pags, He Says the 
FBI Became Obsessed with 1/6 - and Turned a Blind Eye to Crime!, RUMBLE (Dec. 13, 2022), 
https://rumble.com/v20jho8-he-says-the-fbi-became-obsessed-with-16-and-turned-a-blind-eye-to-crime.html; Alison 
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costs,167 his influence has grown substantially. Notably, his following on Twitter grew from 821 
followers on December 7, 2022, to over 14,600 followers as of March 1, 2023, an increase of 
more than 1,600%.168 

Friend admitted that he uses these podcasts to promote a fundraiser on the crowdfunding 
platform GiveSendGo,169 which, as of March 1, 2023, had raised $36,765.170 In addition, the 
podcasts and other publicity Friend receives provide him with an opportunity to promote his 
forthcoming book, True Blue: My Journey from Beat Cop to Suspended FBI Whistleblower.171 
True Blue is being published by Post Hill Press,172 “a small independent that specialises in 
‘conservative politics’” and is “home to authors including far-right conspiracy theorist Laura 
Loomer.”173 Friend stated that while he has not yet received any direct income from this book, it 
is currently in presale, and during the week of February 6, he experienced a “bump in sales.”174 
He also stated that he believes that his contract includes funding for a book tour.175  

Additionally, Friend recently accepted a position as a fellow at the Center for Renewing 
America, a nonprofit founded by former Trump official Russ Vought.176 Publicity generated by 
the Committee’s investigation would benefit Friend in his new role by increasing the visibility of 
that organization. 

Thus, Committee Democrats conclude that Friend has a monetary incentive to continue 
pursuing his claims, despite both the Office of Special Counsel and the Office of Inspector 
General previously rejecting those claims. 

 

 
167 Id. 
168 @RealStevefriend, TWITTER (Dec. 7, 2022), 
https://web.archive.org/web/20221207205234/https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend; @RealStevefriend, TWITTER, 
https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend (last visited Mar. 1, 2023). 
169 Id. at 184-85. 
170 Kyle Seraphin, Support suspended FBI Whistleblowers, GIVESENDGO, 
https://www.givesendgo.com/KyleSeraphin (last visited Mar. 1, 2023). The fundraiser cover page reads, in relevant 
part, “This fund will be used to support 3 whistleblower families who have been suspended without pay and legal 
bills incurred by Kyle Seraphin, Stephen Friend, and a currently unnamed FBI Whistleblower with 4 young children 
including a newborn baby only weeks old.” Id. During his interview, Friend stated that the purpose of the fundraiser 
was “raising money for Garret O’Boyle.” Stephen Friend Testimony at 75-76. He added that, while Seraphin offered 
Friend money from the fundraiser “if [he] needed any funds from it,” Friend had not accepted any of the proceeds as 
of the date of the interview. Stephen Friend Testimony at 77. 
171 Stephen Friend Testimony at 82, 175-76. 
172 Id. at 83. 
173 Sian Cain, Simon & Schuster refuses to distribute book by officer who shot Breonna Taylor, GUARDIAN (Apr. 16, 
2021), https://www.theguardian.com/books/2021/apr/16/simon-schuster-book-breonna-taylor-jonathan-mattingly-
the-fight-for-truth. 
174 Stephen Friend Testimony at 82, 88-89, 175-76. 
175 Id. at 84. 
176 Russ Vought (@russvought), TWITTER (Jan. 27, 2023, 4:20 PM), 
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C. Committee Democrats Concur with the Independent Entities to Find that 
Friend’s Claims Lack Merit 

1. Friend Has Not Provided Evidence to Support Republican Claims 
That the FBI Is Engaging in Improper Case Management Procedures 
in the January 6 Investigations 

 The FBI’s Domestic Investigations and Operations Guide (DIOG) is a manual used by 
FBI employees to guide their handling of investigations and intelligence collection within the 
United States.177 In addition to the DIOG, each FBI headquarters operational unit has one or 
more policy guides which provide supplemental guidelines.178 

 Friend has expressed concern that the FBI’s Washington Field Office is opening and 
managing all January 6-related cases but labeling those cases with the file labels associated with 
the FBI field offices closest to the suspects’ residences. Friend alleges that this amounts to 
“irregular case dissemination, labeling, and management processes [which] could be considered 
exculpatory evidence [which] must be disclosed to defendants in accordance with the Brady 
rule.”179 

At the outset, even assuming that Friends’ claims about how January 6 cases are being 
handled are accurate, DIOG section 2.7, “Departures from the DIOG and DIOG-Related 
Policies,” specifically permits the FBI to depart from DIOG procedures. This section reads:  

A “departure” from the DIOG is a deliberate deviation from a specific known 
requirement or action governed by the DIOG. The word “deliberate” means the 
employee was aware of the DIOG requirement and affirmatively chose to depart 
from it for operational reasons before the activity took place. Approval of a 
departure must be based upon a specific circumstance involving a specific 
administrative or operational need. An approval may be for the duration of an 
investigation or relate to a specific classification, cannot extend beyond the scope 
of authority of the approving official, and must be approved in accordance with 
the guidance provided in this subsection.180 

During his interview, Friend admitted that he was not involved in the decision-making 
process around how January 6 cases would be handled across the FBI; was not in a supervisory 
position during his tenure at the Daytona Beach Residency Agency; did not participate in regular 
FBI-wide calls related to Capitol insurrection cases; and had no information as to whether a 
departure from the DIOG had been authorized for the investigation of events related to the 
January 6 Capitol attack.181  

In fact, Friend admitted that he does not know if the FBI is using the DIOG as the 
controlling authority for January 6 cases, or whether it is relying on another authority in place of 
or addition to the DIOG. For example, the Counter Terrorism Program Guide is a classified 

 
177 Domestic Investigations and Operations Guide, FED. BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION § 1 at 1-1 (Sep. 17, 2021), 
https://vault.fbi.gov/FBI%20Domestic%20Investigations%20and%20Operations%20Guide%20%28DIOG%29/fbi-
domestic-investigations-and-operations-guide-diog-2021-version. [Hereinafter FBI DIOG]. 
178 FBI DIOG § 1 at 1-1. 
179 Stephen Friend Declaration ¶ 12. 
180 FBI DIOG § 2.7.1 at 2-11. 
181 Stephen Friend Testimony at 69-73. 
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document that provides specific guidance for handling mass events and often supplements the 
DIOG in very large, complex criminal cases. When asked, Friend admitted that he had no 
knowledge or familiarity with the FBI Counter Terrorism Program Guide or its guidelines for 
managing cases related to a mass event.182 

Friend also claimed in his declaration that the FBI’s January 6-related case management 
practices “could be considered exculpatory evidence” that “must be disclosed to defendants in 
accordance with the Brady rule,”183 an apparent reference to the Supreme Court’s ruling in a 
1963 case, Brady v. Maryland.184 During his interview, Friend was asked about his 
understanding of the “Brady Rule.”185 He responded, “[W]e have to hand over everything that's 
related to a prosecution so that the defendant has that access to that information and can mount a 
defense.”186 In fact, Brady requires prosecutors to disclose materially exculpatory evidence in the 
government's possession to the defense.187 Friend did not explain how the FBI’s case 
management and labeling procedures might meet this standard.  

Moreover, the DIOG expressly does not create any rights enforceable by criminal 
defendants. Section 2.5 of the DIOG reads: 

The AGG-Dom, this DIOG, and the various operational division PGs are set forth 
solely for the purpose of internal DOJ and FBI guidance. They are not intended 
to, do not, and may not be relied upon to create any rights, substantive or 
procedural, enforceable by law by any party in any matter, civil or criminal, nor 
do they place any limitation on otherwise lawful investigative and litigative 
prerogatives of the DOJ and the FBI.188 

Friend admitted that he was not familiar with this paragraph before it was read to him at the 
transcribed interview.189 

 Accordingly, Committee Democrats concur with the Office of Special Counsel finding 
that Friend’s DIOG-related claims lack evidence that the FBI violated any law, rule, or 
regulation, or has engaged in gross mismanagement, a gross waste of funds, or an abuse of 
authority, or posed a substantial and specific danger to public health or safety. 

2. Friend Claimed That He Objected to the Use of a SWAT Team in an 
Arrest, But Later Admitted That the FBI Would Be Justified in Using 
a SWAT Team to Arrest a Defendant Known to Be Armed and 
Violent 

On August 24, 2022, the FBI arrested five individuals—John Edward Crowley, Jonathan 
Alan Rockholt, Tyler Quintin Bensch, Benjamin Cole, and Brian Preller—for their involvement 

 
182 Id. at 72. 
183 Stephen Friend Declaration ¶ 12. 
184 Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). 
185 Stephen Friend Testimony at 141. 
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188 FBI DIOG § 2.5 at 2-10. 
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in the January 6 attack on the Capitol.190 According to a contemporaneous Justice Department 
news release, “the five men self-identified as members of the ‘B Squad,’ a subgroup of a militia-
style, Florida based organization known as the ‘Guardians of Freedom,’ which adheres to the 
ideology of the ‘Three Percenters.’”191 As the statement of facts accompanying the defendants’ 
charging documents explains, “Three Percenters Militia violent extremists sometimes self-
identify as three percenters (“III%ers” or “threepers”) based on the myth that only three percent 
of American colonists took up arms against the British during the American Revolution.”192  

Crowley, Rockholt, Cole, and Preller were “charged with the felony offense of interfering 
with a law enforcement officer during a civil disorder” as well as “misdemeanor offenses of 
entering and remaining in a restricted building or grounds and disorderly and disruptive conduct 
in a restricted building or grounds.”193 Bensch was charged with the misdemeanor offenses 
only.194 

Friend became aware of the planned arrests of Bensch, Rockholt, and Crowley via an 
office-wide email circulated the week of August 15 stating that “there were going to be arrest 

 
190 Press Release, Five Florida Men Arrested on Charges for Actions During Jan. 6 Capitol Breach, U.S. DEP’T OF 
JUSTICE (Aug. 24, 2022), https://www.justice.gov/usao-dc/pr/five-florida-men-arrested-charges-actions-during-jan-
6-capitol-breach. 
191 Id. Mr. Friend stated that while he was familiar with the Three Percenters extremist group from his work with 
FBI, he had not formed an opinion about them: 

Q Are you familiar with the Three Percenters?  
A Yes.  
Q How did you become familiar with them?  
A Just reading about individuals who were arrested for their involvement on January 6th and the 

predication for a lot of the investigations involving some groups like Three Percenters or Oath Keepers 
or Proud Boys is that information is circulated within the national security side of things in the FBI.  

Q And had you been privy to that information?  
A Yeah. If I wanted to research it in more detail, yes, I could. … 
Q  …There's a footnote on this page [of the Cole et al. Statement of Facts], it's footnote number 2. It 

describes the Three Percenters as, quote/unquote, “violent extremists.” Do you agree with that term as 
applied to the Three Percenters?  

A I don't have an opinion on it. … 
Q …The footnote continues: “Some III%ers” – and it's the Roman numeral III, the percent sign, e-r-s – 

“regard the present day U.S. Government as analogous to British authorities during the Revolution in 
terms of infringements on civil liberties.” Do you agree with this statement about the Three Percenters? 

A:  I don't have any opinion, and I don't think my opinion really matters on the Three Percenters. … 
Q:  …On the following page [of the Cole et al. Statement of Facts] there's a photograph of a flyer 

distributed on December 24th, 2020, by this group. It reads: “Remember this, it comes straight from 
our Declaration of Independence that whenever any form of government becomes destructive, it is the 
right and duty of the people to alter or abolish it. That is why you are here. For massive change to 
occur massive action must be taken. Patriots, we are the lifeblood of this great nation, and it's time we 
prove that.” Do you have an opinion about this statement?  

A It seems like First Amendment protected activity. Stephen Friend Testimony at 156-58. 
192U.S. v. Cole et al., Case no. 1:22-mj-184-RMM, Doc. No. 5-1 (Statement of Facts) at 3 n.2 (Aug. 29, 2022), 
https://www.justice.gov/usao-dc/case-multi-defendant/file/1529756/download. 
193 Press Release, Five Florida Men Arrested on Charges for Actions During Jan. 6 Capitol Breach, U.S. DEP’T OF 
JUSTICE (Aug. 24, 2022), https://www.justice.gov/usao-dc/pr/five-florida-men-arrested-charges-actions-during-jan-
6-capitol-breach. 
194 Id. 
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operations happening, SWAT was going to be involved, and [he] would need to be free on the 
24th.”195  

During the interview, Friend stated that he objected to the use of a SWAT team because 
“the subject of the arrest warrant had been in communication with the FBI at that point and had 
expressed a willingness to cooperate with the FBI.”196 Friend’s September 21 declaration said 
nothing about concerns related to cooperation, however. Instead, he stated that he expressed to 
his supervisor “that it was inappropriate to use an FBI SWAT team to arrest a subject for 
misdemeanor offenses and opined that the subject would likely face extended detainment and 
biased jury pools in Washington D.C.”197 At his interview, he was unable to explain why he 
failed to mention the cooperation claim in his contemporaneous declaration: 

Q And did you raise the cooperation concern to your supervisor?  

A Yes.  

Q Okay. But you didn't note that in your declaration, right?  

A No.  

Q And was there a reason you didn’t note that in your declaration? 

A Just oversight.198 

In a January 31, 2023, podcast interview, Friend implied that he had no direct knowledge 
of any level of cooperation by the subjects of arrest. During that conversation, Friend 
acknowledged that the FBI’s interview with the suspect had taken place before he joined the 
JTTF, and that he had only read a transcript of the interview after the fact. He cited to one line 
from that transcript—according to Friend, the suspect had said, “If you need anything from me, 
just let me know.”199 From “let me know,” Friend apparently infers formal cooperation between 
the suspect and the FBI. “Let me know” alone falls short of cooperation to the reasonable 
observer, and it defies belief that anyone would be willing to claim full cooperation based on 
such assurances.  

 
195 Stephen Friend Testimony at 151-52. During his interview, Friend was unable to identify Bensch, Rockholt, and 
Crowley by name, instead referring to them generally as January 6 suspects. Of the suspects arrested on August 24, 
2022, however, only Bensch, Rockholt, and Crowley were arrested in Florida. Press Release, Five Florida Men 
Arrested on Charges for Actions During Jan. 6 Capitol Breach, U.S. DEP’T OF JUSTICE (Aug. 24, 2022), 
https://www.justice.gov/usao-dc/pr/five-florida-men-arrested-charges-actions-during-jan-6-capitol-breach 
(“Crowley, Rockholt, and Bensch were arrested in Florida and are making their initial court appearances today in the 
Middle District of Florida. Cole, who was arrested in Louisville, is making his initial court appearance in the 
Western District of Kentucky. Preller, who was arrested in Hardwick, Vermont, is making his appearance in the 
District of Vermont.”). 
196 Stephen Friend Testimony at 19. 
197 Stephen Friend Declaration ¶ 11.  
198 Stephen Friend Testimony at 154. 
199 Steve Interviews FBI Whistleblower, Steve Friend, THE PRAGMATIC CONSTITUTIONALIST at 20:58 (Jan. 31, 
2023), https://rumble.com/v27wnz0-steve-interviews-fbi-whistleblower-steve-friend.html (“The SWAT team in my 
scenario was going to be used for somebody who was charged with a felony. But I explained to them that even 
though it was a felony, this individual had said, ‘If you need anything from me, just let me know,’ in the interview 
that I had read. I hadn’t been, even – the interview had happened before I even became involved in the Joint 
Terrorism Task Force.”). 
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More importantly, Friend admitted that he was not assigned to the Jacksonville SWAT 
team and would not have been assigned to a SWAT team deployed for the August 24 arrest.200 
He also confirmed that he did not actually know the purpose of the SWAT team, telling the 
Committee, “I don’t know which individual SWAT was being used for, because I was never 
privy to the operations plan that was drafted.”201 He likewise confirmed that he never reviewed a 
SWAT risk assessment form, also known as a SWAT matrix, for this particular case.202 

Friend ultimately admitted, however, that the FBI may have been justified in deploying a 
SWAT team to arrest Tyler Bensch, the only defendant arrested solely on misdemeanor charges 
on August 24. In his transcribed interview, Friend was read the description of Bensch contained 
in the statement of facts accompanying Bensch’s charging documents and shown the picture 
accompanying that written description.203 

 
[Source: U.S. v. Cole et al., Case no. 1:22-mj-184-RMM, Doc. No. 5-1 (Statement of Facts) at 14 (Aug. 29, 2022)]. 

 
200 Stephen Friend Testimony at 151-52. 
201 Id. at 155. Friend later repeated, “I don’t know who the SWAT team was going to be used for.” Id. at 163. 
202 Stephen Friend Testimony at 195. 
203 Id. at 159-60. 
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 Friend was also read a portion of the statement of facts explaining, “A witness described 
Bensch posting photos and videos of himself outside the Capitol ‘with a gas mask, body armor 
vest, all black or camouflage attire, and an AR-style rifle.’”204 He confirmed that from this 
information, law enforcement could reasonably conclude that Bensch possessed a firearm: 

Q Based on this description, could it be reasonable for law enforcement to 
conclude that Mr. Bensch possessed an AR-style rifle?  

A Yes.205  

Friend was also read a portion of the statement of facts stating that Bensch posted video 
on his Facebook account of a previous rally “which resulted in violent clashes between Trump 
supporters and counter-protestors. Open-source videos associated with the event contain images 
of Bench—based on that individual’s helmet, goggles, body armor, military fatigues, drab scarf, 
and right shoulder camera.”206 He confirmed that based on this description, it would be 
reasonable for law enforcement to conclude that Bench had engaged in acts of violence: 

Q And based on that description, could it be reasonable for law enforcement 
to conclude that he had previously engaged in acts of violence?  

A Yes.207 

Friend confirmed that ownership of a firearm, even without any additional factors, would 
be enough of a factor on its own to justify deploying a SWAT team in an arrest, saying that he 
had observed cases where firearm ownership “opened up the matrix of use of, like, a SWAT 
team to apprehend somebody.”208 He explained: 

Q  The individuals that you expressed concern about for August 24th, were 
you aware of any factors that would counsel in favor of a SWAT team? 

A I think being a gun owner meets that matrix, and those individuals were. I 
think that being, you know, accused of a felony is something that can be 
taken into consideration. And, ultimately, if local law enforcement 
requests permission to use a SWAT team, then the FBI will do that as 
well.209 

 In light of Friend’s confirmation that he was not personally privy to information about the 
use of a SWAT team to arrest Bensch, Rockholt, or Crowley, and his assertion that all three 
individuals were gun owners and thus the SWAT matrix could have supported the use of a 
SWAT team to arrest them, Committee Democrats conclude that Friend has not shown that the 
use of SWAT team in this situation amounted to any violation of law, rule, or regulation, or gross 

 
204 Stephen Friend Testimony at 161-62 (quoting U.S. v. Cole et al., Case no. 1:22-mj-184-RMM, Doc. No. 5-1 
(Statement of Facts) at 36 (Aug. 29, 2022)). 
205 Stephen Friend Testimony at 162. 
206 U.S. v. Cole et al., Case no. 1:22-mj-184-RMM, Doc. No. 5-1 (Statement of Facts) at 37 (Aug. 29, 2022), 
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207 Stephen Friend Testimony at 162. 
208 Id. at 112, 188. 
209 Id. at 189. 
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mismanagement, a gross waste of funds, an abuse of authority, or a substantial and specific 
danger to public health or safety.  

3. Friend’s Remaining Claims Similarly Fail to Show Misconduct 

Friend also raised two claims concerning resource allocation and a particular surveillance 
incident. Committee Democrats have examined both and find both without merit. 

a) Allegations Of Resource Allocation Away from Other Criminal 
Matters 

In his declaration, Friend stated that he was transferred from working on child 
exploitation cases to the Joint Terrorism Task Force (JTTF) in October 2021 and said, without 
any supporting evidence, that he was “told that child sexual abuse material investigations were 
no longer an FBI priority and should be referred to local law enforcement agencies.”210 During 
his interview, though, Friend explained that he continued to work on child exploitation cases 
until he was suspended211 and handled approximately the same number of child exploitation 
cases both before and after he was transferred to the JTTF.212 In fact, Friend received an award 
for his work in this area in July 2022 after he agreed to take on all of the child exploitation cases 
for a local sheriff’s officer earlier that year.213 Friend also told the Committee that, both before 
and after October 2021, his role with respect to child exploitation cases was to “assist the local 
partner as needed,” determine “if there was a Federal nexus to open up a Federal case,” and 
“pick” whether a state or federal case would be “the better, more strategic option.”214 

 In sum, Friend offered no evidence to support his claim, and his own testimony appears 
to cut against his argument. Committee Democrats thus find no evidence that this claim supports 
allegations that the FBI violated any law, rule, or regulation, or has engaged in gross 
mismanagement, a gross waste of funds, or an abuse of authority, or posed a substantial and 
specific danger to public health or safety. 

b) Allegations Regarding Surveilling an Individual Attending a 
School Board Meeting  

 During his interview, Friend was asked about the Attorney General’s October 4, 2021, 
memorandum to address violent threats against school administrators, board members, teachers, 
and staff.215 He described an instance in which he was asked to surveil an individual who was 
going to a school board meeting.216 On cross-examination, Friend admitted that prior to being 
given this task, he was aware that the FBI had an open counterterrorism investigation into the 
individual in question and that the individual was “one of the people that were arrested on 
August 24th,” meaning one of the individuals adhering to the Three Percenter violent 

 
210 Stephen Friend Declaration ¶ 5. 
211 Stephen Friend Testimony at 9. 
212 Id. at 60 (stating that he handled his full child exploitation caseload while working on the JTTF). See also 
Stephen Friend Testimony at 59 (stating that he handled “a few dozen” cases total between June and September 
2021); Stephen Friend Testimony at 61-62 (stating that between early 2022 and July 2022, he brought “a couple” of 
cases to prosecution but also handled “two to three a week” that he would close).  
213 Stephen Friend Testimony at 34-35. 
214 Id. at 58-59. 
215 Id. at 121-22. 
216 Id. 126-27. 
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ideology.217 He also separately acknowledged that “there had to be a legitimate predication” for 
the open counterterrorism investigation on the individual.218 Friend stated that he and his fellow 
agents never actually entered the school board meeting:  

So essentially we just documented the license plates of the people that were 
parking at the school board meeting who were January 6th subjects, or people that 
were in the parking lot with them interacting that we thought could be in their 
sphere of influence, and then we left.219 

 Committee Democrats find no evidence that this surveillance was improper or that it 
supports allegations that the FBI violated any law, rule, or regulation, or has engaged in gross 
mismanagement, a gross waste of funds, or an abuse of authority, or posed a substantial and 
specific danger to public health or safety. 

D. Friend Has Engaged in Other Troubling Conduct 

1. Friend Accessed and Removed Material From a Classified System 
Without Authorization 

 Friend has publicly stated that his security clearance was suspended because he 
improperly accessed material on FBI computer systems,220 and during his testimony, he admitted 
that while a Special Agent at the Daytona Beach Resident Agency, he accessed and removed 
documents marked “For Official Use Only” from a classified FBI system.221 Specifically, he 
admitted that in September 2022, he accessed the classified system to get “information about the 
employee handbook and disciplinary processes,” “a flow chart of the way the Inspection 
Division works and the OPR [Office of Professional Responsibility] process works,” and “copies 
of the last five OPR quarterlies as a go by for precedent for punishment for my situation.”222 He 
also accessed and removed elements of the then-current version of the FBI Domestic 
Investigations and Operations Guide.223  

 The Office of the Director of National Intelligence (ODNI) serves as the Security 
Executive Agent for the federal government, meaning that it is responsible for establishing, 
implementing, and overseeing uniform policies “governing the conduct of investigations and 
adjudications for eligibility for access to classified information and eligibility to hold a sensitive 
position.”224 In 2017, it issued Security Executive Agent Directive 4: National Security 
Adjudicative Guidelines, which establish the general criteria for obtaining and maintaining a 
security clearance.225 Guideline M addresses the misuse of information technology. It explains: 

 
217 Id. at 139-40. 
218 Id. at 134. 
219 Id. at 127. 
220 See, e.g., Steve Friend (@Real_SteveFriend), TRUTH SOCIAL (Jan. 10, 2023, 9:09 AM), 
https://truthsocial.com/@Real_SteveFriend/posts/109665307137228963 (“I am on DAY 113 of suspension for 
improperly accessing the employee handbook”). 
221 Id. at 64, 67-68. 
222 Id. at 64. 
223 Id. at 67-68. 
224 Security Executive Agent, OFF. OF THE DIRECTOR OF NAT’L INTEL, https://www.dni.gov/index.php/ncsc-how-we-
work/ncsc-security-executive-agent (last visited Mar. 1, 2023). 
225 Security Executive Agent Directive 4, OFF. OF THE DIRECTOR OF NAT’L INTEL. at 1 (Jun. 8, 2017), 
https://www.odni.gov/files/NCSC/documents/Regulations/SEAD-4-Adjudicative-Guidelines-U.pdf. 
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“Failure to comply with rules, procedures, guidelines, or regulations pertaining to information 
technology systems may raise security concerns about an individual’s reliability and 
trustworthiness, calling into question the willingness or ability to properly protect sensitive 
systems, networks, and information.”226 The guideline lists “downloading, storing, or 
transmitting classified, sensitive, proprietary, or other protected information on or to any 
unauthorized information technology system” as one of the “[c]onditions that could raise a 
security concern and may be disqualifying,” meaning that it may disqualify an individual from 
obtaining or maintaining a security clearance.227 

 Committee Democrats conclude that Friend’s improper use of technology was likely a 
contributing factor in the FBI’s decision to suspend his security clearance. 

2. Friend Has Repeatedly Made Unauthorized Media Appearances 

As previously noted, Friend has made numerous media appearances since his declaration 
was made public and has repeatedly discussed information acquired as part of his official duties. 

The FBI’s Prepublication Review Policy Guide explains:  

All information created and acquired by current and former FBI personnel in 
connection with official FBI duties, as well as all official material to which FBI 
personnel have access, is the property of the United States… Unauthorized 
disclosure, misuse, or negligent handling of FBI information could adversely 
affect national security, place human life in jeopardy, result in denial of due 
process, obstruct justice, prevent the FBI from effectively discharging its 
responsibilities, or violate federal law.228  

For this reason, FBI employees are required obtain preclearance from the FBI’s Prepublication 
Review Office (PRO) at least thirty days in advance of any media appearance so that the PRO 
can: “(1) assess whether the proposed disclosure includes prohibited information, (2) advise 
submitting FBI personnel of any such concerns, and (3) work with the submitter to resolve such 
concerns.”229  

Friend told the Committee that he submitted a request to communicate with media about 
his written declaration involving FBI information to the Prepublication Review Office on 
October 11, 2022.230 He then appeared on Unfiltered with Dan Bongino on October 15, 2022.231 
Committee Democrats have reviewed this appearance and determined that Friend disclosed FBI 
information which was not originally included in his written disclosure. For example, during this 
appearance, Friend publicly claimed for the first time that his supervisors told him that the FBI 

 
226 Id. at 23. 
227 Id. at 23. 
228 Prepublication Review Policy Guide, FED. BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION § 3 (Jan. 8, 2020), 
https://vault.fbi.gov/prepublication-review-policy-guide-1065pg/prepublication-review-policy-guide-1065pg-part-
01-of-01. 
229 Id. at §§ 3, 4.2.1. 
230 E-mail from Stephen Friend to FBIPrePub@fbi.gov (Oct. 12, 2022, 5:25 PM) (on file with Committee). 
231 Unfiltered with Dan Bongino, FBI whistleblower Steve Friend reveals what at the agency made him speak out, 
FOX NEWS (Oct. 15, 2022), https://www.foxnews.com/video/6313831472112. 

43 of 315



had devised special procedures for handling January 6 cases in order “to get quote-unquote ‘buy-
in’ from the field.”232  

On October 21, 2022, Friend received a response from the Information Management 
Division (IMD). In relevant part, the letter read: 

This letter is in response to your request received by the Federal Bureau of 
Investigation’s (FBI) Prepublication Review Office (PRO) on October 11, 2022, 
in preparation of media contact concerning the above-referenced subject in 
accordance with the FBI’s Prepublication Review Policy (PRP) and 
Prepublication Review Policy Guide (1065PG). It has come to our attention that 
your contact with the media occurred prior to completion of the FBI’s 
prepublication review. Per 1065PG, Section 4.3.3, you are cautioned that 
disclosure of information by current or former personnel without the appropriate 
prepublication review may be subject to sanctions, if warranted based on the 
content of the disclosure. The FBI cautions that future disclosures involving FBI 
equities should be cleared by the FBI before publication occurs.  

Consistent with 1065PG and 28 CFR § 17.18, IMD will respond to 
requests within 30 working days of receipt. As such, you are reminded to submit 
any future proposed disclosures, including oral, written, or electronic, to the FBI 
at least 30 working days in advance and wait for authorization before proceeding 
with the disclosure of FBI information acquired in connection with official FBI 
duties. 

Compliance with the PRP does not relieve you of the obligation to comply 
with the Standards of Ethical Conduct for the Executive Branch, and other 
applicable FBI and Office of Government Ethics regulations or policies. Prior to 
taking any further action with respect to media contact, consider applicable 
regulations as set forth in the FBI Ethics and Integrity Program Policy Guide 
(1120PG), with particular attention to Sections 4.8 and 4.9. Please also ensure that 
appropriate approval within your chain of command is attained prior to 
participation when the information relates to your area of expertise within the 
FBI.233 

During his testimony before the Committee, Friend admitted that he did not consult the 
Standards of Ethical Conduct for the Executive Branch or other applicable FBI and 
governmental ethics regulations or policies before making further media disclosures.234 He 
further admitted that he did not consult with his chain of command before making further 
disclosures.235 He likewise confirmed that he did not seek specific approval for any of the 
individual media appearances which he made following his October appearance on the Dan 
Bongino show.236 

 
232 Id at 02:47. 
233 Letter from Section Chief, Record/Information Dissemination Section, Information Management Div., to Stephen 
Friend (Oct. 21, 2022) (on file with Committee). 
234 Stephen Friend Testimony at 168. 
235 Id. at 170. 
236 Id. at 185. 
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Accordingly, Committee Democrats conclude that Friend failed to obtain appropriate 
authorization before engaging in media appearances. Committee Democrats further note that 
Friend has been advised that he continues to be bound by the FBI Prepublication Review Policy 
despite having resigned from the Bureau.237 It appears that he is continuing to engage in 
unauthorized media appearances, including recent ones in which he discussed his testimony 
before the Committee in addition to FBI-related information.238 

3. Friend engaged with Russian propaganda outlets while an FBI 
employee 

On at least two occasions, Friend engaged with Russian journalists and propaganda 
outlets while still an FBI employee.  

On January 20, 2023, Sputnik News published an article titled, “Under Biden Federal 
Agencies Turned Into Instrument of Intimidation, FBI Whistleblower Says,” which relied 
heavily on comments from Friend.239 The article was written by Ekaterina Blinova, whose 
Twitter profile describes her as an “Independent political analyst, freelance journo, proud 

 
237 The October 21 letter was preceded by an email exchange between Friend and an FBI Office of Public Affairs 
(OPA) Unit Chief. In an October 11 email, the Unit Chief stated, in relevant part: 

“The Office of Public Affairs has received your request for permission to communicate to numerous media 
outlets about information in the affidavit you have filed with the Office of Special Counsel, the DOJ Inspector 
General, and Congress. For any proposed disclosure of FBI information, outside of official duty requirements, 
related to FBI matters or based upon information obtained by virtue of FBI employment you are required to engage 
with the Information Management Division’s Prepublication Review Office instead of OPA.  

“This requirement applies both to current and former employees and is set out in the FBI’s Prepublication 
Review Policy Guide and the Nondisclosure Agreements (NDA) you signed upon entering service as a condition to 
access FBI information.  

“PRO will conduct a thorough review to assess whether your proposed messaging is free from prohibited 
disclosures that could harm FBI personnel, assets, and operations. They will collaborate with you to resolve any 
concerns working to ensure that any messaging is free from sensitive/classified government information.” Email 
from Unit Chief, FBI Off. of Public Affs., to Stephen Friend (Oct. 11, 2022, 11:36 AM) (on file with the 
Committee). 

During Friend’s interview before the Committee, Friend’s attorney stated that he interpreted this language 
as granting Friend authorization to make media disclosures, stating, “So the email we sent out, they responded and 
said that they would work with us if the declaration had sensitive information in it… So they came back with that 
letter, cautioning him on speaking before he had approval, and there was no comment on the declaration… And then 
he took no comment of the declaration as approval to stay within the bounds of the declaration, which had 
previously been released by Senator Johnson.” Stephen Friend Testimony at 167. 

Committee Democrats disagree with Friend’s attorney’s interpretation. The October 11 email was sent by 
the FBI’s Office of Public Affairs (OPA) and expressly advised him to “collaborate” with the PRO instead of OPA 
going forward. It does not make any representations on behalf of PRO. Regardless, Committee Democrats have 
reviewed the content of multiple of Friend’s media appearances and have determined that he regularly discusses 
information purportedly gained within the scope of his FBI employment which was not contained in his declaration.  
238 The Kyle Seraphin Show, Mr. Friend Goes to Washington, RUMBLE (Feb. 17, 2023), 
https://rumble.com/v29y176-mr.-friend-goes-to-washington.html; TheMostlyPeacefulPodcast, EP1 Recovering FBI 
Agents Steve Friend and Kyle Seraphin On DOJ Weaponization, RUMBLE at 19:10 (Feb. 21, 2023), 
https://rumble.com/v2aeh24-ep1-recovering-fbi-agents-steve-friend-and-kyle-seraphin-on-doj-polarizatio.html; 
Jesse Watters Primetime, What has happened to the FBI?, FOX NEWS (Feb. 24, 2023) 
https://www.foxnews.com/video/6321178850112. 
239 Ekaterina Blinova, Under Biden Federal Agencies Turned Into Instrument of Intimidation, FBI Whistleblower 
Says, SPUTNIK (Jan. 20, 2023) https://sputniknews.com/20230120/under-biden-federal-agencies-turned-into-
instrument-of-intimidation-fbi-whistleblower-says-1106516720.html. 
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Russian.”240 Sputnik News was established by the Russian government in 2014 and is fully 
owned by Rossiya Segodnya, also known as Russia Today and RT, which is fully owned by the 
Russian government.241 Rossiya Segodnya is registered as a foreign agent with the Justice 
Department.242 Last year, the European Union sanctioned and banned both Sputnik and 
RT/Russia Today, finding that both were used by the Russian Federation “in a systematic, 
international campaign of disinformation, information manipulation and distortion of facts in 
order to enhance its strategy of destabilisation of its neighbouring countries, the EU and its 
member states.”243 

During his interview, Friend was asked if he was familiar with Sputnik. He responded, 
“It’s a Russian propaganda newspaper,” and he confirmed that he had provided Blinova with 
written responses to three questions.244 He admitted that he failed to inform the FBI that he had 
received outreach from a journalist affiliated with the Russian government and did not seek 
approval before responding to Blinova’s inquiry.245 Likewise, he did not take any action after the 
story was published beyond checking to confirm that Blinova accurately reproduced the 
statements he had given to her.246 

 Friend was also asked about Russia Today. He stated that he understood it to be “another 
propaganda arm for the Russian Government”247 and that he had never intentionally appeared on 
Russia Today:  

Q Do you know if Russia Today ever referenced your comments during its 
broadcast?  

A I did not know until I had my meeting with the Security Division of the 
FBI, and they accused me of appearing on Russia Today. And I had to 
inform them that they probably just lifted my appearances from other 
media sources and replayed them.  

Q Okay. But so you are aware that they have – you’ve never appeared 
intentionally, but they've taken your statements and broadcast them?  

A I never went looking for it. I'll take what Security Division said on its face 
as accurate.248 

 
240 Ekaterina Blinova (@blinova14), TWITTER, https://twitter.com/blinova14 (last visited Mar. 1, 2023). 
241 About Us, SPUTNIK, https://sputniknews.com/docs/index.html (last visited Feb. 27, 2023); Stephen Ennis, Putin's 
RIA Novosti revamp prompts propaganda fears, BBC (Dec. 9, 2013), https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-
25309139. 
242 FARA Exhibit B Filing, Federal State Unitary Enterprise Rossiya Segodnya International Information Agency, 
Reg. No. 6869 (Aug. 2, 2022), https://efile.fara.gov/docs/6869-Exhibit-AB-20220802-4.pdf. 
243 Press Release, EU imposes sanctions on state-owned outlets RT/Russia Today and Sputnik's broadcasting in the 
EU, COUNCIL OF THE EUROPEAN UNION (Mar. 2, 2022), https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-
releases/2022/03/02/eu-imposes-sanctions-on-state-owned-outlets-rt-russia-today-and-sputnik-s-broadcasting-in-the-
eu/. 
244 Stephen Friend Testimony at 178-79. 
245 Id. at 181. 
246 Id. at 180. 
247 Id. at 180. 
248 Id. at 180-81. 
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In fact, on December 24, 2022, Friend appeared for a video interview on The Whistleblowers 
with John Kiriakou, an RT program.249 It does not appear that Friend notified the FBI of his 
appearance or that he obtained specific authorization prior to doing so. 

E. Friend Has Demonstrated Severe Bias Towards the Bureau Which Is 
Reasonably Likely to Have Impacted His Testimony 

Friend’s testimony centered on his concerns with the FBI’s management of investigations 
related to the January 6 Capitol attack on both a national and local level. His complaints, 
however, must be viewed as coming from the perspective of someone seeking to do harm to the 
FBI, as he has repeatedly demonstrated animus towards the Bureau in media appearances and on 
social media.  

Since being suspended, Friend has publicly described the FBI as a “a feckless, garbage 
institution.”250 From when he joined Twitter on November 16, 2022, through February 14, 2023, 
Friend posted over 20 times calling for the FBI to be defunded,251 dismantled,252 dissolved,253 
aborted,254 abolished,255 or otherwise ended.256 

During a November 8, 2022, podcast appearance on Mill Creek View Tennessee Podcast, 
he again voiced his belief that the FBI should be ended, saying, “I will say unequivocally now 
that the FBI is beyond saving, it needs to be control, alt, deleted and completely eliminated and 
eradicated from the federal government.”257 Friend used this same language in a Truth Social 

 
249 The Whistleblowers, Stephen Friend blows the whistle on the FBI, RT (Dec. 24, 2022), 
https://www.rt.com/shows/whistleblowers/568637-stephen-friend-politicized-fbi/. 
250 Steve Friend (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER (Feb. 21, 2023, 6:15 PM), 
https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend/status/1628171705586704387. 
251 E.g., Steve Friend (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER (Jan. 2, 2023, 10:10 AM), 
https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend/status/1609930175965270017. 
252 E.g., Steve Friend (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER (Dec. 24, 2022, 9:04 PM), 
https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend/status/1606833333165596673. 
253 E.g., Steve Friend (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER (Dec. 16, 2022, 10:40 PM), 
https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend/status/1603958354694610944. 
254 E.g., Steve Friend (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER (Dec. 26, 2022, 6:52 AM), 
https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend/status/1607343573615124482. 
255 E.g., Steve Friend (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER (Feb. 8, 2023, 7:26 PM), 
https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend/status/1623478351934418946. 
256 See, e.g., Steve Friend (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER (Feb. 14, 2023, 7:42 PM), 
https://twitter.com/realstevefriend/status/1625656884626706433; see also Appendix A. 
257 Mill Creek View Tennessee Podcast, Mill Creek View Tennessee Podcast EP17 Stephen Friend Interview & 
More November 8 2022, PODOMATIC at 23:01 (Nov. 8, 2022), 
https://www.podomatic.com/podcasts/steve70281/episodes/2022-11-08T16_30_09-08_00. 

Q What do you think the solutions to a rogue agency like this funded by taxpayer dollars turning on 
taxpayers could be? 

A So I've actually had, you know, a fair amount of time to reflect on this, and I've kind of evolved on 
it as I've seen more fallout since my suspension. I will say unequivocally now that the FBI is 
beyond saving. It needs to be control, alt, deleted and completely eliminated and eradicated from 
the federal government. However, I don't think any elected official is going to have the cojones to 
pull that move off. So, in a pragmatic sense, I think that there are some basic and logical steps that 
can be taken right away that can go and get the ball rolling towards some reforms. Number one, 
Christopher Wray's tenure as the director needs to be over. He's overseen some of the most 
massive investigative failures in recent memory, you know, have happened during his leadership. I 
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quote reply on November 7, 2022—the day before his podcast appearance—when he posted, 
“The PC answer is that there are lots of good people doing good work. I’m done with it. The fact 
that 14k aren’t standing next to @kyleseraphin and me means we need to Ctrl+Alt+Del the 
whole thing. Too many overpaid, underworked people resting on the laurels of those who came 
before and did real police work.”258 

 
In an appearance on the Robby Starbuck podcast two months later, he reiterated his 

desire to dissolve the FBI, saying, “If you said, Hey, Steve, you want to be FBI Director? So yes, 
two conditions, I have to work remotely from Florida because I don't want to leave. And two, it's 
going to be a 12 month assignment, because that gives me the window that I need to complete 
the dismantle the organization.”259 

Committee Democrats believe that Friend’s repeated attacks on the FBI demonstrate 
extreme bias against the FBI. His social media diatribes and reposts are broad and wide-ranging, 
including calls to “abort the FBI”260 and a post stating, “At best the FBI is an insult to the 
taxpayer.”261  

 
mean, it could be the Gretchen Whitmer kidnapping scam, Nassar scam, the Vegas shooter, we 
still don't have any information on. We have no information about the alleged pipe bombings on 
January 6. 

258 Steve Friend (@Real_SteveFriend), TRUTH SOCIAL (Nov. 7, 2022, 7:47 PM), 
https://truthsocial.com/@Real_SteveFriend/posts/109305427771232937. 
259 FBI Special Agent Whistleblower Exposes FBI Corruption!, THE ROBBY STARBUCK SHOW (Jan. 12, 2023), 
https://therobbystarbuckshow.transistor.fm/s1/4/transcript. 
260 E.g., Steve Friend, (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER (Dec. 25, 2022, 5:43 PM), 
https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend/status/1607145126505349120. 
261 Steve Friend (@Real_SteveFriend), TRUTH SOCIAL (Feb. 21, 2023, 8:15 AM), 
https://truthsocial.com/@Real_SteveFriend/posts/109902911518876069. 
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Friend has even called for local law enforcement to act against the FBI. He tweeted for 
law enforcement to “Starve the FBI out” and to stop collaborating with the FBI, going so far as 
to tell his followers to “Pressure your sheriffs to refuse to cooperate” with FBI investigations.262 
This animus goes beyond the institution of the FBI to include his former colleagues. He has 
decried FBI employees for failing to “speak out publicly.”263 He has expressed that every one of 
the FBI’s 35,000-plus employees should be laid off, writing in a December 13, 2022, quote 
tweet, “Can think of about 36k people at @FBI the @HouseGOP can lay off,”264 and calling for 
“Breadlines for everyone” who works for the FBI.265  

 
In light of Friend’s extreme animus towards the FBI and its employees, Committee 

Democrats express serious concerns about the extent to which bias may have impacted Friend’s 
testimony before the Committee. 

F. Conclusion 

Friend admitted that the bulk of his claim has already been rejected by independent 
entities, and Committee Democrats join them in finding his allegations unpersuasive. Friend did 

 
262 Steve Friend (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER (Dec. 19, 2022, 6:48 PM), 
https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend/status/1604986983432048641. 
263 Steve Friend (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER (Dec. 24, 2022, 11:56 PM), 
https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend/status/1606876566914580480. 
264 Steve Friend (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER (Dec. 13, 2022, 12:55 PM), 
https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend/status/1602724023456120832. 
265 Steve Friend (@RealStevefriend), TWITTER (Dec. 24, 2022, 11:56 PM), 
https://twitter.com/RealStevefriend/status/1606876566914580480. 
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not provide any evidence of a violation of a law, rule, or regulation, or of gross mismanagement, 
waste of funds, an abuse of authority, or a substantial danger to public health or safety. Notably, 
his claims related to the DIOG lack first-hand knowledge of the considerations underlying the 
management of the January 6 cases, and he admitted that the FBI would have had a reasonable 
rationale for using a SWAT team to arrest individuals known to be armed and violent, as the 
Three Percenters arrested on August 24, 2022, were.  

Moreover, Committee Democrats conclude that Friend himself has likely engaged in 
misconduct by misusing technology and repeatedly engaging in unauthorized media 
appearances, including with media outlets he knows to be Russian propaganda outlets.  

Finally, Committee Democrats find that Friend’s strong animus toward the FBI likely 
provided him with strong motivation to speak with the Committee in an effort to advance his 
goal of dismantling the FBI. This bias sharply undercuts his credibility and casts further doubt on 
the veracity of his claims. 

V. An Analysis of Witness Testimony Shows That Committee Republicans Are 
Working to Advance a Politically Motivated Messaging Campaign Unsupported by 
the Evidence 

A. Witness Testimony Does Not Support Committee Republicans’ Desired 
Narrative Regarding the Handling of January 6 Cases 

1. The Evidence Does Not Support Politically Motivated Allegations that 
the FBI Is Improperly Managing the January 6 Cases  

Throughout the interviews, Committee Republicans sought to find facts to support their 
desired narrative—that the FBI’s Washington Field Office (WFO) is inappropriately opening 
January 6-related cases in other field offices while retaining control over the broader January 6 
Capitol attack matter.  

Committee Democrats agree that the WFO and the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the District 
of Columbia are playing a leading role in investigating and prosecuting cases—indeed, public 
releases from the Department of Justice have acknowledged this, saying, “Under the continued 
leadership of the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the District of Columbia and the FBI’s Washington 
Field Office, the investigation and prosecution of those responsible for the attack continues to 
move forward at an unprecedented speed and scale.”266 But none of the witnesses have provided 
any evidence that the FBI acted inappropriately by structuring its case management process in 
this way. No witness even had firsthand knowledge of the factors which FBI or Justice 
Department leadership may have considered when determining how to structure the January 6 
Capitol attack investigations and prosecutions, and, as noted previously, the FBI’s Domestic 
Investigations and Operations Guide specifically permits departures from its procedures when 
appropriate. 

In fact, the Committee heard from one witness, a former senior FBI official, who testified 
that there is precedent for the FBI managing a mass event investigation by establishing 
individual cases in a suspect’s home field office while maintaining overall management of the 

 
266 Press Release, One Year Since the Jan. 6 Attack on the Capitol, U.S. DEP’T OF JUSTICE, 
https://www.justice.gov/usao-dc/one-year-jan-6-attack-capitol (last updated Dec. 30, 2021). 
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matter in the jurisdiction where the event occurred. The retired FBI official described another 
counterterrorism investigation in which field offices opened cases that were offshoots of a larger 
investigation run elsewhere: 

Q So following January 6th, 2021, did the FBI set up a command post or task 
force at headquarters of the WFO specifically to handle these cases?  

A I believe that's correct. But I would definitely refer you to FBI and WFO 
on what exactly they stood up and when….  

Q …So how we understand it, and I think just how you explained this, 
ordinarily the full investigations are labeled according to the originating 
field office, and then there might be leads cut to other field offices or –  

A Not leads, cases.  

Q Cases. So other cases could be opened in the other field offices.  

A PENTTBOM is a good example. Like the 9/11 investigation was run out 
of New York. But field offices had, not leads, cases as a result of that. 

So me in Phoenix, as a case agent, I had cases that were mine in 
Phoenix but were part of the 9/11 attack investigation. Everything I wrote 
on my case, I also then routed into the overarching New York case.  

Q So it would look like there was a case open in Phoenix and then in New 
York as well.  

A Well, the overarching case in New York was the whole attack 
investigation. And then individuals as they popped up as being involved in 
some form or fashion in 9/11 were separate individual cases run by that 
field office.  

Q Okay. So the full investigation into the events at the Capitol on January 
6th, 2021, would be the Washington Field Office.  

A Correct.  

Q And then other field offices across the country may have other cases.  

A Correct.267  

Accordingly, it is simply inaccurate to contend that the FBI’s management of the January 6 cases 
is somehow unprecedented or inappropriate. 

Moreover, none of the witnesses provided any evidence indicating that the WFO is 
exercising inappropriate control over cases transferred to other offices for investigation such as 
by, for example, requiring field offices to take specific investigative steps with which they 
disagree. To the contrary, each witness provided testimony showing that field offices are able to 
exercise their own judgment over whether particular investigative steps are necessary. For 
instance, Hill described two situations in which the Boston Field Office refused to conduct 

 
267 Interview with Retired FBI Official at 103-05 (Feb. 1, 2023) (transcript on file with the Committee). 
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investigations following a request from WFO, without any apparent repercussions.268 O’Boyle 
likewise described a situation in which he personally declined to take a particular investigative 
step suggested by a WFO agent, again without any repercussions.269 

Friend asserted that he was never asked to open matters without a sufficient predicate for 
a full investigation, and that in one instance he actually closed down a lead for insufficient 
evidence, again without any apparent repercussions: 

Q Now sort of returning to the J6 cases, in those matters, do you believe you 
were asked to open matters without sufficient predicate for full 
investigations?  

A  We didn't open any January 6th cases when I was brought over to JTTF. 
Those cases had already been opened, so I was never given a new one to 
look at. I was given one lead to look at and closed that down for 
insufficient evidence.270  

 Moreover, while Committee Republicans suggested that the FBI may be pressuring field 
offices to pursue cases aggressively for inappropriate reasons, such as to financially injure 
subjects or targets,271 the evidence fails to support this contention. In fact, when asked by 
Committee Republicans if he had experienced a situation in which his office pursued a case for 
the sole purpose of draining someone’s resources, Friend said he had not: 

Q And so, within the context of the January 6th cases, did you ever hear 
anyone say or suggest that they were calling someone's attorney or setting 
up an interview for the purpose of draining that subject's financial 
resources?  

A I never heard anybody say that, no.272  

 For all of these reasons, Committee Democrats conclude that there is no evidence of any 
misconduct with respect to the FBI’s structure for managing the January 6 Capitol attack 
criminal cases. 

2. The Committee Heard Testimony That Directly Contradicts 
Republicans’ Allegations That the FBI Is Attempting to “Pad” Its 
Domestic Violent Extremism Statistics  

Committee Republicans also appear to be working to create a narrative that the FBI is 
attempting to “pad” its domestic violent extremism (DVE) case numbers. As then-Ranking 
Member Jim Jordan explained in an August 10, 2022, letter: 

Whistleblower disclosures made by multiple FBI employees from different field 
offices suggest that FBI agents are bolstering the number of cases of DVEs to 
satisfy their supervisors. For example, one whistleblower explained that because 

 
268 George Hill Testimony at 81-82, 118-19.  
269 Garret O’Boyle Testimony at 104, 120-21. 
270 Stephen Friend Testimony at 39. 
271 Id. at 35. 
272 Id. at 36. 
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agents are not finding enough DVE cases, they are encouraged and incentivized to 
reclassify cases as DVE cases even though there is minimal, circumstantial 
evidence to support the reclassification. Another whistleblower stated that a field 
office Counterterrorism Assistant Special Agent in Charge and the FBI’s then-
Assistant Director of the Counterterrorism Division pressured agents to move 
cases into the DVE category to hit self-created performance metrics.273 

 While both Friend and O’Boyle testified that they had concerns about the reclassification 
of cases to “pad” DVE case numbers, and O’Boyle suggested that such case numbers might play 
a role in FBI budgeting decisions, both also admitted that they were not involved in decision-
making regarding performance metrics or manner in which resources were allocated, including 
whether case numbers played a role in such allocations.274 In fact, when asked to provide 
evidence of DVE numbers being inflated, Friend actually said that the only example that came to 
his mind was an international terrorism case which involved a disagreement over whether to 
continue investigating a certain suspect with a possible connection to a foreign terrorist group.275 
George Hill explicitly testified that he was not aware of any instances of agents being 
encouraged to reclassify cases:  

Q Are you aware of any instances at the FBI where an agent was encouraged 
to reclassify a case?  

A Not specifically, no. Tagging, yes; reclassification, no.276  

 The former senior FBI official, however, provided direct, firsthand knowledge on this 
matter. In response to questioning from Republican staff, the official stated that in their 
experience, case numbers were not considered in FBI officials’ performance plans: 

I don't ever remember reviewing one of my performance plans and making note 
of, oh, they're telling me I need to, whether it's case numbers or budget, do X, Y, 
Z in a specific granular level like that. It was broader categories of business 
acumen and achieving results. So, no, I do not remember ever in mine there being 
a metric, both in the plan or in the appraisal at the end of the year. 277 

 Likewise, the retired FBI official explained that case numbers, standing alone, are a 
meaningless statistic: 

And I think I have said this to the folks that work for me and probably even to 
reporters that have shown an interest in me talking about, quote/unquote, case 
numbers, that for me case numbers are, one, only an allegation. Until proven they 
are somewhat meaningless. Like I feel like innocent until proven guilty. So I've 

 
273 Letter from Jim Jordan, Ranking Member, H. Comm. on the Judiciary, and Mike Johnson, Ranking Member, 
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274 Stephen Friend Testimony at 38, 125-126; Garret O’Boyle Testimony at 96, 117-18. 
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never focused on case numbers because, believe it or not, case numbers are closed 
without proof… 

 And case numbers are case numbers. They're not looking at things 
holistically as an intelligence driven entity. And so for a lot of reasons, I've never 
thought case numbers were very meaningful.278  

The official also explained that case numbers do not drive resource allocation, directly 
contradicting Committee Republicans’ theory: 

I think that how you assign resources, the way that I view it is the resources 
should be assigned commensurate with the threat and probably the complexity of 
the case.  

So, for example, bank robbers are something that the Bureau works. 
Working a bank robbery case is different than working an international terrorism 
case with a FISA. A bank robbery case agent can probably have 20 bank 
robberies and that caseload be okay. An international terrorism agent with a FISA 
wouldn't have 20 cases assigned to them. That would be a volume that they 
couldn't handle.  

And so you're assigning resources based on the severity of the threat, but 
also taking into account the nature of the case and what it might need.279 

Committee Democrats thus find that none of the witnesses presented any reliable 
firsthand evidence that the FBI is artificially inflating its DVE case numbers, and that the retired 
FBI official explained in extensive detail why this theory would be illogical with respect to both 
threat assessment and resource allocation considerations. 

Moreover, Committee Democrats find it both disingenuous and alarming that Committee 
Republicans are suggesting that domestic violent extremism does not present an increasing 
threat, particularly since data from non-partisan DVE trackers provides evidence to the contrary.  

The Center for Strategic and International Studies (CSIS) is a widely respected 
“bipartisan, nonprofit policy research organization” that focuses on producing research to inform 
nonpartisan solutions to national security issues.280 The CSIS Transnational Threats Project 
complies a data set of domestic terror incidents since 1994, and CSIS recorded “1,040 terrorist 
attacks and plots in the United States between January 1, 1994, and December 31, 2021.”281  

According to CSIS, 2020 had the highest number of domestic terror incidents in the 
nearly 30 years which the organization has been tracking.282 Of those incidents, a staggering 66 
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281 Catrina Doxsee, Seth G. Jones, Jared Thompson, Kateryna Halstead & Grace Hwang, Pushed to Extremes: 
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percent of domestic terrorist plots and attacks in the United States were executed by white 
supremacists, extremist militia members, and other violent far-right extremists.283 The data also 
show a shift in motivation for domestic terrorism away from the kind of extremism inspired by 
the Islamic State and Al-Qaeda and towards white nationalism and anti-government 
sentiments.284 

In 2021, CSIS released a report finding that white supremacists, anti-government militias, 
and other violent far-right extremists conducted the most domestic terror attacks and plots of any 
ideology group.285 Attacks and plots by violent far-right groups were also “significantly more 
likely to be lethal, both in terms of weapon choice and number of resulting fatalities.”286 CSIS 
determined that out of the 30 domestic terrorism fatalities in the United States in 2021, 28 were 
the result of far-right terrorist attacks.287  

In light of these facts and statistics, Committee Democrats conclude that Republicans’ 
efforts to downplay the serious threat posed by far-right extremists is not just troubling – it is 
dangerous. 

3. There Is No Evidence That the FBI Is Diverting Resources From 
Other Violent Crimes in Favor of January 6 Work. 

During the transcribed interviews, Committee Republicans questioned whether the FBI is 
diverting resources from other violent crime matters, especially cases involving child sexual 
abuse material, to January 6 matters. Each witness testified that this is not the case.  

For example, Republican staff asked George Hill, “Do you perceive pulling resources 
from crimes such as child sexual abuse cases antithetical to the FBI's mission?”288 He responded, 
“I think it's irresponsible to direct resources to areas that are not existential threats to the 
democracy or to our Constitution or to American citizens.”289 However, when Democratic staff 
asked him directly if he knew of resources being pulled from child sexual abuse cases to work on 
January 6-related matters, he responded, “Not in the Boston office.”290 

Garret O’Boyle likewise explained that his office was not “pulling, like, agents from the 
other side, the criminal side” to work on January 6 matters.291 He specifically testified that he did 
not witness any agents being pulled from child sexual abuse or violent crime matters to work on 
January 6 cases: 

Q Did you ever see an agent pulled, for example, from an investigation on a 
child sex abuse case, for example, to work on the January 6th cases?  
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A I never saw that, no.  

Q Okay. Did you ever see anybody pulled from working on a case on child 
sexual abuse material to work on the January 6th cases?  

A I didn't see that.  

Q Okay. Did you see anybody pulled from violent crime?  

A I didn't see that, no.292 

 Finally, as described above, Stephen Friend admitted that, despite language in his 
September 2021 declaration implying that the Bureau was deprioritizing child exploitation cases 
in favor of January 6 matters, in fact, Friend continued to work on child exploitation cases until 
he was suspended;293 received an award for his work on child exploitation cases in July 2022;294 
handled approximately the same number of child exploitation-related cases both before and after 
he was transferred to the Joint Terrorism Task Force;295 and maintained the same responsibilities 
in child exploitation cases, which included determining “if there was a Federal nexus to open up 
a Federal case.”296 

There is thus no evidence to support any claims that the FBI is diverting resources from 
other serious criminal matters in order to focus on investigations into the January 6 Capitol 
attack. 

B. Republicans Claim That the FBI Should Not Investigate Credible Threats of 
Violence Against School Administrators and Other Local Public Officials 

Committee Republicans asked both Garret O’Boyle and Stephen Friend about Attorney 
General Merrick Garland’s October 4, 2021, memo addressing violent threats against school 
officials and teachers.297  

Republican staff read O’Boyle portions of a May 11, 2022, letter from then-Ranking 
Member Jordan to Attorney General Garland regarding the October 2021 memo.298 This letter 
contains bullets describing particular alleged incidents with which Committee Republicans have 
expressed concern.299 For example, one bullet describes an allegation that the FBI interviewed an 
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individual who threatened a local school board that she was “coming for” them.300 Another 
describes the FBI speaking with a person who was concerned that another parent may be 
dangerous.301 The third describes the FBI opening a case following allegations that certain 
individuals had “incited violence.”302 After Republican staff read him each bullet, O’Boyle 
responded that the examples were “shocking” and “a perfect example of how the DOJ and the 
FBI has become weaponized.”303 

When questioned by Democratic staff, however, O’Boyle admitted that he never worked 
on any matters related to school boards, that he did not work on any of the matters described in 
the letter by Republican staff, and that everything he knew about those matters was based on 
what Republican staff read to him.304 He also confirmed that the FBI is obligated to investigate 
tips containing a threat of violence: 

Q  In your role with the JTTF or otherwise with the FBI, did you ever have 
tips from the tip line referred to you?  

A I have.  

Q And was it your obligation to investigate those tips?  

A To some degree.  

Q If they contained a threat of violence, would you be obligated to 
investigate them?  

A To some degree, yes.305  

With respect to Stephen Friend, as described above, during his interview, Friend detailed 
an instance in which he was asked to surveil an individual who was traveling to a school board 
meeting.306 On cross-examination, Friend admitted that prior to being given this task, he was 
aware that the FBI had an open counterterrorism investigation into the individual in question 
related to their identification with the Three Percenters violent extremist group.307 He also 
separately acknowledged that “there had to be a legitimate predication” for the open 
counterterrorism investigation on this individual.308 Friend stated that he and his fellow agents 
never even entered the school board meeting.309 

 Committee Democrats thus conclude that the Republicans’ investigation has failed to 
produce any evidence that either the FBI or the Justice Department have acted inappropriately in 
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their work to protect school teachers, administrators, and other public officials from violence and 
threats of violence.  

Committee Democrats are also deeply concerned about this talking point from 
Committee Republicans because it downplays the very real threats of violence which school 
employees face. In an American Psychological Association survey of nearly 15,000 school 
employees, “over 40% of school administrators reported verbal or threatening violence from 
parents” between March 2020 and June 2021.310  

 School administrators across the country have received increasing numbers of death 
threats since spring 2020. A school board member’s child in Virginia received a letter that read, 
“It is too bad that your mama is an ugly communist whore. If she doesn’t quit or resign before 
the end of the year, we will kill her, but first, we will kill you!”311 Members of that same school 
board collectively received at least 22 death threats or messages which “said members should be 
or would be killed.”312 In Arizona, a principal received an email that threatened, “The next time 
it will be a barrel pointed at your Nazi face. Following the guidance you say? The Nazis were 
just following orders too. Guess we will have to see what side you choose. The Americans or the 
Nazis. Remember Tucson is a small community and you have a target on your back for enforcing 
unlawful orders.”313 

 In some cases, threats have escalated to violence. The emailed threat to the Arizona 
principal came just after a parent and two others showed up at the elementary school with zip ties 
threatening to perform a “citizen’s arrest” on the principal, who had asked a child to quarantine 
after a COVID-19 exposure.314 A parent in California struck a teacher in the face when the 
teacher intervened in a confrontation between the parent and the school principal.315 These are 
just a few examples of the threats being faced by teachers and school administrators. When 
Committee Republicans imply that threats of harm are not a serious issue, they excuse these 
attacks on educators and minimize a significant risk that school officials across the country are 
facing. 
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Section II: Evidence Indicates That Extreme Far-Right Outside Activists – Not Committee 
Republicans – Are Driving the Republicans’ Inquiry 

I. Evidence Suggests That Kash Patel Is Advancing the Committee’s Work as Part of 
His Longtime Efforts to Protect President Trump 

A. Kash Patel Is a Longtime Trump Loyalist Who Has Described Himself as the 
“Lead Investigator for Russia Gate.” 

Kashyap P. Patel, known more commonly as Kash Patel, has been described as a “Trump 
loyalist”316 who previously served as former House Intelligence Committee Chair Devin Nunes’s 
“right-hand man … trying to help the congressman undermine the Russia investigation.”317 
Notably, he is reported to have written a “hopelessly misguided”318 memo “widely dismissed as 
a biased argument of cherry-picked facts” which accused the FBI and Justice Department of 
abusing their powers319—substantially similar to the claims Committee Republicans are 
advancing in their current endeavor. 

Former President Trump subsequently appointed Patel to the National Security Council 
(NSC) in 2019.320 The NSC’s Russia Director, Fiona Hill testified that Trump may have begun 
considering Patel to be his “Ukraine director” around the time of the events leading to Trump’s 
first impeachment.321 In addition, as journalist Tim Weiner noted in a recent New York Times 
opinion piece, Patel was “one of the Trump appointees who led the attempt to uncover the 
secrets of the ‘deep state’ that consumed the president during his last year in power.”322 

Following the 2020 election, Trump appointed Patel as chief of staff to Acting Secretary 
of Defense Christopher Miller at the Pentagon.323 In this role, Patel reportedly “pursued the idea 
that Italian military satellites had been used to turn votes to Joe Biden in the presidential 
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election,”324 blocked the Biden transition team’s access to Defense Department officials, and 
“recast policy descriptions to include content that reflect[ed] favorably on Trump's policies 
before the information [was] shared with the Biden transition.”325 

 After leaving government, Patel established the “Kash Patel Legal Offense Trust” using 
the WinRed Republican fundraising platform.326 The fundraising pitch for Patel’s Legal Offense 
Trust reads, in part: 

I know firsthand that the Fake News propaganda machine is working overtime to 
put American patriots on the defensive…  

I’m done playing defense. It’s time to go on the offensive! That’s why I’m 
fighting back.  

But to win, your support is critical to helping me reach my $250k goal to 
fund a top-notch legal defense team.327 
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 In 2022, Patel expanded his operation to include Fight With Kash, whose website 
describes the organization as a nonprofit whose “charitable endeavors include: legal funds[,] 
education[, and] veteran and law enforcement financial support.”328 While the Fight With Kash 
“Donate” page states that the “FightWithKash Foundation is a 501(c)(3) nonprofit,” no nonprofit 
organizations with that name can currently be found using the IRS’s Tax Exempt Organization 
Search.329 In July 2022, in a letter sent to an address which is in the same building as contact 
information found on the Fight With Kash website, the IRS granted 501(c)(3) tax-exempt status 
to the Kash Foundation Inc.330 It is possible that Patel is confused by his own corporate structure; 
nevertheless, the Fight With Kash website continues to state that the organization is “Paid For By 
Kash Patel Legal Offense Trust.”331 

 
In addition to running Fight With Kash and the Kash Patel Legal Offense Trust, Patel has 

focused on continuing to advance the false narrative of a “Deep State,” including the FBI and the 
Justice Department, which is harming former President Trump and his allies. In April 2022, he 
reportedly spoke on a panel with former senior Trump administration lawyer Mark Paoletta in a 
conversation titled “Battling the Deep State” at a Trump-ally event near Mar-a-Lago.332 Patel 
told the group of Trump donors and allies that the national security and intelligence community 
were “malevolently corrupt” and “had deliberately withheld important national security 
information from Trump.”333 Patel recounted how he had advised the former president “to fire 
senior officials in the Justice Department and he lamented the appointments of Deputy Attorney 
General Rod Rosenstein and FBI director Christopher Wray.”334 According to Axios, “Patel’s 
message to the audience was that things would be different next time. A source in the room said 
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later the takeaway from the session was that if Trump took office in 2025, he would target 
agencies that conservatives have not traditionally viewed as adversarial.” 335 

In May 2022, Patel published a children's book entitled The Plot Against the King, which 
“perpetuates the false claim the Steele dossier sparked investigations into Russian collusion.”336 
The story, written by Patel, follows “King Donald” and “Hillary Queenton” and provides “a 
revisionist account of the probe that dogged the first two years of the Trump presidency and 
eventually led to a special counsel investigation.”337  

Former President Trump named Patel as one of his representatives to the National 
Archives and Records Administration (NARA) in June 2022.338 According to a statement by 
Trump spokesperson Liz Harrington, Patel’s mission is “to make available to the American 
people previously declassified documents that reveal a clear conspiracy to unlawfully spy on 
candidate and then President Donald J. Trump — by the FBI, DOJ, and others — the largest 
state-sponsored criminality in American history.”339 This is an apparent reference to the 
“Spygate” conspiracy theory promulgated by Trump in an effort to discredit the Mueller 
investigation.340 The Spygate conspiracy theory has itself been widely discredited, and Special 
Counsel John Durham, who has reportedly been investigating it, is now winding down his office 
without finding any evidence to support it.341 

 In August 2022, Patel identified himself on Truth Social as the “lead Investigator for 
Russia Gate.”342  
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Committee Democrats have determined that Patel also has troubling sympathies for the 
QAnon conspiracy theory, which has been tied to multiple acts of violence, including a shooting 
at a pizza restaurant, an armed standoff with law enforcement, kidnapping, intentionally 
derailing a train, planning to attack politicians, and even murder.343  

Patel has spoken favorably of QAnon and QAnon followers. During a media appearance 
in June 2022, he stated, “Whether it’s the Qs of the world, who I agree with some of what he 
does and I disagree with some of what he does, if it allows people to gather and focus on the 
truth and the facts, I’m all for it.”344 In another interview, he said of QAnon, “There's a lot of 
good to a lot of it.”345 He also said of Q, the central figure of the QAnon conspiracy:  

He should get credit for all the things he has accomplished, because it’s hard to 
establish a movement, let’s call it that, because it’s what it is. And he’s put out so 
many names, you know, not just mine, but he’s put out so many great American 
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figures who have been out there pounding – like the Johnny Ratcliffes of the 
world, the Whitakers, the Grenells, all these folks that were in the Trump 
administration that people barely knew about, they know because in large part 
because he was able to put out their work.346  

On GraceTimeTV with Mary Grace, Patel said of QAnon supporters, “[W]e're just blown away 
at the amount of acumen some of these people have.” He also said, “And if it's Q or whatever 
movement that's getting that information out, I am all for it, every day of the week.”347 

Patel, who sat on the board of Trump Media and Technology Group, the parent company 
of the social media platform Truth Social, from April 2022, until at least June 8, 2022,348 has 
said that Truth Social has tried to incorporate QAnon into the company’s “overall messaging 
scheme to capture audiences because whoever that person is has certainly captured a widespread 
breadth of the MAGA and the America First movement” and because “you can’t ignore that 
group of people that has such a strong dominant following.”349 On Truth Social, Patel has 
regularly interacted with an account with the handle “@Q,” which users believe may be linked to 
the QAnon central figure. This includes Patel posting that he was “having a beer with @Q,” and 
the @Q account posting about hanging out with “@Kash.”350 The @Q account even posted a 
signed copy of Patel’s children’s book with the dedication “To Q.”351 

Similarly, the Truth Social account for the Patel’s children’s book has posted 
photographs of Patel signing copies of his book with “a special message in 10 books for some 
lucky patriots.”352 The accompanying photograph shows that Patel’s “special message” read, 
“WWG1WGA!” underlined multiple times.353 “WWG1WGA” is commonly used by those 
associated with the QAnon conspiracy theory to mean, “Where we go one, we go all.”354 In 
defending his use of the phrase, Patel said:  

And people keep asking me about all this Q stuff. I’m like, what does it matter? 
What I'm telling you is there is truth in a lot of things that many people say, and 
what I'm putting out there is the truth. And how about we have some fun along the 

 
346 Id. 
347 Media Matters Staff, Trump official Kash Patel says he and Trump are “blown away” by the “acumen” of some 
QAnon supporters, MEDIA MATTERS (Sep. 28, 2022), https://www.mediamatters.org/qanon-conspiracy-
theory/trump-official-kash-patel-says-he-and-trump-are-blown-away-acumen-some. 
348 Matthew Goldstein, Trump Media adds former Devin Nunes aides, Donald Jr. and ‘Apprentice’ contestant as 
officers, N.Y. TIMES (Apr. 25, 2022), https://www.nytimes.com/2022/04/25/business/trump-media-truth-social.html; 
Chris Anderson, Exclusive: Trump left Sarasota media company weeks before federal subpoenas were issued, 
SARASOTA HERALD-TRIB. (Jul. 7, 2022), https://www.heraldtribune.com/story/news/2022/07/07/trump-leaves-boar, 
d-social-media-company-florida-federal-investigation/7828534001/. 
349 Alex Kaplan, How Devin Nunes and Kash Patel appealed to QAnon extremists to build Truth Social’s user base, 
MEDIA MATTERS (Aug. 1, 2022), https://www.mediamatters.org/truth-social/how-devin-nunes-and-kash-patel-
appealed-qanon-extremists-build-truth-socials-user-base. 
350 Id. 
351 @Q, TRUTH SOCIAL (Jun. 14, 2022, 12:23 PM), https://truthsocial.com/users/q/statuses/108476746478555731. 
352 Mary Papenfuss, Trump Loyalist Kash Patel Touts QAnon Greeting In His 'King Donald' Children's Book, 
HUFFPOST (Sep. 25, 2022), https://www.huffpost.com/entry/kash-patel-trump-qanon-kids-book-plot-against-
king_n_632fc90ee4b0e2478903b814. 
353 Id. 
354 Id. 
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way? There's so many people who subscribe to the “where we go one, we go one 
all” mantra. And what's wrong with it?355  

He continued, “But let’s have fun with the truth.”356 

B. Patel Views the Weaponization Committee as a Tool to Destroy the “Deep 
State” 

In recent months, Patel has suggested that the Weaponization Committee may be the 
means to destroy the “Deep State.” On December 22, 2022, he posted, “LFG,” an abbreviation 
for “Let’s [expletive] Go,” in response to a story about the Committee’s anticipated 
investigations.357 

 
 

On January 25, 2023, Patel wrote an opinion column in the Daily Caller.358 The next 
day—just as the Committee’s investigation was getting underway—he posted the article on 
Truth Social, commenting, “We can and will destroy the Deep State and 

 
355 Media Matters Staff, Trump official Kash Patel defends signing book with QAnon slogan, MEDIA MATTERS (Sep. 
27, 2022), https://www.mediamatters.org/qanon-conspiracy-theory/trump-official-kash-patel-defends-signing-book-
qanon-slogan. 
356 Id. 
357 Truth Social Post, @Kash, Dec. 22, 2022, 12:56 p.m. 
https://truthsocial.com/@Kash/posts/109558616190328922. 
358 Kash Patel, Kash Patel: Hunter Biden’s Access To Classified Docs Should Concern Everyone. Here’s How We 
Get To The Bottom Of It, DAILY CALLER (Jan. 25, 2023), https://dailycaller.com/2023/01/25/kash-patel-hunter-
biden-joe-biden-classified-documents-robert-hur/. 
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#GovernmentGangsters.”359 In the article, he called for the “newly formed House Committee on 
the Weaponization of the Federal Government” to “subpoena critical documents from the FBI… 
so the world can see the actions of all the government gangsters involved in this cover-up.”360 

 
 

On February 7, Patel reposted a Truth Social post from Donald Trump reading, 
“Republicans in Congress must investigate the abusive Weaponization of the FBI and 
Department of Injustice against the Democrats number one political opponent, ME (leading BIG 
in every Poll!), which has been going on for a long time, and is absolutely outrageous. Don’t be 
afraid of the Marxists and Thugs. We must MAKE AMERICA GREAT AGAIN!!!”361 

On February 10 – the day after the Select Subcommittee’s first hearing – Patel posted, 
“Rockets fired by the Weaponization Committee… now make sure they hit the damn targets. 

 
359 Kash Patel (@Kash), TRUTH SOCIAL (Jan. 26, 2023, 5:26 PM), 
https://truthsocial.com/@Kash/posts/109757857821434055. 
360 Kash Patel, Kash Patel: Hunter Biden’s Access To Classified Docs Should Concern Everyone. Here’s How We 
Get To The Bottom Of It, DAILY CALLER (Jan. 25, 2023), https://dailycaller.com/2023/01/25/kash-patel-hunter-
biden-joe-biden-classified-documents-robert-hur/. 
361 Donald J. Trump (@realDonaldTrump), TRUTH SOCIAL (Feb. 7, 2023, 6:47 PM), 
https://truthsocial.com/@realDonaldTrump/posts/109823292143955862. 
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Turn ON the subpoena machine NOW.”362 Five days after Patel’s post, Judiciary Committee 
Republicans issued subpoenas to Apple, Amazon, Alphabet, Meta and Microsoft.363 

 
 

On February 13 – two days before Friend testified before the Committee – Patel posted, 
“The FBI is not a joke, it’s a political machine, an offshoot of the DNC.364 

 
And on February 17, on his weekly EpochTV show, Patel described in extensive detail 

the steps that Committee Republicans should take to “set the trap” using subpoenas.365 Patel said 
of this trap, “It’s kind of what we [Republicans] did in Russiagate,” to ensnare the FBI and 

 
362 Kash Patel (@Kash), TRUTH SOCIAL (Feb. 10, 2023, 12:32 PM), 
https://truthsocial.com/@Kash/posts/109841636912748890. 
363 Rachel Lerman, As GOP plays up censorship allegations, House subpoenas Big Tech CEOs, WASH. POST (Feb. 
15, 2023), https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2023/02/15/house-republican-subpoena-big-tech/. 
364 Kash Patel (@Kash), TRUTH SOCIAL (Feb. 13, 2023, 9:00 AM), 
https://truthsocial.com/@Kash/posts/109857788097626810. 
365 Kash Patel and Jan Jekielek, Kash Patel: Here’s How Jim Jordan Can Set a Trap to Expose Collusion Between 
Big Tech and Intelligence Agencies, EPOCHTV (Feb. 17, 2023), https://www.theepochtimes.com/kash-patel-heres-
how-jim-jordan-can-set-trap-to-expose-collusion-between-big-tech-and-intelligence-agencies_5065846.html. 
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Department of Justice.366 He urged the Committee to pursue both testimonial and documentary 
subpoenas, saying, “It’s an extensive process, Jan. This is the first step. We’ll see if this 
committee’s willing to take the next two to three steps we have just outlined here.”367 

C. Patel Has Provided Support and Publicity to Both Garret O’Boyle and 
Stephen Friend and Has Suggested That They Can Play a Key Role in 
Helping to Take Down the FBI  

In a January 30 Truth Social Post, Patel detailed the spending of his Fight With Kash 
organization, which including providing financial support to “whistle blowers,” “J6 families,” 
“those maligned by fake news media,” and others.368 

 
 

During their interviews, Garret O’Boyle and Stephen Friend both confirmed that they had 
received money from Patel.369 Committee Democrats have determined that Patel’s support for 
them extends beyond that to helping them secure legal counsel and promoting them and their 
causes.370  

 
366 Id. 
367 Id. 
368 Kash Patel (@Kash), TRUTH SOCIAL (Jan. 30, 2023, 2:00 PM), 
https://truthsocial.com/@Kash/posts/109779696419329570. 
369 Garret O’Boyle Testimony at 144-45; Stephen Friend Testimony at 77. 
370 Garret O’Boyle Testimony at 145; Stephen Friend Testimony at 78. 
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a) O’Boyle Initially Attempted to Conceal His Connection to 
Patel, Who Provided Him With Funding And Connected Him 
With Attorney Jesse Binnall 

During his interview, O’Boyle repeatedly described the difficult financial situation he is 
in because of his suspension from the FBI.371 Because of this, Democratic staff questioned how 
he was paying his attorney: 

Q How are you – are you paying your attorney?  

A I have a nonprofit that's paying for my legal fees.  

Q Okay. What nonprofit is that?  

A It's called Fight With Kash.  

Q Okay. How did you find out about them?  

A Another whistleblower.  

Q Okay. Who owns Fight for Kash, or who runs Fight for Kash, if you 
know?  

A I guess I don't know if it's ran by a board or an owner or –  

Q Do you know what other – what other type of claims, or what other type of 
– what other type of individuals they might be providing resources to?  

A I don't.372  

Democratic Committee staff later clarified: 

Q You said it was Fight With Kash. Is that right?  

A Correct. 

Q How do you spell Kash?  

A K-a-s-h.  

Q And do you know who – who is Kash?  

A Kash Patel.  

Q Okay. Do you know Kash Patel?  

A I've spoken with him once or twice.  

Q And what has the content of your conversations with the Kash Patel been?  

A He asked me how he could help. So I told him a little bit of my situation. 
And he said that he thinks he could get the nonprofit to help.  

 
371 See, e.g., Garret O’Boyle Testimony at 62. 
372 Garret O’Boyle Testimony at 125. 
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Q When did you speak with Mr. Patel?  

A I think in November. Maybe December.  

Q Okay. How did you learn about Kash Patel? Or, I'm sorry, did you reach 
out to him, or did he reach out to you?  

A I don't recall. I think another whistleblower told me he was expecting my 
call or that – I don't recall exactly if I was given his number or if he was 
given mine.  

Q Okay. And you said you may have learned about him from another 
whistleblower?  

A Correct.  

Q Okay. And you told him – and so in November you spoke with him and 
you told him about your allegations?  

A Yeah. I'm not sure exactly when. Late November, sometime in December. 
Somewhere in there.  

Q And you said that he said he thought he could help.  

A Correct.  

Q What did you understand that to mean? …  

A …My understanding was that his nonprofit would try to help me. 

Q Help you in what way?  

A With legal counsel. And his nonprofit sent me and my family some money 
from the nonprofit. So in those ways. 

Q Did his nonprofit or did Kash Patel himself refer you to your legal 
counsel?  

A They did help with that, yeah.373 

 At the end of the interview, O’Boyle’s attorney, Jesse Binnall, stated, “And, finally, 
although Mr. O’Boyle was not aware of this directly, his representation by counsel is actually not 
being paid by anybody because it’s pro bono.”374 

Committee Democrats observe that O’Boyle’s own testimony concerning his interactions 
with Kash Patel undercuts Binnall’s apparent attempt to distance himself and his client from 
Patel. Committee Democrats note further that as recently as February 12—two days after 

 
373 Id. at 143-45. 
374 Garret O’Boyle Testimony at 157. 
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O’Boyle testified—Patel praised Binnall on Truth Social, calling him “Americas lawyer.”375 
Binnall and Patel appear to operate out of the same Alexandria, VA, office building.376  

 
b) Kash Patel Gave Stephen Friend Money, Promoted His Book, 

and Secured Employment for Him 

In contrast to O’Boyle, Stephen Friend proudly admitted that Kash Patel gifted him 
$5,000 “immediately” after the two first connected.377 But Patel did not just provide Friend with 
funding—he also connected him with the Center for Renewing America, the organization which 
now employs Friend: 

Q Have you received money from any other fundraising or other source not 
online?  

A Kash Patel's organization gifted me $5,000.  

Q Okay. Who is Kash Patel?  

A He is a former government representative and now runs an outside 
organization.  

Q …Have you spoken with Kash Patel?  

A Yes.  

Q How many times?  

A He called me originally and offered to gift me the money through his 
organization. And then he talked to me as a follow-up for trying to get me 

 
375 Kash Patel (@Kash), TRUTH SOCIAL (Feb. 12, 2023, 9:20 PM), 
https://truthsocial.com/@Kash/posts/109855035950406671. 
376 See Jesse R. Binnall, BINNALL LAW GROUP, https://www.binnall.com/our-team/jesse-r-binnall/ (last visited Feb. 
28, 2023); Contact, FIGHT WITH KASH, https://www.fightwithkash.com/contact (last visited Feb. 28, 2023). The IRS 
determination letter to the Kash Foundation Inc is addressed to the office listed on Binnall’s website. 
377 Stephen Friend Testimony at 78. 
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in touch with the Center for Renewing America. And then exchanged like 
text messages or something like that as an acquaintance.  

Q And you said he initially contacted you?  

A Yes.  

Q When was that?  

A That was, I believe, before -- somewhere around Thanksgiving. I know I 
was visiting family because I had to pull away from the dinner table to 
answer his call.  

Q Okay. And when did it come about that he gifted you $5,000?  

A He immediately did. So it was in the mail within a week, and I received it 
at the end – so in November, I believe, of 2022.  

Q And when he reached out to you in November, did he indicate how he had 
learned about you, how he got your information?  

A Well, he's, I know, in touch with Kyle, and Kyle told him about my 
situation. So that's who shared my contact information to Kash, was 
Kyle.378  

Patel’s financial support for Friend came roughly three weeks before Friend posted, “FBI 
is trying to ‘fix the glitch’ by stalling for time and hoping to bleed legitimate whistleblowers 
white until we just resign. They didn’t plan on guys like @kyleseraphin and me having the 
financial IQ and means to last.”379 Committee Democrats understand this to mean that Friend is 
praising his own financial planning skills, which may have been supported by an alternate source 
of income that would allow him to continue pursuing baseless claims while suspended from the 
FBI. 

 
 

 
378 Id. at 77-78. “Kyle” refers to Kyle Seraphin, another suspended FBI agent. 
379 Steve Friend (@Real_SteveFriend), TRUTH SOCIAL (Dec. 16, 2022, 11:06 PM), 
https://truthsocial.com/@Real_SteveFriend/posts/109527040842556949. 
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Patel also helped to ensure that Friend was able to testify before the Committee. On 
January 24, Patel reposted a Truth Social post from Kyle Seraphin criticizing Committee 
Republicans for refusing to pay for a witness’ transportation to Washington D.C. for his 
transcribed interview.380  

 
It appears that Patel’s advocacy was effective: during Stephen Friend’s interview, Committee 
Republicans acknowledged paying for Friend’s transportation and lodging.381 

Patel has also played an active role in helping to promote Friend’s story. Notably, while 
Friend indicated that the two first connected in November 2022, Patel actually discussed Friend’s 
allegations against the FBI in a livestream episode of his weekly show, Kash’s Corner, on 
EpochTV, the Epoch Times’s video streaming platform, two months prior to that.382  

Patel regularly reposts Friend’s Truth Social posts, such as a January 9 one suggesting 
that “the FBI 7th Floor” – an apparent reference to the seventh floor of FBI headquarters, which 
contains FBI leadership offices – “is nervous @JimJordan, @repandybiggsaz, @ThomasMassie, 
@RepMattGaetz are about to expose some snakes in the grass…”383 Patel reposted this, adding, 
“Couldn’t agree more… maybe ill jump into the fight too.”384 

 

 
380 Kyle Seraphin (@kyleseraphin), TRUTH SOCIAL (Jan. 24, 2023, 2:44 PM), 
https://truthsocial.com/@kyleseraphin/posts/109745897007691544. 
381 Stephen Friend Testimony at 73-74. 
382 Kash Patel and Jan Jekielek, Kash’s Corner: FBI Whistleblower Goes Public; Nord Stream Pipeline Explosions; 
‘CHS Corruption Cover Up Network’, EPOCHTV (Sep. 30, 2022), https://www.theepochtimes.com/live-kashs-
corner-fbi-whistleblower-goes-public-nord-stream-pipeline-explosions-chs-corruption-cover-up-
network_4764029.html. 
383 Steve Friend (@Real_SteveFriend), TRUTH SOCIAL (Jan. 9, 2023, 2:20 PM), 
https://truthsocial.com/@Real_SteveFriend/posts/109660868019707923. 
384 Kash Patel (@Kash), TRUTH SOCIAL (Jan. 9, 2023, 2:25 PM), 
https://truthsocial.com/@Kash/posts/109660885067083134. 
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On January 31, 2023, Patel urged his Truth Social followers—more than 820,000 as of February 
28, 2023—to order Friend’s book: “A must buy, Steve unleashes the truth n exposes FBI 
corruption. Order now.”385 

 

 
385 Kash Patel (@Kash), TRUTH SOCIAL (Jan. 31, 2023, 11:40 AM), 
https://truthsocial.com/@Kash/posts/109784808049917808. 
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On February 17, 2023, Patel posted a link to a Just the News interview in which Friend discussed 
his appearance before the Committee, stating, “Men like this is how we fix our FBI, thanks 
@Real_SteveFriend.”386  

And most recently, on February 26, 2023, Patel reposted a Truth Social post from Friend 
urging Fox News to ask FBI Director Christopher Wray certain questions which Friend and other 
suspended agents prepared, including questions concerning Ray Epps and pipe bomb-related 
January 6 conspiracy theories.387 

 
 Based on this evidence, Committed Democrats conclude that there is a strong likelihood 
that Kash Patel is encouraging the witnesses to continue pursuing their meritless claims, and in 
fact is using them to help propel his vendetta against the FBI, Justice Department, and Biden 
administration on behalf of himself and President Trump. He appears to see the potential for the 
Select Subcommittee to play a key role in this regard, and Committee Democrats have serious 
concerns about possible coordination between Patel and Committee Republicans. 

II. The Center for Renewing America, Which Pushed Republican Leadership to 
Establish the Weaponization Subcommittee, Appears to Exert Concerning Influence 
Over Committee Republicans 

In addition to his other activities, Patel currently serves as a Senior Fellow for National 
Security and Intelligence at the Center for Renewing America (CRA), which also recently hired 

 
386 Kash Patel (@Kash), TRUTH SOCIAL (Feb. 17, 2023, 12:47 PM), 
https://truthsocial.com/@Kash/posts/109881332035008839. 
387 Steve Friend (@Real_SteveFriend), TRUTH SOCIAL (Feb. 26, 2023, 4:22 PM), 
https://truthsocial.com/@Real_SteveFriend/posts/109933135255526894. 
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Stephen Friend as a Fellow on Domestic Intelligence and Security Services, apparently on 
Patel’s recommendation.388  

The CRA appears to be funded in large part by the Conservative Partnership Institute 
(CPI).389 Run by former Trump Chief of Staff Mark Meadows and former Sen. Jim DeMint, CPI 
has been described as a “who’s-who of Trump’s former administration and the ‘America First’ 
movement” who, among other things, “recruit, train and promote ideologically vetted staff for 
GOP offices on Capitol Hill and the next Republican administration.”390  

CPI launched CRA in 2021 to “bring cultural fights into the national spotlight, win the 
debate, and then use the resulting momentum to create policy change nationwide.”391 It has 
credited CRA for leading anti-FBI messaging and specifically for establishing the messaging 
around the words “woke” and “weaponized,” as well as for being the first entity to call on 
Republican leadership to establish the Weaponization Subcommittee.392 As CPI wrote in its 2022 
annual report: 

When the FBI raided President Trump’s home at Mar-a Lago, for example, CRA 
was already well into an effort to expose and take on the Deep State.  

Following the Mar-a-Lago raid, CRA was one of the first organizations to 
enter the national conversation and frame the event in terms of a secretive and 
powerful government that has been weaponized against American citizens. Two 
words—“woke and weaponized”—quickly became the standard for describing a 
federal government that up until now has just been “big” and “overreaching.”  

Center for Renewing America was the first to publicly call on House 
Minority Leader Kevin McCarthy to set up a modern-day Church Committee to 
investigate systemic corruption at the FBI and ultimately break it up.393  

In fact, ten days after the August 8, 2022, FBI search of Mar-a-Lago, CRA published an 
article entitled, “A Partisan, Weaponized FBI Must Be Broken Up.”394 In the article, CRA called 
for the creation of an investigatory committee and for Congress to “use its impeachment power 

 
388 Our Staff, CTR. FOR RENEWING AM. (2021), https://americarenewing.com/about/ (last visited Mar. 1, 2023); 
Stephen Friend Testimony at 78. 
389 In its 2021 IRS Form 990, CRA disclosed receiving $1,042,274 in contributions and grants. As a nonprofit, it is 
not required to disclose the sources of its funding. Jonathan Swan, A radical plan for Trump’s second term, AXIOS 
(Jul. 22, 2022), https://www.axios.com/2022/07/22/trump-2025-radical-plan-second-term. However, the 2021 IRS 
Form 990 for the Conservative Partnership Institute indicates that CPI granted $583,701 to CRA, or a little more 
than half of CRA’s total income. 
390 CPI Staff, CONSERVATIVE PARTNERSHIP INST., https://www.cpi.org/team/ (last visited Mar. 1, 2023); Jonathan 
Swan, A radical plan for Trump’s second term, AXIOS (Jul. 22, 2022), https://www.axios.com/2022/07/22/trump-
2025-radical-plan-second-term. 
391 2021 Annual Report, Where Conservatives Go to Win, CONSERVATIVE PARTNERSHIP INST. at 38 (2022), 
https://whoscounting.us/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/CPIAnnualReport.pdf; 2022 Annual Report, Building a 
Winning Conservative Culture, CONSERVATIVE PARTNERSHIP INST. at 22 (2023), https://www.cpi.org/2022-annual-
report/. 
392 2022 Annual Report, Building a Winning Conservative Culture, CONSERVATIVE PARTNERSHIP INST. at 22 (2023), 
https://www.cpi.org/2022-annual-report/. 
393 Id. 
394 A Partisan, Weaponized FBI Must Be Broken Up, CTR. FOR RENEWING AM. (Aug. 18, 2022), 
https://americarenewing.com/a-partisan-weaponized-fbi-must-be-broken-up-2/. 
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to remove Attorney General Merrick Garland and FBI Director Christopher Wray.”395 CRA 
summarized: 

The FBI’s unprecedented raid on a former president’s residence is the most recent 
and stark example of the degree to which the federal law enforcement apparatus is 
being weaponized to protect the country’s political left and to attack its political 
right. These actions reveal the need for serious action by Congress to protect the 
American people and restore self-government in this country.396 

CRA’s President, former Trump administration official Russ Vought, has embraced many 
of the themes laid out by the witnesses George Hill, Garret O’Boyle, and Stephen Friend, and 
Vought reportedly pushed Republican leadership to establish the Weaponization Subcommittee 
at the start of the 118th Congress.397 In the forward to CRA’s 2023 budget proposal for the 
federal government, entitled “A Commitment to End Woke and Weaponized Government,” 
Vought wrote,  

On the heels of this wrenching national experience is the growing awareness that 
the national security apparatus itself is arrayed against that half of the country not 
willing to bend the knee to the people, institutions, and elite worldview that make 
up the current governing regime. Instead of fulfilling their intended purpose of 
keeping the American people safe, they are hard-wired now to keep the regime in 
power. And that includes the emergence of political prisoners, a weaponized, 
SWAT-swaggering FBI, the charges of “domestic terrorism” and 
“disinformation” in relation to adversaries’ exercise of free speech, and the reality 
that the NSA is running a surveillance state behind the protective curtain of 
“national security.” The immediate threat facing the nation is the fact that the 
people no longer govern the country; instead, the government itself is increasingly 
weaponized against the people it is meant to serve.398 

 Committee Democrats find the connections between Patel, CRA, and CPI deeply 
concerning. Evidence suggests that these entities were not just a driving force for creating the 
Weaponization Subcommittee, but are actively propelling its efforts to advance baseless, biased 
claims for political purposes. This evidence seriously discredits the work done by Committee 
Republicans and casts further doubt on the reliability of the witnesses they have put forth.

 
395 Id. 
396 Id. 
397 Jeff Stein, Josh Dawsey & Isaac Arnsdorf, The former Trump aide crafting the House GOP’s debt ceiling 
playbook, WASH. POST (Feb. 19, 2023), https://www.washingtonpost.com/us-policy/2023/02/19/russ-vought-
republican-debt-ceiling-strategy/. 
398 2023 Budget Proposal, A Commitment to End Woke and Weaponized Government, CTR. FOR RENEWING AM. at 3-
4 (Dec. 7, 2022), https://americarenewing.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Budget-Center-for-Renewing-America-
FY23.pdf. 
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Appendix A: Referenced Media 

Footnote 42: According to the account header, Hill joined Twitter in August 2021, and as of 
March 1, 2023, he has tweeted or retweeted items 6,011 times. 
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Appendix A: Referenced Media 

 

Footnote 45: Geroge Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Jan. 6, 2023, 8:27 AM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1611353706070409218.  
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Appendix A: Referenced Media 

 

Footnote 47: George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Jan. 8, 2023, 4:55 PM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1612206373856493568. 
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Footnote 48: George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Jan. 19, 2023, 6:02 PM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1616209590110019585. 
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Footnote 49: George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Jan. 6, 2023, 5:44 PM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1611493962002432003. 
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Footnote 51: George Hill (@SeniorChiefEXW), TWITTER (Dec. 22, 2022, 6:16 PM), 
https://twitter.com/SeniorChiefEXW/status/1606066219987210242. 
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September 14, 2022 

 
The Honorable Christopher A. Wray 
Director 
Federal Bureau of Investigation 
935 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. 
Washington, DC 20535 
 
Dear Director Wray:  
 

On July 27, 2022, we wrote to you about whistleblower disclosures that FBI officials 
were pressuring agents to reclassify cases as “domestic violent extremism” (DVEs) even if the 
cases do not meet the criteria for such a classification.1 You have failed to acknowledge our 
letter or even begin to respond substantively. Since our letter, new publicly available information 
and additional protected whistleblower disclosures suggest the FBI’s actions are far more 
pervasive than previously known.  
 
 On August 2, 2022, a media organization obtained a copy, which new whistleblower 
disclosures have authenticated, of the FBI’s “Domestic Terrorism Symbols Guide” on “Militia 
Violent Extremists” (MVEs).2 The FBI’s document included symbols like “2A” and states that 
“MVEs justify their existence with the Second Amendment, due to the mention of a ‘well 
regulated Militia,’ as well as the right to bear arms.”3 The document also includes “commonly 
referenced historical imagery or quotes,” like the “Betsy Ross Flag” and the “Gadsden Flag,” as 
symbols of so-called terrorists.4 Additionally, the FBI document includes a section labeled 
“symbols of militia networks some MVEs may self-identify with,” and describes one group, 
called American Contingency, as “[m]ainstream media, nationwide, mostly online activity, low 
history of violence.”5 American Contingency is a company founded by former U.S. 
servicemember Mike Glover, who has publicly rejected the FBI’s accusations that he is a 

 
1 Letter from Jim Jordan, Ranking Member, H. Comm. on the Judiciary, to Christopher A. Wray, Dir., Fed. Bureau 
of Investigation (July 27, 2022). 
2 Press Release, FBI Whistleblower LEAKS Bureau’s ‘Domestic Terrorism Symbols Guide’ on ‘Militia Violent 
Extremists’ Citing Ashli Babbitt as MVE Martyr, PROJECT VERITAS (Aug. 2, 2022). The FBI document states “[t]he 
use or sharing of these symbols should not independently be considered evidence of MVE presence or affiliation or 
serve as an indicator of illegal activity, as many individuals use these symbols for their original, historic meaning, or 
other non-violent purposes.” Id. 
3 Id. 
4 Id. 
5 Id. 

159 of 315



The Honorable Christopher A. Wray 
September 14, 2022 
Page 2 
 

terrorist and has described American Contingency’s charitable work on behalf of communities 
devastated by natural disasters.6  
 
 The FBI’s recent characterization of American Contingency as a DVE organization is 
striking in light of new whistleblower disclosures that show that the FBI had concluded as 
recently as 2020 that the group was not a threat. According to whistleblower information, in July 
2020, an FBI employee in northern Virginia flagged American Contingency as a “domestic 
terrorist group” because Glover “appears to be rallying individuals to ‘take action’” and “speaks 
about his distaste for how the government is handling the current situations in the US and 
encourages people to ‘join’ his cause.” Notes made in the FBI’s e-Guardian incident reporting 
system, reflected below, show how the FBI rifled through Glover’s life—obtaining his military 
records, his veteran’s disability rating, and even his monthly disability benefit—before 
concluding that American Contingency “desires to assist Americans in preparing themselves for 
catastrophic events and not to overthrow the United States Government. A background 
investigation and review of Glover’s social media failed to support the allegation that Glover is a 
threat to the United States or its citizens.”  
 

 
 

This whistleblower information suggests that the FBI opened an investigation into an 
American citizen—and deemed him a potential “threat”—simply because he exercised his First 
Amendment right to speak out in protest of the government. As the whistleblower commented:  
 

It doesn’t take a First Amendment scholar to realize what is protected speech and 
what isn’t . . . . It seems clear that this is an instance where an FBI employee 
reported something because it didn’t align with their own woke ideology. . . . I 
think this is a primary example of how woke and corrupt the FBI has become. 

 
Even after the FBI determined in 2020 that American Contingency was not a threat, the FBI still 
labeled the group as a violent extremist group in an official FBI alert. This disclosure comports 
with other whistleblowers who have described how the FBI is pressuring its employees to 

 
6 American Contingency, https://www.americancontingency.com/ (last accessed Aug. 18, 2022). The FieldCraft 
Survival Channel, I am NOT a terrorist, YouTube (Aug. 4, 2022), 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=p4JBDcN7YFo. See also American Contingency, How We Got Here, 
https://www.americancontingency.com/how-we-got-here/ (last visited Aug. 18, 2022). 
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The Honorable Christopher A. Wray 
September 14, 2022 
Page 3 
 

recharacterize cases as DVE cases to artificially pad its data and advance a misleading political 
narrative. 

 
This whistleblower information further reinforces our concerns—about which we have 

written to you several times—about the FBI’s politicization. One whistleblower described the 
level of politicization within the FBI’s leadership as “rotted at its core.” As we have detailed, 
multiple whistleblowers have disclosed how the Biden FBI is conducting a “purge” of FBI 
employees holding conservative views. You have ignored these concerns and instead suggested 
the FBI is above any criticism or accountability.7 The front-line men and women of the FBI—
many of whom have come forward as whistleblowers—deserve our respect and gratitude. But 
the FBI leadership in Washington is in desperate need of accountability and reform. 
 

To inform our ongoing oversight of the FBI, please provide the following documents and 
information: 
 

1. All documents and communications referring or relating to the FBI’s Domestic Terrorism 
Symbols Guide on Militia Violent Extremism, for the period of January 1, 2020, to the 
present; and 
 

2. A full and complete explanation as to why the FBI’s Domestic Terrorism Strategic Unit 
did not include symbols, images, phrases, events, and individuals about left-wing violent 
extremists’ group in the FBI’s Domestic Terrorism Symbols Guide. 

  
Please provide this information as soon as possible, but no later than 5:00 p.m. on 

September 28, 2022. In addition, our earlier requests made in the July 27 letter remain 
outstanding, and we once more reiterate these requests. We remind you that whistleblower 
disclosures to Congress are protected by law and that we will not tolerate any effort to retaliate 
against whistleblowers for their disclosures.   
 

Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Jim Jordan  
Ranking Member  
 

cc: The Honorable Jerrold L. Nadler, Chairman   
 
 
 

 

 
7 Email from the Hon. Christopher A Wray, Dir., Fed. Bureau of Investigation (Aug. 11, 2022 2:26 PM). (“There 
has been a lot of commentary about the FBI this week questioning our work and motives. Much of it is from critics 
and pundits on the outside who don’t know what we know and don’t see what we see.”). 
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Declaration of Stephen M. Friend

I, Stephen i. Friend, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1746, hereby
declares as follows:

1. I am a person over eighteen: (18) years of age and
competent to testify. Upon my belief and information, I make
this Declaration on personal knowledge and in support of my
complaint of reprisal and disclosure to the Office of Special
Counsel, and against the Federal Bureau of Investigation
(hereinafter the “FBI").

2. I am an FBI Special Agent currently on suspension. I
graduated from the University of Notre Dame in 2007 and was
employed as an accountant in private practice between 2007 and
2008. In 2009 I was sworn in as a Peace Officer for the
savannah Chatham Metro Police Department in Savannah Chatham
Georgia. I served as a Peace Officer for said Department until
2012 when I joined my father’s accounting firm for one year. In
2013 T joined the Pooler Police Department in Pooler Georgia as
a Peace Officer until 2014.

3. On June 14, 2014, I joined the FBI as a new agent
trainee. Following my graduation from Quantico’s New Agent
Academy I was posted to the FBI's Omaha Division/Sioux City
Resident Agency tasked with investigating violent crimes and
major offenses occurring in Indian Country. I was also a member
of the FBI's Omaha SWAT Team. While in that posting I also
served as an acting Special Supervisory Special Agent.

4. In June of 2021 I was transferred to the FBI's
Jacksonville Florida Field Office/Daytona Beach Residency Agency
2s a Special Agent tasked with investigating child exploitation
and human trafficking. In October of 2021, an Assistant Special
Agent in Chazge (ASAC) informed my supervisor that I was
reassigned as a member of the Joint Terrorism Task Force
(hereinafter “JITF) and directed to concentrate my time towards
domestic terrorism investigations. The ASAC communicated that
the reassignment was necessary due to the voluminous number of
36 investigations and rising threats of “domestic violent
extremism.”

5. I was also told that child sexual abuse material
investigations were no longer an FBI priority and should be
referred to local law enforcement agencies. Prior to the
incidents described below I received exemplary performance
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reviews and numerous awards throughout my eight-year FBI career.
Most recently, in July of 2022 the FBI conferred me with an "On-
The-Spot” financial award.

6. My concerns are as follows: Stephen I. Friend, made a
disclosure, of which an acting responsible official had
knowledge, after which I was subjected to an adverse action.

7. As background information, full investigation casefiles
within the FBI are labeled in three sections. The first section
denotes the nature of the criminal offense. The second section
identifies the FBI Field Office with responsibility for
investigating. The third section is a unique case number
populated by the FBI's SENTINEL case management system and
attributable to the investigation. Additionally, if the
investigating Case Agent requires assistance from another field
office (i.e., interviewing a subject or witness who resides out
of the Case Agent's geographical area of responsibility),
investigative policy guides the Case Agent to “cut a lead” to
Special Agents in another Field Office requesting that they take
certain investigalive action to assist the Case Agent. The
“lead” facilitates timely investigation without forcing the Case
Agent to engage in costly and time-consuming travel to areas
beyond his area of responsibility.

+ Dpomestic Investigations and Operations Guide (DIOG)
Appendix J: (U) Case File Management and Indexing .

* 9.1.2 (U) Investigative Leads and Lead Office (LO)
(0//FOU0) Leads are sent by EC, or a Lead Request
document, to offices and assigned to
individuals/organizations in order to aid
investigations. When the 00 sets a lead to another
office, that office is considered a Lead Office (LO).
(U//FOV0) There are only two types of investigative
leads: “Action Required” and “Information Only.”

* 3.1.2.1 (0) Action Required Lead
(U//EOU0) An action required lead must be used if the
sending office requires the receiving LO to take some
type of investigative action.
(U//FOU0) An action required lead may only be set out
of an open investigative file, including an:

A) (U) Assessment file;
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B) (U) Predicated investigation file:
C) (U) Pending inactive investigation file; or
D) (U) Unaddressed work file.

8. Accordingly, investigations stemming from the January
6, 2021, Capitol Hill protest (hereinafter “J6") could be
assigned, according to Domestic Investigations and Operations
Guide (DI0G) Appendix J, to Special Agents working at the
“Office of Origin (00).” Per DIOG guidance, Washington D.C.
Field Office (WD) is a logical OO because WEO's area of
responsibility includes Washington D.C. If deemed the
appropriate 00, any investigations or assessments opened by WFO
would be marked with the second section casefile label of “WE.”
Should investigative actions be necessary outside of Washington
D.C., the WFO Case Agent should “cut a lead” to che appropriate
FBI Field Office. In the event that an alternative FBI Field
Office assumed the role as 00 (i.e., because a subject resides
in the 00's area of responsibility) any investigations or
assessment opened would be marked with the second section
casefile label attributable to that Field Office (i.e., “DL for
FBI Dallas). Should investigative actions be necessary outside
of the 00's area of the responsibility, the Case Agent should
“cut a lead” to the appropriate FBI Field Office. Regardless of
the particular 00 and according to DIOG Appendix J, the assigned
Case Agent assumes management responsibilities for all aspects
of the assessment or investigation.

* Domestic Investigations and Operations Guide (DIOG)
Appendix J: () Case File Management and Indexing.

© 3.1 (U) Investigative File Management
© 0.1.1 (U) Office of Origin (00)
© (U/FOU0) Generally the Office of Origin (00) is

determined by:
R) (U//FOV0) The residence, location or destination of

the subject of the investigation;
BJ (U//FOUO) The office in which the complaint is first

received;
C) (U//FOU0) The office designated by FBIHQ as 00 in any

investigation.

* Domestic Investigations and Operations Guide (DIOG)Appendix J: (U) Case File Management and Indexing
© 7.1 (U) Investigative File Management
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© 3.1.3 (U) Office of Origin’s (00) Supervision of Cases
(U//E000) The 00 is responsible for proper supervision
of Assessments and investigations in its oun territory
and being conducted in a 10. The FBI employee,
usually an FBI Special Agent, to whom an investigation
is assigned, is often referred to as the “Case Agent.”
An FDI employee is personally responsible for ensuring
all logical investigation is initiated without undue
delay, whether the employee is assigned in the 00 ox
in a 10; this includes setting forth Action Required
or Information Only leads as appropriate for other
offices or other FBI employees in his/her oun office.
The 00 Case Agent has overall responsibility for
supervision of the investigation.

The FBI is following an atypical procedure. J6 task force
members in Washington D.C. identify potential subjects and
possible locations where these individuals reside. The task
force disseminates information packets to Field Offices around
the country. If an assessment or investigation is opened for a
J subject, the recipient Field Offices become the official 00.
However, while Special Agents and Task Force Officers in these
Field Offices are assigned the role of “Case Agent,” the J6' task
force effectively manages the cases and performs the bulk of
investigative work. The Case Agents perform investigative
actions at the direction of the J6 task force. The J6 task
force has the preeminent role for presenting J6 cases to the
United States Attorney's Office for prosecution.

5. In October of 2021, I was assigned to J6 cases on
behalf of Special Agents working in Washington D.C. On these
occasions, the J6 Task Force members disseminated information to
ny office with instructions to perform logical investigative
actions (such as surveillance or subject interviews). Members
of the Daytona Beach Resident Agency (DBRA) Joint Terrorism Task
Force (JTTF) completed and documented these tasks. Later, J6
Task Force members in Washington D.C. reviewed the work and
requested additional investigative actions be performed or
pressured members of my local JITE to open full investigations.
The J6 Task Force members assured the JITF that once the case
was opened, they would perform future investigative work and
paperiork for the casefile. In accordance supervisor roles and
responsibilities outlined in the DIOG, the J6 Task Force
supexvisors approved this work before it was submitted to the
casefile. Resultantly, there are active criminal investigations
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of J6 subjects in which I am listed as the “Case Agent,” but
have not done any investigative work. Additionally, my
supervisor has not approved any paperwork within the file. J6
Task Force members are serving as Affiants on search and arrest
warrant affidavits for subjects whom I have never investigated
or even interviewed but am listed as a “Case Agent.” The J6
Task Force tasked the DBRA JTTF with executing these warrants.

* Domestic Investigations and Operations Guide (DIOG) 3.5 (U)
Supervisor Roles and Responsibilities

* 3.5.2.1 (U) Approval/Review of Investigative or Collection
Activities

(U//FOV0) Anyone in a supervisory role who
approves/reviews investigative or collection activity
must determine whether the standards for opening,
approving, conducting, and closing an investigative
activity, collection activity or investigative
method, as provided in the DIOG, have been satisfied.
(0//F0U0) Only FBI supervisory employees and
representatives from other government agencies (OGR)
assigned to the FBI under the Joint Duty Assignment
Program or the Intergovernmental Personnel Act as
supervisors (as defined in DIOG subsection 3.5.1) may
approve the serialization of investigative records
into Sentinel. Additionally, whenever an OGA
supervisor (as described above) approves an
investigative record, an FBI supervisor must also
approve the record into Sentinel. An OGA supervisor
may not approve investigative methods (i.e., DIOG
Section 18 methods) or investigative aclivilies
(e.g., UDP and OTA).

* Domestic Investigations and Operations Guide (DIOG)
Appendix J: (U) Case File Management and Indexing

© 3.1 (U) Investigative File Management
3.1.3 (U) Office of Origin’s (00) Supervision of Cases
(0//£000) The 00 is responsible for proper supervision
of Assessments and investigations in its oun territory
and being conducted in a 10. The FBI employee,
usually an FBI Special Agent, to whom an investigation
is assigned, is often referred to as the “Case Agent.”
An £81 employee 1s personally responsible for ensuring
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all logical investigation is initiated without undue
delay, whether the employee is assigned in the 00 or
in a L0; this includes setting forth Action Required
or Information Only leads as appropriate for other
offices or other FBI employees in his/her own office.
The 00 Case Agent has overall responsibility for
supervision of the investigation.

10. During the week of August 15, 2022, I became aware of
imminent arrests of J6 subjects and searches of their respective
residences within the FBI's Jacksonville and Tampa Field Office
areas of responsibility. Simultancous takedowns were scheduled
to occur on August 24, 2022. Due to perceived threats levels, an
FBI SWAT team was enlisted to arrest one of the arrests. On
Friday, Rugust 19, 2022, I spoke with my front-line supervisor,
SSRA Greg Federico, on two separate occasions to disclose my
concerns about potential DIOG policy violations employed during
the investigative processes. SSRA Federico listened to my
concerns but emphasized that the warrants were lawful court
orders. He said that these operations were one step in the
process and that the subjects would be afforded all due process.

11. T responded that it was inappropriate to use an FB
SWAT team to arrest a subject for misdemeanor offenses and
opined that the subject would likely face extended detainment
and biased jury pools in Washington D.C. I suggested
alternatives such as the issuance of a court summons or
utilizing surveillance groups to determine an optimal, safe time
for a local sheriff deputy to contact the subjects and advise
them about the existence of the arrest warrant. SSRA Pederico
told me that FBI executive management considered all potential
alternatives and determined the SWAT takedown was the
appropriate course of action. SSRA Federico noted that I
appeared to be under stress and suggested speaking to the FBI's
employee assistance program. SSRA Federico told me that he
respected how I was standing on principle, but I was putting him
in a difficult situation because Special Agents cannot refuse to
participate in specific cases. He stated that he wished I just
“called in sick” for this warrant but his hands were tied now
that I told him that I was going to refuse to participate in any
J6 cases. Per the Office of Personnel Management, “an employee
is entitled to use sick leave for: personal medical needs,
family care or bereavement, care of a family member with a
serious health condition, and adoption-related purposes.” SSRA
Federico told me that the FBI plans to prosecute every subject

167 of 315



associated with J6 and he expected “another wave” of J6 subjects
would be referred to the Daytona Beach Resident Agency for
investigation and arrest. SSRA Federico asked how I thought the
Special Agent in Charge (SAC) of FBI Jacksonville would react to
my position. He told me that it sounded like my concerns were
with FBI leadership and the overall nature of the J6
investigations. SSRA Federico threatened reprisal indirectly by
asking how long I saw myself continuing to work for the FBI. He
asked me to reconsider my position and told me that he would
decide on his actions over the course of the weekend.

12. On August 22, 2022, I was contacted by Jacksonville's
Assistant Special Agent in Charge (RSAC) Coult Markovsky, who
requested that I attend a meeting at the FBI Jacksonville office
the following afternoon. On August 23, 2022, I met with ASAT
Markovksy and ASAC Sean Ryan. I again disclosed my concerns
about potential DLOG policy violations employed during the J6
investigative processes. I told that the irregular case
dissemination, labeling, and management processes could be
considered exculpatory evidence the must be disclosed to
defendants in accordance with the Brady rule. I expressed my
concerns about violating citizens’ Sixth Amendment rights due
overzealous charging by the DOJ and biased jury pools in
Washington D.C. I cautioned about the similarities between Ruby
Ridge, the Governor Whitmer kidnapping case, and Lhe J6
investigation. ASAC Markovsky said that I lacked perspective on
the J6 prosccutions because I was not principally involved in
the day-to-day investigations. He added that it is the FBI's job
to gather facts, but we are not responsible for determining if
an individual should be prosecuted. I countered that former BL
Director James Comey’s actions indicated Lhls was no longer an
FBI practice when he stated that “no reasonable prosecutor”
would bring charges against former Secretary of State Hillary
Clinton.

13. The ASACs asked if I believed the JG rioters committed
a crime. I responded that some of the people who entered the
Capitol committed crimes, but others were innocent. I elaborated
that T believed some innocent individuals had been unjustly
prosecuted, convicted, and sentenced. RSAC Markovsky
unironically asked if I thought that the individuals who “killed
police officers” should be prosecuted. I replied that there were
no police officers killed on January 6, 2021. ASAC Markovsky
told me that I was being a bad teammate to my colleagues. The
ASCs threatened reprisal again by warning that my refusal could
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amount to insubordination. References were made to my future
career prospects with the FBI. ASAC Ryan suggested I might want
to speak with the FBI's employee assistance program about my
emotional concerns with J6 cases. The ASACS informed me that I
could not refuse to participate if FBI leadership was
comfortable that an operation is Constitutional, within FBT
guidelines, and did not present an unnecessary risk to my
safety.

14. I responded by again disclosing that the facts and
concerns I presented demonstrated how the J6 investigations
violate all three elements. I told them that I would not
participate in any of these operations. At the conclusion of the
mecting, the ASACs opined that they did not know how they would
proceed with me from a disciplinary perspective. They emphasized
that any punitive action would be a slow process. However, four
hours later ASAC Merkovsky emailed me the following act of
reprisal: “After multiple conversations with SSRA Greg Federico
and our continued conversations today with myself and ASAC Ryan,
you continue to refuse to participate in an FBI mission to serve
2 lawful court order issued by a Federal Judge. You are not to
report to the Daytona Beach RA tomorrow, Dugust 24, 2022, and
you will be placed on AWOL (Absent Without Leave) status. AWOL
in itself is not disciplinary, but can lead to disciplinary
charges, such as removal.” ASAC Markovksy and ASAC Ryan stated
that all the details of our meeting were Unclassified.

15. On September 1, 2022, I met with FBI Jacksonville
Special Agent in Charge ISAC) Sherry Onks. SAC Onks told me that
I had a reputation as a good Special Agent and expressed
disappointment with my refusal to participate in the January 6th
investigations. SAC Onks suggested that I do “some soul
searching” and decide if I wanted to work for the FBI. SAC Onks
said that it “sounded like I lost faith in the F31 and its
leadership.” SAC Onks stated that the J6 investigations were all
legal, ethical, and in accordance with FBI procedure. She said
that my refusal to participate in the cases meant that I did not
trust my colleagues’ work and indicated that I believed the
Special Agents working on J6 were coopted into behaving
unethically and immorally. I again disclosed by informing SAC
Onks that I believed the investigations were inconsistent with
FBI procedure and resulted in the violation of citizens’ Sixth
and Eighth Amendment rights. I added that many of my colleagues
expressed similar concerns to me but had not vocalized their
objections to FBI Executive Management. SAC Onks disagreed with
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my premise and said that my views represented an extremely small
minority of the FBI workforce. SAC Onks told me that she had
never encountered my situation during her career. She recalled
the fear she felt while sitting on the seventh floor of the J.
Edgar Hoover Building on January 6, 2021 when protestors “seized
the Capitol” and threatened the United States’ democracy. SAC
Onks reprised against me and admitted as much, when she informed
me that she referred me to the FBI's Office of Professional
Responsibility and Security Division. SAC Onks told me that the
Security Division was assessing my security clearance.

16. In addition to the atypical Originating Office
identification process for J6 cases, The process potentially
violates Case Manager and Case File Management and Indexing
policies listed in the FBI's Domestic Investigations and
Operations Guide (DIG). These potential violations include:

+ Domestic Investigations and Operations Guide (DIOG) 3.3 (U)
Special Agent/Task Force Officer (TFO)/Task Force Member
(164) /Task Force Participant (TFP)/FBI Contractor/Qthers -
Roles and Responsibilities

© 3.3.1.10 (U) Serve as Investigation (“Case”) Manager:
(0//FOUD) If assigned responsibility for an
investigation, manage all aspects of that investigation,
until it is assigned to another person. It is the case
manager's responsibility to ensure compliance with all
applicable laws, rules, regulations, and guidelines,
both investigative and administrative, from the opening
of the investigation through disposition of the
evidence, until the investigation is assigned to another
person...

« Domestic Investigations and Operations Guide (DIOG) Appendix
Ji (U) Case File Management and Indexing

© U.1 (U) investigative File Management
9.1.3 (0) Office of Origin’s (00) Supervision of Cases
(U//FOUO) The 00 is responsible for proper supervision
of Assessments and investigations in its own territory
and being conducted in a 10. The FBI employee, usually
an FBI Special Agent, to whom an investigation is
assigned, is often referred to as the “Case Agent.” An
FBI employee is personally responsible for ensuring all
logical investigation is initiated without undue delay,
whether the employee is assigned in the 00 or in a LO;
this includes setting forth Action Required or
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Information Only leads as appropriate for other offices
or other FBI employees in his/her own office. The 00

The manipulative casefile practice creates false and misleading

from an isolated incident at the Capitol on January 6, 2021, FBI

SEBR SS eySr

Jacksonville's Assistant Special Agent in Charge (ASAC) Coult

a meeting with my supervisor, ASAC, SAC, and security officer. I

confiscated, and I was escorted from the building.

port hesaat doles Soceived the Lecter
upon personal knowledge that the contents of the above statement
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January 31, 2023 
 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION: OIGFOIA@USDOJ.GOV 

Office of Inspector General 
U.S. Department of Justice 
441 G Street, N.W. 
6th Floor 
Washington, DC 20530 

 
RE:  Request for Records Relating to DOJ-OIG’s Decision Not to 

Investigate a Whistleblower Allegations of Systemic Abuses by the 
FBI  

Dear FOIA Officer: 

INTRODUCTION 
  

Empower Oversight Whistleblowers & Research (“Empower Oversight”) is a 
nonpartisan, nonprofit educational organization dedicated to enhancing independent oversight 
of government and corporate wrongdoing.  We work to help insiders safely and legally report 
waste, fraud, abuse, corruption, and misconduct to the proper authorities, and seek to hold those 
authorities accountable to act on such reports by, among other means, publishing information 
concerning the same. 
 

BACKGROUND 
 
On August 19, 2022, Steve Friend, an eight-year veteran of the Federal Bureau of 

Investigation (“FBI”) who was stationed in the Daytona Beach Resident Office, which reports to 
the Jacksonville Field Office, made protected disclosures (under 5 U.S.C. § 2303) to his 
supervisor concerning alleged violations of the Constitution, laws, and FBI policy in connection 
with the planned execution of arrest and search warrants the following week.  [Declaration of 
Steve M. Friend (“Declaration”) at ¶¶ 3, 4, and 10, attached.] 

 
His supervisor claimed to Special Agent Friend that he appeared to be under stress and 

suggested that he pursue counseling; characterized his disclosures as a refusal to participate in a 
class of cases,1 which he would have to report up the chain of command; asked Special Agent 
Friend how he reckoned the Special Agent in Charge (“SAC”) of the field office would react to his 
disclosure; and inquired how he perceived his future working for the FBI.  [Declaration at ¶¶ 10 
and 11.] 

 

 
1 Special Agent Friend never refused to participate.  Instead, he made a protected disclosure and asked to be assigned to alternative 
duties on the date of the execution of the arrest and search warrants.  Ultimately, one day before the planned execution of the arrest 
and search warrants, he was directed by FBI management not to report to duty the following day. 
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On August 22, 2022, Special Agent Friend was instructed to report to the FBI’s 
Jacksonville Field Office the following day.  [Declaration at ¶¶ 12, 13, and 14.]  As directed, on 
August 23, 2022, Special Agent Friend met with two Assistant Special Agents in Charge 
(“ASACs”) in Jacksonville.  He repeated and elaborated on the protected disclosure that he made 
the prior week to his supervisor.  Id.  The ASACs asked about his personal views on the class of 
cases in controversy; characterized him as a “bad teammate;” threatened to punish him if he 
refused to participate in the planned arrest and search warrants;2 questioned his career 
prospects in the FBI; recommended counseling; and ruminated aloud that they did not know 
how the FBI would proceed against him, given that formal discipline is a slow process.  Id.  
Approximately four hours after the meeting in Jacksonville, one of the two ASACs emailed 
Special Agent Friend, instructed him not to report for duty the next day, and notified him that 
the FBI was placing him on Absent Without Leave (“AWOL”) status on August 24, 2022, the 
date of the planned execution of the arrest and search warrants.  Additionally, the ASAC 
informed him that AWOL status could lead to disciplinary charges.  Id.  Special Agent Friend 
complied with the directive, did not report for duty pursuant to the instruction, and was 
recorded in the FBI personnel system as AWOL for that day as a result, despite having offered to 
perform other assigned duties. 

 
On September 1, 2022, Special Agent Friend met with the SAC of the Jacksonville Field 

Office.  [Declaration at ¶ 15.]  She advised Special Agent Friend that, given his heretofore good 
reputation, she was disappointed with his refusal to participate in the arrest and search warrants 
on August 24th,3 and suggested that he needed to do some “soul searching” regarding whether he 
wanted to work for the FBI; theorized that Special Agent Friend’s concerns about the class of 
cases in controversy exposed a belief that his colleagues were coopted by leadership priorities, 
which caused them to cross ethical and moral boundaries; expressed her personal support for the 
class of cases; and informed Special Agent Friend that she had referred him to the FBI’s Office of 
Professional Responsibility and its Security Division, the latter of which was assessing his 
security clearance.  Id. 

 
On the evening of September 14, 2022, an ASAC in the Jacksonville Field Office 

called him and directed him to report to the field office the next morning (September 15, 
2022) to attend a Security Awareness Briefing (“SAB”).  Because he had already 
successfully completed the FBI’s annual SAB requirement, he asked why he was being 
directed to attend a duplicative one-on-one SAB lecture.  The ASAC responded “because 
you have made different choices than other people.”  Special Agent Friend then asked 
whether he could bring a lawyer with him to the meeting.  The ASAC said he did not think 
so, but would ask and get back to him.  By the next morning the ASAC had not resolved 
the question about his attorney attending the SAB, and Special Agent Friend called in sick. 

 
On September 16, 2022, the Executive Assistant Director of the FBI’s Human Resources 

Branch informed Special Agent Friend that, as the FBI’s Security Programs Manager, she had 
suspended his security clearance.  The suspension of Special Agent Friend’s security clearance 
precludes him from entering FBI space and, thus, suspends his “authority to fulfill the duties and 
responsibilities of” his position.  As grounds for her suspension of his clearance, the Executive 
Assistant Director claimed: 
 

On 08/24/2022, you advised your supervisors of your objection to 
participating in the court authorized search and arrest of a criminal subject.  
During your communications, you espoused beliefs which demonstrate 

 
2 Again, Special Agent Friend did not refuse to participate.  He made a protected disclosure and asked to be assigned to alternative 
duties on the date of the execution of the arrest and search warrants. 
 
3 See, footnotes 1 and 2. 
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questionable judgement.4  On 09/03/2022, you entered FBI space and 
downloaded documents from FBI computer systems to an unauthorized flash 
drive and you subsequently failed to cooperate with a Security Awareness 
Briefing, demonstrating an unwillingness to comply with rules and regulations. 

 
The Assistant Director of the FBI’s Human Resources Branch’s suspension of Special 

Agent Friend’s security clearance halted his paycheck, achieving the exact same effect as a 
disciplinary adverse personnel action would have, but without any independent oversight or 
meaningful review. 
 

I. Special Agent Friend’s Complaint 
 
On September 21, 2022, Special Agent Friend submitted to the Department of Justice, 

Office of Inspector General (“DOJ-OIG”), a complaint that, in addition to detailing numerous 
acts of whistleblower retaliation against him, includes allegations of systemic abuses of the 
Constitution, laws, and policy by the FBI.  Specifically, Special Agent Friend’s complaint 
includes allegations of four systemic abuses by the FBI: 

 

• Evasion of case management policies to drive a false narrative supporting an FBI 
priority; 

 

• Defiance of the Department of Justice’s (“DOJ”) Use of Force policy and FBI 
policy to send a message to disfavored actors; 

 

• Retaliation against whistleblowers; and 
 

• Exploitation of security clearances to avoid due process procedures applicable to 
disciplinary proceedings. 

 
Evasion of Case Management Policies to Drive a False 
Narrative in Support of an FBI Priority 

 
On January 7, 2021, just hours after thousands of critics of the results of the 2020 

presidential election descended on the Capitol building, FBI Director Christopher Wray stated: 
 

The violence and destruction of property at the U.S. Capitol building yesterday 
showed a blatant and appalling disregard for our institutions of government and 
the orderly administration of the democratic process.  As we’ve said consistently, 
we do not tolerate violent agitators and extremists who use the guise of First 
Amendment-protected activity to incite violence and wreak havoc.  Such behavior 
betrays the values of our democracy.  Make no mistake: With our partners, we 
will hold accountable those who participated in yesterday’s siege of the Capitol. 

Let me assure the American people the FBI has deployed our full investigative 
resources and is working closely with our federal, state, and local partners to 
aggressively pursue those involved in criminal activity during the events of 
January 6.  Our agents and analysts have been hard at work through the night 
gathering evidence, sharing intelligence, and working with federal prosecutors to 
bring charges.  Members of the public can help by providing tips, information, 

 
4 Special Agent Friend did not communicate with his managers on August 24, 2022.  On that date, he complied with his ASAC’s 
direction not to report for duty, and was placed on AWOL as a result of his compliance. 
 

174 of 315



 

601 KING STREET, SUITE 200 | ALEXANDRIA, VA  22314-3151 PAGE 4 OF 14 

and videos of illegal activity at fbi.gov/USCapitol.  We are determined to find 
those responsible and ensure justice is served.5 

Two years later, Attorney General Merrick Garland characterized the FBI’s investigation 
of the riot at the Capitol as “one of the largest, most complex, and most resource-intensive 
investigations in our history.”6  He also advised that the investigation has been and is being led 
by, the FBI’s Washington, D.C. Field Office (“WFO”), id., and had previously stated that 
prosecutors “will hold accountable anyone who is criminally responsible for attempting to 
interfere with the . . . lawful transfer of power from one administration to the next,”7 which is 
inherently not confined to participation in riot at the Capitol. 

 
Additionally, on June 15, 2021, Attorney General Garland announced the National 

Strategy for Countering Domestic Terrorism, a government-wide program designed to study, 
deter, disrupt, and prevent the full range of domestic terrorism threats.8  Introducing the 
national strategy, he explained that during President Biden’s first week in office, he directed the 
Administration to undertake an assessment of the domestic terrorism threat, and to use it to 
develop a strategy.  Id.  The assessment was completed in March of 2021, and concluded that 
domestic violent extremists “pose an elevated threat to the Homeland in 2021.” Id.  He added 
that his experience on the ground confirms the assessment, noting that the number of the FBI’s 
open domestic terrorism investigations had increased significantly during the fledgling year.  Id. 

 
The FBI defines “domestic terrorism” as activities that involve danger to human life; 

violate Federal or state criminal laws; appear to be intended to intimidate or coerce a civilian 
population, influence government, or affect the government operations; and occur primarily 
within the United States’ territory.9  The FBI continually reviews and evaluates intelligence data 
to ensure that it identifies “Domestic Violent Extremist” operating with the United States’ 
territory whose advocacy for particular ideological positions escalates to a threat of violence.  Id.  
Currently, the government focuses on threats emanating from racial or ethnic, anti-government, 
environmental, and abortion-related biases.  Id.10 

 
 According to case management and indexing procedures set forth at appendix J of the 
FBI’s Domestic Investigations and Operations Guide (“DIOG”), the “Office of Origin” (“OO”) of 
an investigative action is determined by, among various means, the residence of the subject of 
the investigation, the office that first received a complaint comprising the subject of the 

 
5 FBI, Director Wray’s Statement on Violent Activity at the U.S. Capitol Building (January 7, 2021), available at 
https://www.fbi.gov/wanted/capitol-violence?utm_medium=email&utm_source=govdelivery#Director's-Statement. 
 
6 DOJ, Attorney General Merrick B. Garland Statement on the Second Anniversary of the January 6 Attack on the Capitol (January 4, 
2023), available at https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/attorney-general-merrick-b-garland-statement-second-anniversary-january-6-
attack-capitol. 
 
7 Johnson, Kevin; Jansen, Bart, Garland Vows to Pursue Charges on ‘Anyone’ Criminally Responsible for Jan. 6 When Pressed on Trump 
(July 26, 2022), available at https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/politics/2022/07/26/merrick-garland-charges-jan-
6/10151899002/. 
 
8 DOJ, Attorney General Merrick B. Garland Remarks: Domestic Terrorism Policy Address (June 15, 2021), available at 
https://www.justice.gov/opa/speech/attorney-general-merrick-b-garland-remarks-domestic-terrorism-policy-address. 
 
9 FBI, DHS, Domestic Terrorism: Definitions, Terminology, and Methodology (Updated), available at https://www.fbi.gov/file-
repository/fbi-dhs-domestic-terrorism-definitions-terminology-methodology.pdf/view. 
 
10 During his June 15th speech, Attorney General Garland singled out racially-, ethnically-, and anti-government motivated extremists 
as posing the greatest threat to society.  See DOJ, Attorney General Merrick B. Garland Remarks: Domestic Terrorism Policy Address 
(June 15, 2021), available at https://www.justice.gov/opa/speech/attorney-general-merrick-b-garland-remarks-domestic-terrorism-
policy-address. 
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investigation, or a location designated by the FBI’s headquarters.  [Declaration at ¶ 8.]11  
Typically, a special agent within the OO is assigned responsibility for the investigation, including 
ensuring that it is conducted without delay.  Id.  If the OO develops a lead (e.g., the need to 
interview a subject or witness who resides beyond the boundaries of the OO’s geographic area of 
jurisdiction), then it should “cut a lead” to another field office which is then called the Lead 
Office (“LO”), which will assign a special agent to execute the lead on behalf of the OO.  
[Declaration at ¶ 7.] 
 

Additionally, according to the case management and indexing procedures of DIOG at 
appendix J, the OO—and the special agent it assigned—is responsible for the “proper 
supervision” of the investigation, whether such investigation is carried out within boundaries of 
the OO or at a geographically remote LO to which a lead has been sent.  [Declaration at ¶ 8.]  
Similarly, a special agent’s supervisor is responsible to ensure that “all investigative activity, 
collection activity, and use of investigative methods [by the agent] comply with the Constitution, 
Federal law,” the DIOG, and other applicable legal and policy requirements; confirm that the 
agent creates and maintains reliable and trustworthy files; and to review the agent’s investigative 
files every 90 days to verify efficiency and compliance with applicable law.  DIOG, §§ 3.4.2.4, 
3.4.2.9, and 3.4.4.1 – 3.4.4.3. 

 
Special Agent Friend explained that, deviating from the FBI’s Domestic Investigations 

and Operations Guide (“DIOG”), officials in the FBI’s Washington, D.C. Field Office (“WFO”) 
identified subjects to investigate in connection with the January 6, 2021, riot at the Capitol 
and/or interference with the transition of executive power, and sent information packets 
concerning such subjects to field offices nationwide with instructions to open investigations.  
[Declaration at ¶ 8.]12  As directed by the WFO, the recipient field offices opened investigations, 
designating themselves as the Offices of Origin (“OOs”), and assigned local special agents as the 
responsible case agents.  Id.  Thereafter, the WFO managed the cases and performed the bulk of 
the investigative work, including presenting cases to the offices of the United States Attorneys 
for prosecution.  Id.  For their part, the nominally responsible case agents assigned to the cases 
performed such functions as the WFO directed, Id., and field office supervisors effectively had 
no role in monitoring compliance with the Constitution, laws, and the DIOG, [Declaration at ¶ 
9].  WFO supervisors exercised de facto control of the cases despite documentation indicating 
that the OOs were other field offices.  Id. 

 
Not only is Special Agent Friend’s disclosure fully consistent with Attorney General 

Garland’s assertion that the WFO controls the FBI’s investigation of the January 6th riot at the 
Capitol and interference with the transition of executive power,13 it adds important context to 
the Attorney General’s assertion concerning the sharp increase in domestic terrorism cases in 
2021.14 

 
11 Unless it is an emergency and an official with approval authority is unavailable, approval for all deliberate deviations from the DIOG 
must be requested in writing addressed to an Assistant Director of the appropriate operational program and to the Office of Integrity 
and Compliance, with a notice to the General Counsel.  DIOG, § 2.7.2.  Of course, one may not deviate from the DIOG until after the 
requested approval is granted.  Id. 
 
12 FBI employees are required to report in writing all instances of substantial non-compliance with the DIOG (e.g., noncompliance that 
has the potential to adversely affect an individual’s rights or liberties, or failure to obtain supervisory approval).  DIOG, § 2.8.2.  If the 
non-compliance occurs in a field office, the writing must be routed through the Division Compliance Officer to the SAC or Assistant 
Director In Charge.  DIOG, § 2.8.3. 
 
13 See DOJ, Attorney General Merrick B. Garland Statement on the Second Anniversary of the January 6 Attack on the Capitol (January 
4, 2023), available at https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/attorney-general-merrick-b-garland-statement-second-anniversary-january-6-
attack-capitol. 
 
14 See DOJ, Attorney General Merrick B. Garland Remarks: Domestic Terrorism Policy Address (June 15, 2021), available at 
https://www.justice.gov/opa/speech/attorney-general-merrick-b-garland-remarks-domestic-terrorism-policy-address. 
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Special Agent Friend pointed out that by departing from the DOIG in this way, FBI 
headquarters and the WFO would create false and misleading crime statistics reports to 
Congress.  [Declaration at ¶ 16].  Instead of hundreds of domestic terrorism cases isolated in the 
WFO, as a consequence of events occurring on a single day, and the FBI’s extraordinary effort to 
investigate anyone remotely associated—even passively—with the riot at the Capitol on January 
6th, the FBI has disbursed the cases throughout its field offices,  Id., causing a statistical surge 
nationwide. 
 

Defiance of Use of Force Policy to Send a Message to 
Politically Disfavored Actors 

 
The DIOG notes that FBI’s law enforcement authorities are conditioned on “rigorous 

obedience to the Constitution,” and accordingly the Attorney General established a set of basic 
principles “that serve as the foundation of all FBI mission-related activities.”15  These principles 
include protecting individual rights and using “the least intrusive means that do not otherwise 
compromise FBI operations.”16  For intelligence and evidence gathering (e.g., the execution of a 
search warrant) considerations that must be balanced to ensure that the means used are the least 
intrusive means include the: 
 

• Seriousness of the crime or national security threat; 
 

• Strength and significance of the intelligence/information to be gained; 
 

• Amount of information already known about the subject or group under 
investigation; and 

 

• Requirements of operational security, including protection of sources and 
methods.17 

 
Similarly, regarding the execution of an arrest warrant, the DIOG limits the use of physical force 
to the threshold “reasonable and necessary to take custody and overcome all resistance of the 
arrestee, and to ensure the safety of the arresting agents, the arrestee and others in the vicinity of 
the arrest.”18 
 
 Effective July 19, 2022, Attorney General Garland updated the “Use-of-Force” policy 
applicable to DOJ and its sub-agencies (e.g., the FBI).19  According to the updated policy, FBI 
officials: 
 

may use only the force that is objectively reasonable to effectively gain control of 
an incident, while protecting [FBI officials] and others. . . .  Officers may use force 
only when no reasonably effective, safe, and feasible alternative appears to exist 
and may use only the level of force that a reasonable officer on the scene would use 
under the same or similar circumstances. 

 

 
15 DIOG, § 4.1.1. 
 
16 DIOG, §§ 4.1.1, 18.2. 
 
17 DIOG, § 4.4.4. 
 
18 DIOG, § 19.5.2. 
 
19 Memorandum from Attorney General Garland, Subject: Department’s Updated Use-of-Force Policy (May 20, 2022), available at 
https://www.justice.gov/ag/page/file/1507826/download#:~:text=Officers%20may%20use%20force%20only,the%20same%20or%20
%20similar%20circumstances.  
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Id.  As guidance for discerning the “reasonableness” of required force, the policy cites careful 
attention to the facts and circumstances of particular cases, the severity of the crime at issue, 
whether the subject poses an immediate threat to the safety of the arresting officer or others, and 
whether the subject resists or attempts to evade arrest.  Id. 
 
 During the week of August 15, 2022, Special Agent Friend became the aware of the FBI’s 
imminent execution of arrest and search warrants of numerous persons who resided in the 
geographic jurisdiction of the FBI’s Jacksonville and Tampa field offices and were subjects of 
investigation for participating in the January 6th riot at the Capitol and/or interfering with the 
transition of executive power.  [Declaration at ¶ 10].  The executions of the warrants were 
scheduled for August 24, 2022, and the plans of execution included the use of an FBI SWAT 
team for at least one of the arrests.  Id. 
 

On Friday, August 19, 2022, Special Agent Friend approached his supervisor in the 
Daytona Beach Resident Office, and advised him that he was concerned that the plans for the 
executions of the warrants applicable to subjects of investigations of the riot at the Capitol 
appeared to violate DOJ and FBI policies and by extension the Constitution.  [Declaration at ¶¶ 
10 and 11].  Specifically, he stated that the execution plans for the warrants threatened to 
compromise the subjects’ due process rights (i.e., overzealous charges, biased jury pools in the 
District of Columbia, and excessive pre-trial detention) and to violate the DOJ’s Use of Force and 
the FBI’s least intrusive methods policies.  [Declaration at ¶ 11].   In the latter regard, he 
believed, based on his experience, that it would be inappropriate to use FBI SWAT teams to 
arrest a subject of a misdemeanor offense, Id., someone who had previously cooperated with the 
investigation, or someone who could more safely be apprehended in another manner.  
Alternatively, he proposed that in lieu of using force to arrest subjects at their homes, the FBI or 
local law enforcement could issue court summons, as many of the subjects were represented by 
counsel and had cooperated with FBI interview requests; or the subjects could be arrested away 
from their homes as they traveled from points A to B.  Id.  His supervisor dismissed his concerns, 
by replying that the warrants were lawful court orders, [Declaration at ¶¶ 10], suggesting that his 
supervisor does not understand that DOJ/FBI policy and Constitutional standards apply to the 
application of court orders; and proceeded to retaliate against him, suggesting that he is unaware 
of statutory protections applicable to whistleblowers. 
 
  Subsequently, on August 23, 2022, and September 1, 2022, Special Agent Friend met 
with his ASACs and SAC in the Jacksonville Field Office, and repeated the concerns that he had 
discussed with his supervisor on August 19th.  [Declaration at ¶¶ 12 – 15].  Like his supervisor 
before them, the ASACs and SAC dismissed his concerns and retaliated against him.  Id. 
 
 Special Agent Friend’s concerns about the FBI violating applicable Use of Force and least 
intrusive means policies when executing warrants are not limited to the particular operation 
imminent at the time he made his protected disclosures, or even to arrests and searches of 
Capitol rioters.  Recently, the media has extensively covered the FBI’s selective use of 
unnecessarily intrusive tactics such as its use of tactical teams and equipment to arrest non-
violent subjects like Roger Stone and Mark Houck and its unprecedented search of Mar-A-
Lago.20  The selective use of such tactics to send a message of intimidation to politically 
disfavored subjects would be improper.  Thus, Special Agent Friend had a reasonable basis to 

 
20 See, e.g., Dwinell, Joe, FBI’s Roger Stone Raid Sends Chilling Message ((January 26, 2019), available at 
https://www.bostonherald.com/2019/01/26/fbis-roger-stone-raid-sends-chilling-message/; Catholic News Agency, FBI Raids Home of 
Pro-life Leader on Questionable Charges (September 23, 2022), available at https://www.catholicnewsagency.com/news/252380/fbi-
raids-home-of-pro-life-leader-on-questionable-charges; McGurn, William, Justice for Mark Houck (January 30, 2023), available at 
https://www.wsj.com/articles/justice-for-mark-houck-fbi-abortion-pro-life-planned-parenthood-face-act-not-guilty-crime-arrest-
11675113079 (Mr. Houck is a pro-life advocate who had cooperated with the FBI’s investigation and who had agreed to accept a 
summons and surrender himself, but whom the FBI arrested at his home “as though he were John Dillinger); Miller, Tucker, and 
Balsamo, FBI’s Search of Trump’s Florida Estate: Why Now? (August 9, 2022), available at https://apnews.com/article/donald-trump-
mar-a-lago-fbi-search-99097089194e736315c366a0e8fbafee. 
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object and make protected disclosures about the resulting threats to public safety resulting from 
political motives apparently creeping into what should be strictly tactical law enforcement 
decisions on the merits.  
 

Retaliation Against Whistleblowers 
 

Section 2303 of Title 5 of the United State Code prohibits the FBI’s management from 
taking an adverse personnel action (e.g., demotion, removal, or suspension) against an 
employee, or failing to take a beneficial personnel action (e.g., hiring or promotion) against an 
applicant for employment or an employee, “as a reprisal for a disclosure of information” to 
appropriate authorities, when the applicant or employee reasonably believes that the content of 
the information: 

 

• Involves the violation of laws, rules, or regulations, or 
 

• Evidences gross mismanagement, gross waste of funds, an abuse of authority, or a 
substantial and specific danger to public health or safety.21 
 
At a minimum, Special Agent Friend’s immediate supervisor, his ASACs, his SAC, and the 

Executive Assistant Director of the FBI’s Human Resources Branch retaliated against him 
because he had the audacity to make protected disclosures about his concerns that the FBI’s 
approach to the investigation (including the execution of search warrants) and arrest of alleged 
participants in the January 6th riot at the Capitol and/or persons who allegedly interfered with 
the transition of executive power.  In response to his disclosures, his supervisor questioned his 
fitness for duty, suggested that he pursue counseling, asked how he reckoned the SAC would 
react to his disclosure, and implied that he had imperiled his career.  [Declaration at ¶¶ 10 and 
11.] 

 
His ASACs characterized him as a “bad teammate,” threatened to punish him if he 

refused to participate in planned execution of arrest and search warrants, questioned his future 
career prospects in the FBI, recommended counseling, and placed him on AWOL status on 
August 24th (after directing him not to report for duty on that date).  [Declaration at ¶¶ 12, 13, 
and 14.] 

 
His SAC expressed disappointment that he “refused” to participate in the arrest and 

search warrants on the date he was placed on AWOL, suggested that he reconsider his career in 
the FBI, questioned his belief system and his opinions of his colleagues, and referred him to the 
FBI’s Office of Professional Responsibility and its Security Division.  [Declaration at ¶ 15.]  

 
The Executive Assistant Director of the FBI’s Human Resources Branch suspended his 

security clearance.  Among other reasons for her decision, she cited an erroneous August 24, 
2022, conversation with his supervisors.  In fact, he did not tell his supervisors on August 24th 
that he objected to participating in searches or arrests.  He had been instructed not to report for 
duty, was placed on AWOL, and had no contact with his supervisors that day. 

 
Further, Special Agent Friend may not be the only FBI employee who was retaliated 

against for questioning the FBI’s approach to the investigation (including the execution of search 
warrants) and arrest of alleged participants in the January 6th riot at the Capitol and/or persons 
who allegedly interfered with the transition of executive power.  During their meeting on 
September 1st, Special Agent Friend advised his SAC that many of his colleagues had expressed 
to him similar concerns about the FBI’s approach.  His SAC disputed his contention, claiming 
that Special Agent Friend’s views represented an extremely small minority of the FBI’s 

 
21 5 U.S.C. § 2303(a). 
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workforce.  Her rejoinder implies that management was aware—through receipt of other 
protected disclosures or by surveillance—that Special Agent Friend’s concerns were shared by 
some “minority” of the FBI’s staff.  Moreover, her rebuttal signifies that she refused to 
acknowledge or failed to comprehend that there could be more special agents who shared his 
concerns but were too scared of retaliation to voice those concerns.  Indeed, disclosing concerns 
about the FBI’s violations of the Constitution, laws, and regulations is widely perceived to pose a 
serious risk to one’s career and invites whistleblower retaliation by the FBI’s management, for 
which there are woefully inadequate remedies. 
 

Abuse of Security Clearance Inquiries to Avoid Due Process Procedures 
Applicable to Disciplinary Proceedings 

 
Towards the conclusion of Special Agent Friend’s meeting with the two ASACs on August 

23rd,  the ASACs ruminated aloud that they did not know how the FBI would proceed against him 
from a disciplinary perspective.  [Declaration at ¶¶ 12, 13, and 14.]  Specifically, the ASACs’ 
groused that formal discipline is a slow process.  Id.   

 
From the perspective of an FBI manager who wants to be quickly and efficiently resolve 

personnel issues, the ASACs’ critique of the FBI’s procedures for “adverse actions” (i.e., 
suspensions for more than 14 days, demotions, and removals) is on target.  The process is slow 
and cedes the manager’s decision-making.  Indeed, DOJ-OIG reports that the FBI’s goal—not 
actual experience—is “to complete the investigation and adjudication of misconduct cases in 180 
days.”22  However, as DOJ-OIG notes, this period excludes appeals of adjudications; the FBI has 
an informal goal of resolving appeals of adjudications in an additional 120 days.  Moreover, once 
a manager initiates a disciplinary process, he/she loses the ability to control of not only the 
timing of the final action, but also of the proposed action itself. 
 
 The FBI’s disciplinary process consists of four phases: 
 

• Reporting misconduct allegations, 
 

• Investigating allegations, 
 

• Adjudicating investigations, and 
 

• Appealing adjudications.23 
 
The FBI’s Inspection Division (“ID”) and Office of Professional Responsibility (“OPR”)—offices 
with the FBI’s headquarters—are responsible for the administration of the four phases.  Id. 
 
 First, according to the FBI’s Manual of Administrative Operations and Procedures 
(“MOAP”), all allegations of employee misconduct must be reported to OPR, which will 
“determine and advise who will conduct the investigation” of the alleged misconduct.24  
Typically, OPR will assign the investigation to the Assistant Director, SAC, or Legal Attache of 
the office of the subject of the investigation.  Id. 
 

 
22 DOJ-OIG, Report No. I-2009-002: Review of the Federal Bureau of Investigation’s Disciplinary System, pp. 3, 24, (May 2009), available 
at https://www.oversight.gov/sites/default/files/oig-reports/final_4.pdf.  
 
23 DOJ-OIG, Report No. 21-127: Review of the Federal Bureau of Investigation’s Adjudication Process for Misconduct Investigations, p. 
4., (September 2021), available at https://oig.justice.gov/sites/default/files/reports/21-127.pdf.  
 
24 MOAP, Part 1, § 13.2. 
 

180 of 315

https://www.oversight.gov/sites/default/files/oig-reports/final_4.pdf
https://oig.justice.gov/sites/default/files/reports/21-127.pdf


 

601 KING STREET, SUITE 200 | ALEXANDRIA, VA  22314-3151 PAGE 10 OF 14 

 Second, the investigation must be initiated promptly, and generally “every logical lead 
which will establish the true facts should be completely run out.”25  The record of the 
investigation should include “the initial allegation; the investigative results; aggravating or 
mitigating circumstances; statement of specific charge(s) and the employee’s answer(s) including 
defenses to the specific charge(s), if any.”  Id.  The investigation shall not be “complete until the 
specific allegations that may justify disciplinary action are made known the employee who may 
be disciplined and the employee is afforded reasonable time to answer the specific allegations.”  
Id. 
 
 During the pendency of the investigation, it is not a foregone conclusion that the subject 
of the investigation will be prevented from performing his/her duties.  Rather, the Assistant 
Director, SAC, or Legal Attache assigned to conduct the investigation is authorized to 
temporarily assign the subject to other duties, “if the circumstances surrounding the allegation 
indicate that such action warranted.”26  However, all such reassignment decisions must be made 
on a case-by-case basis; they “should not be made automatically.”  Id. 
 
 Investigation findings are recorded in written reports that are filed in the subject’s 
personnel file in the field office and at the FBI’s headquarters.27  The report format includes 
recommendations for what, if any, administrative action is appropriate.28 
   

Third, disciplinary recommendations are guided by a MOAP schedule, but—except for 
certain minor offenses delegated to management in FBI’s field offices—final determinations of 
the appropriate discipline to propose against an employee accused of misconduct is reserved to 
the FBI’s headquarters,29 specifically it is reserved to the OPR’s Adjudication Units.30  The 
Assistant Director of OPR reviews the determinations of the Adjudication Units and if he/she 
agrees that discipline is warranted, then “the action is taken and the employee notified.”31 
 

Fourth, if the Assistant Director of OPR agrees that discipline is warranted and takes an 
adverse action, then the employee may appeal the decision to the Assistant Director of ID.32 
 

To circumvent these formal disciplinary procedures, the FBI can rapidly, and without 
meaningful, if any, due process, suspend special agents’ security clearances and place them in a 
leave without pay status.  On September 1st Special Agent Friend’s SAC advised him that she had 
referred him to the FBI’s Security Division for a review of his clearance.  Fifteen days later—not 
the combined 300-day goal set forth in the FBI’s discipline procedures (i.e., 180 days for 
investigation and adjudication and 120 days for appeal of the adjudication), the Executive 
Assistant Director of the FBI’s Human Resources Branch suspended his security clearance and 

 
25 MOAP, Part 1, § 13.3. 
 
26 MOAP, Part 1, § 13.1. 
 
27 MOAP, Part 1, §§ 13.7, 13.7.1, and 13.7.2. 
 
28 MOAP, Part 1, § 13.7.1. 
 
29 MOAP, Part 1, § 13.13. 
 
30 DOJ-OIG, A Review of Allegations of a Double Standard of Discipline at the FBI (November 21, 2022), available at 
https://oig.justice.gov/sites/default/files/archive/special/0211/chapter2.htm. 
 
31 MOAP, Part 1, § 14-4.2; see also, DOJ-OIG, A Review of Allegations of a Double Standard of Discipline at the FBI (November 21, 
2022), available at https://oig.justice.gov/sites/default/files/archive/special/0211/chapter2.htm. 
 
32 DOJ-OIG, A Review of Allegations of a Double Standard of Discipline at the FBI (November 21, 2022), available at 
https://oig.justice.gov/sites/default/files/archive/special/0211/chapter2.htm. 
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halted his paycheck. It has the exact same effect as a disciplinary adverse personnel action would 
have, but without any independent oversight or meaningful review. 
 

It often seems like the Nation’s two principal political parties cannot agree on anything.  
At least one exception, however, is a shared belief that the Executive branch of government has 
grown less inhibited about improperly revoking security clearances to silence its detractors.  For 
example, Senator Warner accused former President Trump of “abusing” the security clearance 
process “to punish his political opponents,” in particular John Brennan.33  On the other side of 
the aisle, former Representative Hunter complained about the Army’s retaliation against retired 
Lt. Colonel Jason Amerine, including the suspension of his security clearance at the FBI’s urging, 
for revealing to Congress bureaucratic infighting that impaired the Nation’s efforts to recover 
hostages.34  And, indeed, in connection with Special Agent Friend’s circumstances, Senators 
Grassley and Johnson admonished Attorney General Garland and FBI Director Wray that “The 
FBI should never suspend security clearances as a form of punishment or to retaliate against 
patriotic whistleblowers for stepping forward to report potential wrongdoing.”35  

 
Further, following the revocation of Mr. Brennan’s security clearance, the Project on 

Government Oversight (“POGO”) reported: 
 
The revocation of Mr. Brennan’s individual clearance, though conspicuous and 
newsworthy, isn’t immediately detrimental to Mr. Brennan or to the public.  In 
fact, it isn’t even clear if the former director has actually lost it yet.  Rather, 
what’s more concerning is what the loss represents: the escalating 
weaponization of security clearances as a form of reprisal.  
 
Whistleblowers have felt this weaponization for years—many have lost 
clearances because of retaliatory investigations initiated under false pretenses 
by their supervisors after speaking out against waste, fraud, or abuse.  To make 
matters worse, others who would have come forward with additional life-saving 
disclosures remain silent observers of abuse for fear of losing their 
livelihoods.36 

 
In other words, what the FBI has done to Special Agent Friend does not appear to be an isolated 
event.  It very well may be an example of a widespread FBI practice—one that the Office of 
Inspector General should be reviewing for systemic abuses. 
 

II. DOJ-OIG’s Response to Special Agent Friend’s September 21st 
Complaint 

 
On December 2, 2022, DOJ-OIG advised Daniel Meyer, Special Agent Friend’s legal 

counsel, that “[a]fter careful consideration and in view of the limited resources of the OIG, we 

 
33 Sen. Mark Warner, On Senate Floor, Warner Warns Trump: Stop Abusing Security Clearance Process to Punish Critics (August 21, 
2018), available at https://www.warner.senate.gov/public/index.cfm/2018/8/on-senate-floor-warner-warns-trump-stop-abusing-
security-clearance-process-to-punish-critics. 
 
34 Rep. Duncan Hunter, Make No Mistake: The FBI and Army Retaliated Against a Hero (December 17, 2015), available at 
https://warontherocks.com/2015/12/make-no-mistake-the-fbi-and-army-retaliated-against-a-hero/; see also, Brian, Danielle, and 
Smithberger, Mandy, How the System Went After a War Hero: Jason Amerine Goes to Washington (December 10, 2015), available at 
https://warontherocks.com/2015/12/how-the-system-went-after-a-war-hero-jason-amerine-goes-to-washington/. 
  
35 September 26, 2022, letter to Attorney General Garland and FBI Director Wray from Senators Charles E. Grassley and Ron Johnson, 
p. 3, available at https://www.grassley.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/grassley_johnson_to_doj_fbi_stephen_friend.pdf. 
 
36 Jones, Rebecca, Revoking Clearances on a Whim Hurts Whistleblowers—and the Rest of Us (September 14, 2018), available at 
https://www.pogo.org/analysis/2018/09/revoking-clearances-on-a-whim-hurts-whistleblowers-and-the-rest-of-us. 
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have decided not to open an investigation of the allegations that you raise.”  Nonetheless, in its 
letter, DOJ-OIG went on: 
 

• Effectively to affirm the importance of Special Agent Friend’s allegations of the 
FBI’s systemic abuses;  

 

• Expressed its desire to refer his allegations to the FBI’s “Inspection Division37 for 
further action;” and 

 

• Threatened to “close the matter and take no further action” (emphasis original), if 
Special Agent Friend refused to consent to the DOJ-OIG’s referring his 
allegations of the FBI’s systemic abuses back to the FBI. 
 
In addition to threatening to close Special Agent Friend’s complaint unless he consents to 

the referral of his complaint of systematic abuses back to the alleged abuser, DOJ-OIG’s refusal 
to investigate his allegations—which it agrees are important—on the basis of resource grounds is 
bafflingly unpersuasive.  Inquiries at the heart of great national political controversies like this 
are the subjects most in need of the sort of independent, nonpartisan, factually grounded, 
objective review that inspectors general were created to provide. 

 
Could the DOJ-OIG, with its hundreds of agents, attorney, and multiple field offices 

around the country really be so overextended that it has no capacity to investigate whether: 
 
(1) the FBI’s investigative statistics are being skewed to support a false 

narrative of a nationwide surge in domestic terrorism; 

(2) the FBI is selectively using unreasonable force and/or intrusive 
measures against politically disfavored subjects; 

(3) the FBI is retaliating against whistleblowers who disclose and object to 
1 and 2; or 

(4) the FBI is abusing security clearance processes to avoid following the 
FBI’s standard disciplinary processes? 

 
RECORDS REQUEST 

 
To shed light on the rationale for the DOJ-OIG’s refusal to investigate Special Agent 

Friend’s allegations of the FBI’s systemic abuses of the Constitution, laws, and policy, pursuant 
to the Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”),38 Empower Oversight requests: 

 
1. All communications between and among DOJ-OIG personnel relative to the 

information Special Agent Friend submitted on or about September 21, 2022. 
 
2. Any investigative activities undertaken DOJ-OIG to follow-up on or 

confirm/refute information that Special Agent Friend submitted on or about 
September 21, 2022. 

 
37 The FBI’s Inspection Division “conducts internal investigations, reviews operation performance and use-of-enforcement authorities 
in all investigative programs, and conducts special inquiries.”  FBI, Suzanne Turner Named Assistant Director of the Inspection Division 
(February 16, 2022), available at https://www.fbi.gov/news/press-releases/suzanne-turner-named-assistant-director-of-the-
inspection-division.  The division is currently headed by an assistant director with substantial prior immersion in the FBI’s 
counterterrorism, intelligence, and national security programs.  Id. 
 
38 5 U.S.C. § 552. 
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3. All information supporting DOJ-OIG’s rationale for concluding that the 

information Special Agent Friend submitted on or about September 21, 2022, 
did not warrant investigation by DOJ-OIG. 

 
DEFINITIONS 

 
 “COMMUNICATION(S)” means every manner or method of disclosure, exchange of 
information, statement, or discussion between or among two or more persons, including but not 
limited to, face-to-face and telephone conversations, correspondence, memoranda, telegrams, 
telexes, email messages, voice-mail messages, text messages, Slack messages, meeting minutes, 
discussions, releases, statements, reports, publications, and any recordings or reproductions 
thereof.  

 
“DOCUMENT(S)” or “RECORD(S)” mean any kind of written, graphic, or recorded 

matter, however produced or reproduced, of any kind or description, whether sent, received, or 
neither, including drafts, originals, non-identical copies, and information stored magnetically, 
electronically, photographically or otherwise.  As used herein, the terms “DOCUMENT(S)” or 
“RECORD(S)” include, but are not limited to, studies, papers, books, accounts, letters, 
diagrams, pictures, drawings, photographs, correspondence, telegrams, cables, text messages, 
emails, memoranda, notes, notations, work papers, intra-office and inter-office communications, 
communications to, between and among employees, contracts, financial agreements, grants, 
proposals, transcripts, minutes, orders, reports, recordings, or other documentation of 
telephone or other conversations, interviews, affidavits, slides, statement summaries, opinions, 
indices, analyses, publications, questionnaires, answers to questionnaires, statistical records, 
ledgers, journals, lists, logs, tabulations, charts, graphs, maps, surveys, sound recordings, data 
sheets, computer printouts, tapes, discs, microfilm, and all other records kept, regardless of the 
title, author, or origin.  
 

“PERSON” means individuals, entities, firms, organizations, groups, committees, 
regulatory agencies, governmental entities, business entities, corporations, partnerships, trusts, 
and estates.  

 
“REFERS,” “REFERRING TO,” “REGARDS,” REGARDING,” “RELATES,” 

“RELATING TO,” “CONCERNS,” “BEARS UPON,” or “PERTAINS TO” mean containing, 
alluding to, responding to, commenting upon, discussing, showing, disclosing, explaining, 
mentioning, analyzing, constituting, comprising, evidencing, setting forth, summarizing, or 
characterizing, either directly or indirectly, in whole or in part. 

 
“INCLUDING” means comprising part of, but not being limited to, the whole. 
 

INSTRUCTIONS 
  

The time period of the requested records is January 6, 2021, through the present.  
 
The words “and” and “or” shall be construed in the conjunctive or disjunctive, whichever 

is most inclusive.  
 
The singular form shall include the plural form and vice versa.  
 
The present tense shall include the past tense and vice versa.  
 
In producing the records described above, you shall segregate them by reference to each 

of the numbered items of this FOIA request.  
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If you have any questions about this request, please contact Bryan Saddler by e-mail at 
bsaddler@empowr.us.  
 

FEE WAIVER REQUEST 
 
Empower Oversight agrees to pay up to $25.00 in applicable fees, but notes that it 

qualifies as a “representative of the news media”39 and requests a waiver of any fees that may be 
associated with processing this request, in keeping with 5 U.S.C. § 552 (a)(4)(A)(iii).  

 
Empower Oversight is a non-profit educational organization as defined under Section 

501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, which helps insiders safely and legally report waste, 
fraud, abuse, corruption, and misconduct to the proper authorities, and seeks to hold those 
authorities accountable to act on such reports by, among other means, publishing information 
concerning the same. Empower Oversight has no commercial interest in making this request.  

 
Further, the information that Empower Oversight seeks is in the public interest because 

it is likely to contribute significantly to the public’s understanding of the rationale for the DOJ-
OIG’s refusal to investigate Special Agent Friend’s allegations of the FBI’s systemic abuses of the 
Constitution, laws, and policy.  

 
Empower Oversight is committed to government accountability, public integrity, and 

transparency.  In the latter regard, the information that that Empower Oversight receives that 
tends to explain the subject matter of this FOIA request will be disclosed publicly via its website, 
and copies will be shared with other news media for public dissemination.  

 
For ease of administration and to conserve resources, we ask that documents be produced 

in a readily accessible electronic format. Thank you for your time and consideration. Please don’t 
hesitate to contact me with any questions.  

 
Cordially,  

 
/Jason Foster/ 
 
Jason Foster  
Founder & President  

 
39 On September 23, 2021, in connection with a FOIA appeal arising from Empower Oversight’s August 12, 2022, FOIA request, the 
Securities Exchange Commission conceded that Empower Oversight qualifies as a news media requester for purposes of fees assessed 
pursuant to the FOIA.  See, “Empower Oversight Wins Appeal of Erroneous SEC Fee Decision: Must be treated as a “media requestor” 
in seeking ethics records of senior officials,” Empower Oversight Press Release (Sep 24, 2021), https://empowr.us/empower-
oversight-wins-appeal-of-erroneous-sec-fee-decision-must-be-treated-as-a-media-requestor-in-seeking-ethics-records-of-senior-
officials/.   Thereafter, numerous other agencies recognized Empower Oversight as a media requester. 
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Declaration of Stephen M. Friend 

r, Stephen M. Friend, pursuant to 28 u.s.c. §1746, hereby 
declares as follows: 

1. I am a person over eighteen• (18) years of age and 
competent to testify. Upon my belief and information, I make 
this Declaration on personal knowledge and in support of my 
complaint of reprisal and disclosure to the Office of Speci4l 
Counsel, and against the Federal Bureau of Investigation 
(hereinafter the "FBin). 

2. I am an FBI Special Agent currently on suspension. I 
graduated from the University of Notre Dame in 2007 and was 
employed as an accountant in private practice between 2007 and 
2008. In 2009 I was sworn in as a Peace Officer for the 
savannah Chatham Metro Police Department in Savannah Chatham. 
Georgia. I served as a Peace Officer for said Department until 
2012 when I joined my father's accounting firm for one year. In 
2013 I joined the Pooler Police Department in Pooler Georgia as 
a Peace Officer until 2014. 

3. On June 14, 2014, I joined the FBI as a new agent 
trainee. Following my graduation from Quantico's New Agent 
Academy I was posted to the FBI's Omaha Division/Sioux City 
Resident Agency tasked with investigating violent crimes and 
major offenses occurring in Indian Country. I was also a member 
of the FBI's Omaha SWAT Team. While in that posting I also 
served as an acting Special Supervisory Special Agent. 

4. In June of 2021 I was transferred to the FBI's 
Jacksonville Florida Field Office/Daytona Beach Residency Agency 
as a Special Agent tasked with investigating child exploitation 
and human trafficking. In October of 2021, an Assistant Special 
Agent in Charge (ASAC) informed my supervisor that I was 
reassigned as a member of the Joint •rerrorism Task Force 
(hereinafter "JTTF") and directed to concentrate my time towards 
domestic terrorism investigations. •rhe ASAC communicated that 
the reassignment was necessary due to the voluminous number of 
J6 investigations and rising threats of ''domestic violent 
extremism. 11 

5. I was also told that child sexual abuse material 
investigations were no longer an FBI priority and should be 
referred ta local law enforcement agencies. Prior to the 
inci.dents described below I received exemplary performance 
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reviews and numerous awards throughout my eight-year FBI ca.:r.eer. 
Most recently, in July of 2022 Lhe FBI conferred me with an "On­
The-Spot" financial award. 

6. My concerns are as fo11ows: Stephen M. Fri.end, made a 
disclosure,~£ which an acting responsible official had 
knowledge, after which I was subjected to an adverse action. 

7. As background information, full investigation casefiles 
within the FBI are labeled in three sections. The first section 
denotes the nature of the criminal offense. The second section 
identifies the FBI field Office with responsibility for 
investigating. The third section is a unique case number 
populated by the FBI's SENTINEL case management system and 
attributable to the investigation. Additionally, if the 
investigating Case Agent requires assistance from another field 
office (i.e., intervtewing a subject or witness who resides out 
of the Case Agent's geographical area of responsibility), 
investigative policy guides the Case Aqent to "cut a leadu to 
Special Agents in another Field Office requesting that they take 
certain investigaLlve action to assist the Case Agent. The 
"lead" facilitates timely investigation without forcing the Case 
Agent to engage :in costly and time-consuming travel to areas 
beyond his area of responsibility. 

* Domestic Investigations and Operations Guide 
Appendlx J: (U) Case File Management and Indexing 

(DIOG) 

* J.1.2 (U) Investigative Leads and Lead Office (LO) 

(U/ /F0U0) Leads are sent by EC, or a Lead Request 
document, to offices and assigned to 
individuals/organizations in order to aid 
investigations. When the 00 sets a lead to another 
office, that office is considered a Lead Office (LO). 
(U//FOUO) There are only two types of investigative 
leads: "Action Required" and "Information Only." 

* J.1.2.1 (U) Action Required Lead 

(U//FOUO) An action required lead must be used if the 
sending office requires the receiving LO to take some 
type of investigative action. 

(U//FOUO) An action required lead may only be set out 
of an open investigative file, including an: 

A) (U) Asses.sment file; 
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B) (U) Predicated investigation file; 
C) (U) Pending inactive investigation file; or 
D) (U) Unaddressed work file ... 

8. Accordingly, investigations stemming from the January 
6, 2021, Capitol Hill protest (hereinafter "J6") could be 
assigned, according to Domestic Investigations and Operations 
Guide (DIOG) Appendix J, to Special Agents working at the 
"Office of Origin (00) .u Per DIOG guidance, Washington D.C. 
Field Office (WFO) is a logical 00 because WFO's area of 
responsibility includes Washington D.C. If deemed the 
appropriate 00, any investigations or assessments opened by WFO 
would be marked with the second section casefile label of "WF." 
Should investigative actions be necessary outside of Washington 
o.c., the WE'O Case Agent should "cut a lead" to the appropriate 
FBI Field Office. In the event that an alternative FBI Field 
Office assumed the role as 00 (i.e., because a subject resides 
in the OO's area of responsibility) any investigations or 
assessment opened would be marked with the second section 
casefile label attributable to that Field Office (i.e., "DLn for 
FBI Dallas). Should investigative actions be necessary outside 
of th0 OO's area of the responsibility, the Case Agent should 
~cut a lead" to the appropriate FBI Field Office. Regardless of 
the particular 00 and according to DIOG Appendix J, the assigned 
Case Agent assumes management responsibilities for all aspects 
of the assessment or investigation. 

* Domestic Investigations and Operations Guide (DIOG) 
Appendi.x J: llJ) Case File Management and Indexing. 

o J.1 (U) Investigative File Management 
o J .1. 1 ( U) Office of Origin (00) 

o (U/FOUO) Generally the Office of Origin (00) is 
determined by: 
A) (U/ /F0UO) The residence, location or destination of 

the subject of the investigation; 
B) (U//FOUO) The office in which the complaint is first 

received; 
C) (U//FOUO) The office designated by FBIHQ as 00 in any 

investigation. 

* Domestic Investigations and Operations Guide (OIOG} 
Appendix J: (U) Case File Management and Indexing 

o J.l (U) Investigative File Management 
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o J.1.3 (U} Office of Origin's (00) Supervision of Cases 
(U//FOUO) The 00 is responsible for proper supervision 
of Assessments and investigations in its own territory 
and being conducted in a LO. The ·FBI employee, 
usually an FBI Special Agent, to whom an investigation 
is assigned, is often referred to as the "Case Agent.n 
An FOI employee is personally responsible for ensuring 
a11 logical investigation is initiated without undue 
delay, whether the employee is assigned in the 00 or 
in a LO; this includes setting forth Action Required 
or Information Only leads as appropriate for other 
offices or other FBI employees in his/her own office. 
The 00 Case Agent has overall responsibility for 
supervision of the investigation ... 

The FBI is following an atypical procedure. J6 task force 
members in Washington D.C. identify potential subjects and 
possibl0 locations where these individuals reside. The task 
force disseminates information packets to Field Offices around 
the country. If an assessment or investigation is opened for a 
J6 subject, the reciplerrL Field Off:lces become the official 00. 
However, while Special Agents and Task Force Officers in these 
Field Offices are assigned the role of "Case Agent," the J6· task 
force effectively manages the cases and performs the bulk of 
investigative work. The Case Agents perform investigative 
actions at the direction of the J6 task force. The J6 task 
force has the preeminent role £or presenting J6 cases to the 
United States Attorney's Office for prosecution. 

9. In October of 2021 1 I was assigned to J6 cases on 
behalf of Special Agents working in Washington D.C. On these 
occasions, the J6 Task Force members disseminated information to 
my office with instructions to perform logical investigative 
actions (such as surveillance or subject interviews). Members 
of the Daytona Beach Resident Agency {DBRA) Joint Terrorism Task 
Force {JTTF) completed and documented these tasks. Later, J6 
Task Force members in Washington D.C. reviewed the work and 
requested additional investigative actions be performed or 
pressured members of my local JTTF to open full investigations. 
The J6 Task Force members assured the JTTF that once the case 
was opened, they would perform future investigative work and 
paperwork for the casefile. In accordance supervisor. roles and 
responsibilities outlined in the DIOG, the J6 Task Force 
supervisors approved this work before it was submitted to the 
casefile. Resultantly, there are active criminal investigations 
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of J6 subjects in which I am listed as the "Case Agent,n but 
have not done any investigative work. Additionally, my 
supervisor has not approved any paperwork within the file. J6 
Task Force members are serving as Affiants on search and arrest 
warrant affidavits for subjects whom I have never investigated 
or even interviewed but am listed as a "Case Agent." The J6 
Task Force tasked the DBRA JTTF with executing these warrants. 

* Domestic Investigations and Operations Guide (DIOG) 3.5 (U) 
supervisor Roles and Responsibilities 

* 3.5.2.1 (U) Approval/Review of Investigative or Collection 
Activities 

(U//FOUO) Anyone in a supervisory role who 
approves/reviews investigative or collection activity 
must determine whether the standards for opening, 
approving, conducting, and closing an investigative 
activity, collection activity or investigaLive 
method, as provided in the DIOG, have been satisfied. 
(U//FOUO) Only FBI supervlsory employees and 
representatives from other government agencies (OGA) 
assigned to the FBI under the Joint Duty Assignment 
Program or the Intergovernmental Personnel 1\ct as 
supervisors (as defined in DIOG subsection 3.5.1) may 
approve the serialization of lnvestigative records 
into Sentinel. Additionally, whenever an OGA 
supervisor (as described above) approves an 
investigative record, an FBI supervisor must also 
approve the record into Sentinel. An OGA supervisor 
may not approve investigative methods (i.e., DIOG 
Section 18 methods) or investigative dCLlvlLle~ 
(e.g., UDP and OIA). 

* Domestic Investigations and Operations Guide (DIOG) 
Appendix J; ru} Case File Management and Indexing 

o J.1 (U) Investigative File Management 
J.1.3 (U) Office of Origin's (00) Supervision of Cases 
(U//FOUO) The 00 is responsible for proper supervision 
of Assessments and investigations in its own territory 
and being conducted in a LO. The FBI employee, 
usually an FBI Special Agent, to ~hom an investigation 
is assigned, is often referred to as the "Case Agent." 
An E'Bl employee is personally responsible tor ensuring 
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all logical investigation is initiated without undue 
delay, whether the employee is assigned in the 00 or 
in a LO; this includes setting forth Action Required 
or Information Only leads as appropriate for other 
offices or other FBI employees in his/her own office. 
The 00 Case Agent has overal] :responsibility for 
supervision of the investigation ... 

10. During the week of August 15, 2022, I became aware of 
imminent arrests of J6 subjects and searches of their respective 
residences within the FBI's Jacksonville and Tampa Field Office 
areas of responsibility. Simultaneous takedowns were scheduled 
to occur on August 24, 2022. Due to perceived threats levels, an 
FBI SWA'l' team was enlisted to arrest one of the arrests. On 
Friday, August 19, 2022, I spoke with my front-line supervisor, 
SSRA Greg Federico, on two separate occasions to discJ.ose my 
concerns about potential DIOG policy violations employed during 
the investigative processes. SSRA Federico listened to my 
concerns but emphasized that the warrants were lawful court 
orders. He said that these operations were one step in the 
process and that the subjects would be afforded all due process. 

ll. I responded that it was inappropriate to use an F'B1 
SWAT team to arrest a subject for misdemeanor offenses and 
opined that the subject would likely face extended detainment 
and biased jury pools in Washington D.C. I suggested 
alternatives such as the issuance of a court summons or 
utilizing surveillance groups to determine an optimal, safe time 
for a local sheriff deputy to contact the subjects and advise 
them about the existence of the arrest warrant. SSRA Federico 
told me that FBI executive management considered all potential 
alternatives and determined the SWAT takedown was the 
appropriate course of action. SSRA Federico noted that I 
appeared to be under stress and suggested speaking to the FBI's 
employee assistance program. SSRA Federico told me that he 
respected how I was standing on principle, but I was putting him 
in a difficult situation because Special Agents cannot refuse to 
participate in specific cases. He stated that he wished I just 
~called in sick" for this warrant but his hands were tied now 
that I told him that I was going to refuse to participate in any 
J6 cases. Per the Office of Personnel Management, \'an employee 
is entitled to use sick leave for: personal medical needs, 
family care or bereavement, care of a family member with a 
serious health condition, and adoption-related purposes." SSRA 
Federico told me that the FBI plans to prosecute every subject 

191 of 315



associated with J6 and he expected "another waven of J6 subjects 
would be referred to the Daytona Beach Resident Agency for 
investigation and arrest. SSRA Federico asked how I thought the 
Special Agent in Charge (SAC) of FBI Jacksonville would react to 
my position. He told me that it sounded like my concerns were 
with FBI leadership and the overall nature of the J6 
investigations. SSRA Federico threatened reprisal indirectly by 
asking how long I saw myself continuing to work for the FBI, He 
asked me to reconsider my position and told me that he would 
decide on his actions over the course of the weekend. 

12. On August 22, 2022, I was contacted by Jacksonville's 
Assistant Special Agent in Charge (ASAC) Coult Markovsky, who 
requested that I attend a meeting at the FBI Jacksonville office 
the rollowing afternoon. On August 23, 2D22, I met witn ABAC 
Markovksy and ASAC Sean Ryan. I again disclosed my concerns 
about potential DlOG policy violations employed during the J6 
investigative processes. I told that the irregular case 
dissemination, labeling, and management processes could be 
considered exculpatory evidence the must be disclosed to 
defendants in accordance with the Brady r.ule. I expressed my 
concerns about violating citizens' Sixth Amendment rights due 
overzealous charging by the DOJ and biased jury pools in 
Washington D.C. I cautioned about the similarities between Ruby 
Ridge, the Governor Whitmer kidnapping case, and Lhe J6 
investigation. ASAC Markovsky said that I lacked perspective on 
the JG prosecutions because I was not princip~lly involved in 
the day-to-day investigations. He added that it is the FBI's job 
to gather facts, but we are not responsible for determining if 
an individual should be prosecuLed. I countered that former B'.1:31 
Director James Corney's actions indicated Lbls wa::; rm longer an 
FBI practice when he stated that ~no reasonable prosecutoru 
would bring charges against former Secretary of State Hillary 
Clinton. 

13. The ASACs asked if I believed the J6 rioters committed 
a crime. I responded that some of the people who entered the 
Capitol committed crimes, but others were innocent. I elaborated 
that I believed some innocent individuals had been unjustly 
prosecuted, convicted, and sentenced. ASAC Markovsky 
unironically asked if I thought that the individuals who "killed 
police officers" should be prosecuted. I replied that there were 
no police officers killed on January 6, 2021. ASAC Markovsky 
told me that I was being a bad teammate to my colleagues. The 
ASACs threatened reprisal again by warning that my refusal could 
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amount to .i.nsubordination. References were made to my future 
career prospects with the FBI. ASAC Ryan suggested I might want 
to speak with the FBI's employee assistance program about my 
emotional concerns with J6 cases. The ASACs informed me that I 
could not refuse to participate if fBI leadership was 
comfortable that an operation is Constitutional, within FBI 
guidelines, and did not present an unnecessary risk to my 
safety. 

14. I responded by again disclosing that the facts and 
concerns I presented demonstraLed how the J6 investigations 
violate all three elements. I told them that I would not 
participate in any of these operations. At the conclusion of the 
meeting, the nsncs opined that they did not know how they would 
proceed witn me from a disciplinary perspective. ~'hey empnasizea 
that any punitive action would be a slow process. However, four 
hours later ASAC Markovsky emailed me the following act of 
reprisal: "After. multiple conversations with SSRA Greg Federico 
and our continued conversations today with myself and ASAC Ryan, 
you continue to refuse to participate in an FBI mission to serve 
a lawful court order issued by a Federal Judge. You are not to 
report to the Daytona Beach RA tomorrow, August 24, 2022, and 
you will be placed on AWOL (Absent Without Leave) status. AWOL 
in itself is not disciplinary, but can lead to disciplinary 
charges, such as removal." ASAC Markovksy and ASAC Ryan stated 
that all the details of our meeting were Unclassified. 

15. On September 1, 2022, I met with FBI Jacksonville 
Special Agent in Charge tS~C) Sherry Onks. SAC Onks told me chac 
I had a reputation as a good Special Agent and expressed 
disappointment with my refusal to participate in the January 6th 
investigations. SAC Onks suggested that I do "some soul 
searching" and decide if I. wanted to work for the FBI. SAC Onks 
said that it "sounded like I lost faith in the FBI and its 
leadership.'' SAC Onks stated that the J6 investigations were all 
legal, ethical, and in accordance with FBI procedure. She said 
that my refusal to participate in the cases meant that I did not 
trust my colleagues' work and indicated that I believed the 
Special Agents working on J6 were coopted into behaving 
unethically and immorally. I again disclosed by informing SAC 
Onks that I believed the investigations were inconsistent with 
FBI procedure and resulted in the violation of citizens' Sixth 
and Eighth Amendment rights. I added that many of my colleagues 
expressed similar concerns to me but had not vocalized their 
objections to FBI Executive Management. SAC Onks disagreed with 
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my premise and said that my views represented an extremely small 
minority of the FBI workforce, SAC Onks told me that she had 
never encountered my situation during her career. She recalled 
the fear she felt while sitting on the seventh floor of the J. 
Edgar Hoover Building on January 6, 2021 when protesters "seized 
the capitol" and threatened the United States' democracy. SAC 
Onks reprised against me and admitted as much, when she informed 
me that she referred me to the FBI's Office of Professional 
Responsibility and Security Division. SAC Onks told me that the 
Security Division was assessing my security clearance. 

16. In addition to the atypical Originating Office 
identification process for J6 cases, ~he process potentially 
violates Case Manager and Case File Management and Indexing 
policies lis'ted in t'ne "FBJ.f s Domestic J..nvestigations and 
Operations Guide (DIOG). These potential violations include: 

• Domestic lnvestigations and operations Guide (DIOG) 3.3 (U) 
Special Agent/Task Force Officer (TFO) /Task Force Member 
(TFM) /Task Force Participant (TFP) /FBI Contractor/Qthers -­
Roles and Responsibilities 

o 3.3.l.10 ro-, S'e:r:ve as Investigation ("C'ase""J Manager: 
(U//FOUO) If assigned responsibility for an 
investigation, manage all aspects of that investigation, 
until it is assigned to another. person. It is the case 
manager's responsibility to ensure compliance with all 
applicable laws, rules, regulations, and guidelines, 
both investigative and administrative, from the opening 
of the investigation through disposition of the 
evidence, until the investigation is assigned to another 
person ... 

• Domestic Investigations and Operations Guide (DIOG) Appendix 
J: (U) Case File Management and Indexing 

o J.l (U} lnvestigative File Management 
J.1.3 !U) Office of Origin's /00) 8upervis:i.on of Cases 
(U//FOUO) The 00 is responsible for proper supervision 
of Assessments and investigations in its own territory 
and being conducted in a LO. The FBI employee, usually 
an FBI Special Agent, to whom an investigation is 
assigned, is often referred to as the "Case Agent." An 
FBI employee is personally responsible for ensuring all 
logical investigation is initiated without undue delay, 
whether the employee is assigned in the 00 or in a LO; 
this includes setting forth Action Required or 
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Information Only leads as appropriate for other offices 
or other FBI employees in his/her own office, The 00 
Case Agent has overall responsibility for supervision of 
the investigation ... 

The manipulative casefile practice creates false and misleading 
crime statistics, constituting false official federal statements 
18 U.S.C. §1001. Instead of hundreds of investigations stemming 
from an isolated incident at the Capitol on January 6, 2021, FBI 
and DOJ officials point to significant increases in domestic 
violent extremism and terrorism around the United States. At no 
point was I advised or counseled on where to take my disclosure 
beyond the reprising officials above; the threatened reprisal 
constituted a de facto gag on my whistleblowing. 

17. The acting officials who had knowledge of my 
disclosures as set forth above included SSRA Greg Federico, 
Jacksonville's Assistant Special Agent in Charge (ASAC) Coult 
Markovsky, ASAC Sean Ryan, and FBI Jacksonville Special Agent in 
Charge (SAC) Sherry Onks. 

18. I was reprised against and instructed to not report 
to the Daytona Beach .RA on August 24, 2022, and was placed on 
AWOL status. When I arrived at the FBI's Daytona Beach Field 
Office on the morning of September 19, 2022, I was brought into 
a meeting with my supervisor, ASAC, SAC, and security officer. I 
was told that my security clearance was suspended pending an 
investigation. My credentials, firearm, and badge were 
confiscated, and I was escorted from the building. 

19. I also received the letter annexed hereto and made a 
part hereof dated September 16 1 2022. 

I do solemnly affirm under the penalties of perjury and 
upon personal knowledge that the contents of the above statement 
are true to the best of my knowledge. 

~)?l. ;.r~ L.S. 

Stephen M. Friend 

September 2lr 2022 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Your affiant,  is a Special Agent assigned to the Federal Bureau of 
Investigation Washington Field Office Joint Terrorism Task Force. In my duties as a Special 
Agent, I investigate criminal activity pertaining to international and domestic terrorism. Currently, 
I am tasked with investigating criminal activity in and around the United States Capitol and its 
grounds on January 6, 2021. As a Special Agent, I am authorized by law or by a government 
agency to engage in or supervise the prevention, detection, investigation, or prosecution of a 
violation of Federal criminal laws.  

 
The Capitol is secured twenty-four hours a day by United States Capitol Police. 

Restrictions around the Capitol include permanent and temporary security barriers and posts 
manned by USCP. Only authorized people with appropriate identification were allowed access 
inside the Capitol. On January 6, 2021, the exterior plaza of the Capitol was closed to members of 
the public. 

 
On January 6, 2021, a joint session of the United States Congress convened at the Capitol, 

located at First Street, SE, in Washington, D.C. During the joint session, elected members of the 
United States House of Representatives and the United States Senate were meeting in separate 
chambers of the Capitol to certify the vote count of the Electoral College of the 2020 Presidential 
Election, which had taken place on Tuesday, November 3, 2020. The joint session began at 
approximately 1:00 p.m. Shortly thereafter, by approximately 1:30 p.m., the House and Senate 
adjourned to separate chambers to resolve a particular objection. Vice President Mike Pence was 
present and presiding, first in the joint session, and then in the Senate chamber.  

 
As the proceedings continued in both the House and the Senate, and with Vice President 

Michael R. Pence present and presiding over the Senate, a large crowd gathered outside the 
Capitol. As noted above, temporary barricades and permanent barricades were in place around the 
exterior of the Capitol. USCP officers were present and attempting to keep the crowd away from 
the Capitol and the certification proceedings underway inside.  

 
While the certification proceedings were underway, the exterior doors and windows of the 

Capitol were locked or otherwise secured. USCP officers attempted to maintain order and keep the 
crowd from entering the Capitol. Around 2:00 p.m., however, individuals in the crowd forced entry 
into the Capitol, including by breaking windows and by assaulting USCP officers. Others in the 
crowd encouraged and assisted those acts. 

 
Shortly thereafter, at approximately 2:20 p.m., members of the House of Representatives 

and Senate, including the President of the Senate, Vice President Pence, were instructed to—and 
did—evacuate the chambers. Accordingly, the joint session of Congress was effectively suspended 
until shortly after 8:00 p.m. Vice President Pence remained in the Capitol from the time he was 
evacuated from the Senate Chamber to the time the session resumed.  

 
During national news coverage of the aforementioned events, video footage which appeared to 
be captured on mobile devices of persons present on the scene depicted evidence of violations of 
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local and federal law, including scores of individuals inside the Capitol without authority to be 
there. 
 

B SQUAD 

Organization 

The FBI is investigating a group of individuals that self-identify as B SQUAD. referred to 
collectively herein as B SQUAD. The following interchange occurred on social media on 
December 2, 2020, between an individual whose identity is known to the FBI and another 
individual who acts as one of the leaders of B SQUAD—subsequently referred to herein as B 
Leader. 
 

Individual 1: Now, I think it would be hysterical if you got morale patches that said “plan 
B” or “B squad” because I think it’s one of the top 3 funniest things I’ve 
personally ever heard from politicians as they try to dance around the M 
word lmao 
 
Obviously 

 
B Leader: Hahahahaha 

 
I am going to name DC operation plan B1 

 
The individuals of B Squad that are being charged via Criminal Complaint to include this 

affidavit are the following—[1] BENJAMIN COLE, [2] BRIAN PRELLER, [3] JOHN EDWARD 
CROWLEY, [4] JONATHAN ROCKHOLT, and [5] TYLER QUINTIN BENSCH. The facts 
included below are intended to show that on January 6, 2021, these five individuals engaged in 
criminal behavior in connection with the riot at the U.S. Capitol on January 6, 2021. Specifically, 
the first four named individuals (Cole, Preller, Crowley, Rockholt) are each alleged to have 
knowingly committed an act or attempted to commit an act with the intended purpose of 
obstructing, impeding, or interfering with one or more law enforcement officers while the law 
enforcement officers were engaged in the lawful performance of their official duties incident to 
and during a civil disorder, and that this civil disorder in any way or degree obstructed, delayed, 
or adversely affected either commerce or the movement of any article or commodity in commerce. 
 

The five individuals, including Bensch, are also alleged to have knowingly entered or 
remained in a restricted building or on restricted grounds without lawful authority to do so. The 
five individuals are further alleged to have engaged in disorderly or disruptive conduct in, or within 
such proximity to, any restricted building or grounds at a time that such conduct, in fact, impeded 
or disrupted the orderly conduct of Government business or official functions; and did so 

 
1 Based on information gained through the course of this investigation, I believe that when Individual 1 referred to the 
“M word,” they are referring to militias. I further believe that when they discuss a plan B/B Squad, they are referring 
to an alternate plan to be in place if they do not get the desired electoral outcome (i.e., the former president remaining 
in power). 
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Pursuant to a search warrant that was executed on the account of a known B SQUAD 
member, the following image or flyer was sent to a B SQUAD distribution list on or about 
December 24, 2020. 
  

 
An individual whose identity is known to the FBI and who is referenced to as “B Leader” 

for purposes of this affidavit, coordinated the group’s travel from Florida to Washington, D.C., 
and their lodging in Washington, D.C. B Leader reserved a block of rooms at a hotel that is near 
to the U.S. Capitol, and he, the five individuals named in this Statement of Facts, and 
approximately forty other members of B SQUAD stayed on the same floor of that hotel on January 
5, 2021. 
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  Below are images of B Leader in the January 3 video displaying some of the “defensive 
tools” he suggested others bring to Washington, D.C., including an expandable metal baton, a 
walking cane, and a folding knife. 
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On January 6, 2021, on the restricted grounds of the U.S. Capitol, a group of B SQUAD 
members, including [1] BENJAMIN COLE, [2] BRIAN PRELLER, [3] JOHN EDWARD 
CROWLEY, [4] JONATHAN ROCKHOLT, and [5] TYLER QUINTIN BENSCH:  

 
1. displayed various indicia of membership in the III%-ers, Guardians of Freedom, or B 

SQUAD on their clothing while committing criminal acts; and  

2. wore riot gear—including tactical vests and helmets—and possessed expandable metal 
batons, chemical irritants, knives, and walking sticks. Those with walking sticks appeared 
to intend to use them as impact weapons, as opposed to being mere walking aids. None of 
the individuals who carried the long wooden poles are known to have a condition that 
requires the use of a walking stick. 

The Inaugural Stage 

 During each presidential inauguration, the Architect of the Capitol (AOC) coordinates with 
the Joint Congressional Committee on Inaugural Ceremonies, Secret Service, the military, 
Department of Homeland Security, Presidential Inaugural Committee, District Government, and 
all of the AOC’s Congressional partners to prepare the Capitol for the Inauguration. One such task 
is the creation from scratch of the 10,000 square foot Inaugural platform. One part of that process 
includes turning a west entrance to the Capitol, into a smaller, tighter, tunnel-like area that has 
commonly been referred to as “The Tunnel” in investigations and prosecutions surrounding 
January 6, 2021. The two photos below show the West Side of the Capitol as set up for 
Inauguration Day (top) and a closer view of The Tunnel (bottom). 
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[1] Benjamin James Cole 

 On January 6, 2021, a 38-year-old white male named Benjamin James Cole had a full beard 
and a mustache. Cole was wearing the following items:  
 

1. a red flannel-type shirt and tan/brownish pants;  
2. sunglasses and a green knit hat under a green baseball cap bearing a patch with the words 

“pedophile hunter” and a rifle graphic in orange;  
3. tactical vest and a drab colored scarf with a distinct pattern; and  
4. a backpack with the word “THREE PERCENTER.”  

 
 Cole also possessed, what appears to be, a black expandable metal baton in his back pocket.  
 
 The following are images of Cole obtained from open-source videos or images taken from 
within the restricted Capitol Grounds on January 6, 2021: 
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[2] John Edward Crowley 

 On January 6, 2021, a 50-year-old white male named John Edward Crowley was pictured 
wearing the following items while on restricted Capitol grounds:  
 

1. a black and gray jacket;  
2. a grayish and white baseball cap with the letters “USA” in red on the front;  
3. a black scarf or neck gaiter; and  
4. a large drab scarf with a distinct design.  

 
 The following are images of Crowley obtained from U.S. Capitol surveillance and open-
source videos or images taken from within the restricted Capitol Grounds: 
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[3] Brian Michael Preller 

 On January 6, 2021, a 32-year-old white male named Brian Michael Preller was pictured 
wearing the following items while on restricted Capitol grounds:  
 

1. a blue shirt with the words “WATERBOARDING INSTRUCTOR,” blue jeans, black 
gloves, a black belt, and a black neck gaiter or turtleneck shirt (under his blue shirt);  

2. large goggles and a green helmet with the word “monster” on the back in white; and  
3. green tactical vest with a chemical irritant spray attached to the front.  

 
 Preller also possessed a long black walking stick. Preller had the phrase “B SQUAD” on 
the back of his tactical vest armor. The following are images of Preller obtained from open-source 
videos and/or images taken from within the restricted Capitol Grounds: 
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[4] Jonathan Alan Rockholt 

 On January 6, 2021, a 37-year-old white male named Johnathan Alan Rockholt was 
pictured wearing the following items while on restricted Capitol grounds:  
 

1. an olive-green quilted jacket, blue jeans, and black gloves;  
2. a tactical vest with a patch associated with the “Three Percenters” movement (i.e., “III”);  
3. a drab neck gaiter and sunglasses;  
4. a grayish baseball helmet with a red, white, and blue skull on the back, yellow Gadsden 

flag3 symbols on the sides, what appears to be, the logo for “GoF” (described below) and 
a U.S. flag on the front; and  

5. what appears to be a knife in his front right pocket.  
 
 The following are images of Rockholt obtained from open-source videos and/or images 
taken from within the restricted Capitol Grounds: 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 
3 The Gadsden flag is a historical American flag with a yellow background. Depicted on the flag is a coiled rattlesnake 
and the words “Dont [or, Don’t] Tread on Me.” 
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[5] Tyler Quintin Bensch 
 
 On January 6, 2021, a 20-year-old white male named Tyler Quintin Bensch was pictured 
wearing the following items while on restricted Capitol grounds: 
 

1. green military fatigues and tan gloves;  
2. a military-type helmet and goggles with the brand name “SMITH” in white on a black 

strap;  
3. a tactical vest with a patch associated with the “Three Percenters” movement (i.e., “III”);  
4. a black gas mask with a green filter; and  
5. a drab colored scarf with a distinct pattern.  

 
 Bensch also possessed:  
 

1. one or more chemical irritant canisters on the front of his tactical vest;  
2. a black radio and antennae on his left side; and  
3. a GoPro style camera mounted on his right shoulder.  

 
 The following are images of Bensch obtained from open-source videos or images taken 
within the restricted Capitol Grounds:  
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Actions of Subgroup B at The Tunnel 

 Cole, Preller, Crowley, Rockholt, and Bensch were present on the Lower West Terrace and 
in The Tunnel on January 6, 2021. Each of the individuals joined the group of rioters who were 
attempting to force their way past the officers responsible for securing The Tunnel, an entry to the 
Capitol that provides immediate and unobstructed access to sensitive areas and offices used by 
Members of Congress. The following images depict B SQUAD members Cole, Preller, Crowley, 
and Rockholt preparing to enter and then entering The Tunnel. In the top left image below, Bensch 
is using a digital device in a manner consistent with taking pictures or recording video of the area, 
of the crowd, and of The Tunnel. 
 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Case 1:22-mj-00184-RMM   Document 5-1   Filed 08/29/22   Page 15 of 40

210 of 315



Page 16 of 40 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 During the siege of The Tunnel that stretched from 2:41 p.m. for more than two hours, 
rioters pushed into The Tunnel and were repelled in a constant back-and-forth of heave-ho efforts 
by the rioters and resistance by the officers. Some members of Congress were sheltering in place 
near that entrance. The effort ultimately failed. 
 
 A full review of the applicable surveillance footage, including video of such individuals 
approaching the entrance to the tunnel, shows that Cole, Preller, Crowley, and Rockholt went into 
The Tunnel while Bensch remained only just outside. While inside The Tunnel, Cole, Preller, 
Crowley, and Rockholt confronted and assisted the crowd in confronting the police officers that 
were preventing The Tunnel and the Capitol from being breached. Specifically, while inside The 
Tunnel, Cole, Preller, Crowley, and Rockholt added their force, momentum, bodies, and efforts to 
the other rioters in a “heave-ho” effort. This put intense aggregate pressure on the police line in 
front of the rioters.  
 
 On the south side of The Tunnel, Preller was the closest in proximity to police, pushing his 
way forward to a point where Preller was essentially the person behind the person who was directly 
against police officers. Also, on the south side of The Tunnel, Crowley and Cole were in what is 
roughly equivalent to the third and fourth rows of rioters behind the police line. On the north side 
of The Tunnel, Rockholt was similarly in the third or fourth row, joining the rioters in pushing 
against the police line. Due to the tightly packed nature of the rioters in The Tunnel, Cole, Preller, 
Crowley, and Rockholt were all within a matter of feet of the police line when they lent their bodies 
to the rioters’ collective “heave-ho” efforts to breach the line of police officers and force their way 
into the Capitol. 
 
 As a direct result of the combined actions of Cole, Preller, Crowley, Rockholt, and the 
other rioters in The Tunnel at that time, the rioters penetrated deeper into The Tunnel, the police 

Case 1:22-mj-00184-RMM   Document 5-1   Filed 08/29/22   Page 16 of 40

211 of 315



Page 17 of 40 

line in was pushed farther back, and the rioters came closer to breaching that entry into the Capitol 
than at any other point on January 6, 2021.  
 
 After the officers succeeded in repelling Cole, Preller, Crowley, Rockholt, and other rioters 
out of The Tunnel, Rockholt picked up a clear riot shield with a USCP seal that appears to have 
been taken from officers by other rioters. The five made their way from The Tunnel to the west 
side of the Lower West Terrace where Bensch rinsed out Rockholt’s eyes.  
 
 The following images show Cole, Preller, Crowley, Rockholt, and Bensch leaving The 
Tunnel, Rockholt picking up the USCP riot shield, and Bensch member rinsing out Rockholt’s 
eyes following deployment of chemical irritants in the area. 
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 While on the Lower West Terrace, Bensch used one of his chemical irritants to spray the 
face of an individual who an unknown member of the crowd claimed was “Antifa.” Based on a 
review of a video of this incident, it does not appear that the individual who was sprayed by Bensch 
posed any type of threat to Bensch or others. The following images show Bensch spraying the 
other individual, the victim appearing to be in pain after being sprayed, and Bensch looking in the 
direction of the victim.  
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 Video from various sources shows Crowley and Rockholt heading west, towards First 
Street, NW. In the surveillance video, it appears that Bensch carried the riot shield Rockholt took 
from the Lower West Terrace.  
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The Identification of Certain B Squad Members 

According to records and information obtained from Hilton Corporation employees, 
including those employed at the Hampton Inn Washington-Downtown-Convention Center located 
in Washington, D.C.: 

 
1. Between on or about December 23 to 25, 2021, a client called the “Black Group” reserved 

fifteen hotel rooms for January 5 to 7, 2021, at the Hampton Inn Washington-Downtown 
Convention Center. The “Client Representative” for the group was B Leader (whose 
identity is known to the FBI). A credit card in B Leader’s name was used to reserve the 
rooms.  

2. Between on or about January 4 and 5, 2021, approximately forty individuals associated 
with the group’s reservation checked into the hotel and were given approximately twenty 
rooms on the hotel’s third floor, including B Leader, Cole, Crowley, Rockholt, and Bensch. 
The group checked out on January 7, 2021. 

3. According to Witness 1, a hotel employee, the group used white and gray Chrysler 
minivans, and, on January 6, 2021, group members were wearing tactical gear such as 
military style vests, zip ties, pepper spray, and clip-on knives, and had police-type batons, 
helmets, and masks.4 

 

Benjamin Cole 

Cole has been identified as engaging in the conduct attributed to him above based on, 
among other things, the following: 

 
1. In or around March and May 2021, Cole was interviewed by the FBI regarding the events 

of January 6. During the initial interview (in-person), Cole admitted being in Washington, 
D.C., on January 6, 2021. Cole denied that he or anyone that he was with was close to the 
Capitol. Cole believed that the closest he got was a road in front of the Capitol. During a 
second interview, Cole admitted that he was within a “courtyard area” and saw ten to 
twelve riot shields on the ground. Cole denied picking up or taking any of the riot shields. 
Based on the context of Cole’s statement, as well as open source and other video of police 
riot shields within the restricted Capitol Grounds, it appears Cole’s admission to being 
within a “courtyard area” and seeing riot shields on the ground was a reference to being 
within the restricted Capitol Grounds.  

 
4  Another hotel employee, who said he/she had a medical condition that caused memory problems, advised agents 
that a couple members of the group were wearing clothing that resembled armor, but the group did not have weapons. 
This employee also believed that the group was driving a white SUV displaying a window decal of former President 
Trump. 
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2. Based on a comparison of Cole’s Florida driver’s license image and the video and images 
of Cole’s exposed face with sunglasses, it appears that Cole is the person identified as Cole 
above. 

3. Hotels records reflect Cole as one of the guests associated with the Black Group 
reservation. Cole was in the same room as Crowley. 

4. An FBI agent interviewed Cole in person on March 18, 2021, and May 11, 2021. That same 
agent viewed photographs of Cole on January 6,2021, showing Cole leaving The Tunnel 
and at other times on that same date. The agent identifies that Cole, the person he 
interviewed, is the same individual in the photos from January 6, 2021.  

5. On January 15, 2022, Your Affiant interviewed a tipster. This tipster had interacted with 
Cole in a friendly, social setting (a bar) numerous times. When I showed the tipster photos 
of Cole on January 6, 2021, the tipster responded, “Yes, that looks like him.” 

6. According to Verizon records, telephone number (352) 360-XXXX was subscribed to 
Benjamin Cole (“Cole Phone”) between approximately August 2017 and April 2021. The 
address listed for Cole in the Verizon records is the same as Cole’s address according to 
Florida driver’s license records. According to information obtained pursuant to a search 
warrant, Cole Phone was identified as having utilized a cell site consistent with providing 
service to a geographic area that included the interior of the United States Capitol building 
on January 6, 2021. 
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7. Based on a review of public images on Cole Instagram, there is an image of Cole in which 
a tattoo of small yellow rectangles is visible on Cole’s right wrist. A similar tattoo is visible 
on the right wrist of the individual identified above as Cole on January 6. The image on the 
left below is from Cole Instagram. The image on the right is an image from a video of Cole 
at the entrance of the tunnel on the Capitol’s west side. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8. Another image from Cole Instagram appears to depict Cole wearing body armor with a 
unique patch on the upper right portion of Cole’s chest (left image below). Cole wore 
similar body armor with what appears to be the same unique patch on the upper right 
portion of his chest at the Capitol on January 6 (right image below). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9. According to Facebook records, Cole Instagram is registered to an individual with the first 
name of “Ben” (i.e., Cole’s first name) and no last name was provided. The account’s 
vanity name and account identifier is “i_am_zombenji” and Cole Phone is listed as the 
accounts verified phone number. In addition, as referenced above, public postings on the 
account appear to contain images of Cole.  
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10. On or about January 2022, the following message was posted on Cole’s Facebook account 
apparently regarding his conduct on January 6 and the instant investigation. The message 
states: 

This isn’t really a post I want to make, but I will make it because it’s funny to 
me . . . . . . . . . 

I just want the FBI agent that’s still investing [sic] me know . . . . . most anyone 
you call knows absolutely nothing about what I did in January of 2021. I also did 
nothing wrong while I was where I was. I would further like to add that you are 
wasting tax payer dollars by continuing to investigate something that will lead you 
to absolutely nothing. 

My closing arguments are will forever include that, you are a joke and you’re [sic] 
bureau is a joke. Why don’t you do something productive with your time and 
investigate the members of Congress for insider trading? Because I really want to 
know how someone who’s [sic] salary is $174,000 a year, was able to increase 
their net worth into the millions in less than a decade. 

Thank you for your time. I’m glad it was wasted on me  
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Brian Preller 

Preller has been identified as engaging in the conduct attributed to him above based on, 
among other things, the following: 

 
1. As part of this investigation, Witness 3, an individual whose identity is known to the FBI, 

who has known Preller for more than a decade, and who is familiar with Preller’s 
appearance, was shown one or more images of the individual identified above as Preller at 
the Capitol on January 6. Witness 3 identified the individual in the photos as Preller. 

2. According to records obtained from Enterprise Rent-a-Car, Preller rented a gray 2020 
Chrysler Pacifica in Leesburg, Florida, from January 5-8, 2021. The vehicle’s mileage 
when returned was approximately 1,728 more than when it was provided to Preller. Of 
note, the distance between Leesburg, Florida, and Washington, D.C., is approximately 845 
miles. Preller’s phone number associated with the reservation was (352) 551-XXXX 
(“Preller Phone 1”).  

3. According to Witness 3, Preller Phone 1 was a phone number previously used by Preller 
in early 2021. According to T-Mobile records, Preller Phone 1 was subscribed to Corporate 
Resources Investments from approximately May 2018 until September 2021. As described 
above, according to Florida Department of State, Division of Corporations’ online records, 
Corporate Resources Investments, Inc., is an inactive Florida corporation who registered 
agent and only officer/director is the individual named herein as B Leader. 

4. According to cell site location information, Preller Phone 1 was in the vicinity of the U.S. 
Capitol during the afternoon on January 6.  

5. According to Facebook records, an account with the vanity name and account identifier of 
“brian.preller.37” is registered to “Brian Preller” (“Preller Facebook”), and associated with 
a telephone number that was at that time subscribed to Preller’s ex-wife, according to T-
Mobile records (“Preller Phone 2”). Public postings on this account appear to reflect 
Preller’s connection to events at the Capitol on January 6, 2021, including: 

a. A picture from April 9, 2021, showing Preller on a bed, underneath an American 
flag, and holding an object that appears to be the same type of walking stick Preller 
carried at the Capitol on January 6th. The image on the left below is from Preller 
Facebook. The image on the right below is from open-source video of Preller at the 
Capitol on January 6. During an interview of Witness 3, Witness 3 identified both 
individuals pictured as Preller. 
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b. In December 2021, Preller sent the image above of him laying underneath a U.S. 
flag to a female acquaintance. In the related messages, Preller wrote, “Washington 
DC January 6th […] I was one of the ones in the capital.” 

c. A posting from June 7, 2021, shows an image of Preller with what appears to be a 
black flag on a black flagpole. The black flag appears to be the same as the one B 
Leader and other members of B SQUAD carried on January 6. During an interview 
of Witness 3, Witness 3 identified Preller as the individual in this image. 

 

d. Accompanying the image of Preller with the black flag and flagpole was the 
following comment from Preller, which appears to contain a reference to Preller, 
the flag, and others being at the Capitol in coded language: “Still got the flag my 
dude. The one that we carried together, at that one place when we followed our 
oaths.”  
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John Edward Crowley 

Crowley has been identified as engaging in the conduct attributed to him above based on, 
among other things, the following: 

1. Hotel records reflect that Crowley was one of the guests associated with the Black Group 
reservation and was in the same room as Cole. 

2. According to AT&T records, telephone number (352) 494-XXXX (“Crowley Phone”) was 
subscribed to “Edward Crowley” from at least July 2011 to April 2022. The address 
associated with Crowley Phone is the same address associated with Crowley’s Florida 
driver’s license. 

3. According to information obtained pursuant to a search warrant, Crowley Phone was 
identified as having utilized a cell site consistent with providing service to a geographic 
area that included the interior of the United States Capitol building on January 6, 2021. 

4. The image of Crowley associated with his Florida driver’s license is consistent with the 
partially obstructed facial images of the individual identified above as Crowley above from 
January 6, 2021. 

5. Witness 4, an individual whose identity is known to the FBI and a former member of the 
Guardians of Freedom, is listed in the hotel records as having been part of the Black Group 
reservation. Witness 4 is also familiar with members of Subgroup B. During an interview 
with Witness 4, they identified a Florida driver’s license image of Crowley as an individual 
they know. When shown an image of Crowley on January 6, Witness 4 identified the 
pictured individual known to them as “Ed” or Eddie or the nickname “Palm Fronds.” 
Witness 4 identified Ed Palm Fronds as one of the members of Guardians of Freedom. 

6. In February 2022, an FBI Task Force Officer surveilled and interacted with Crowley. When 
I showed the TFO photographs of Crowley from January 6, 2021, the TFO stated that the 
individual in the pictures is the same as the individual that he surveilled and with whom he 
interacted. 

7. Agents have identified an Instagram account with the display name of “eddiepalmfronds.” 
The @eddiepalmfronds account was used pre-January 6, 2021, to post information 
regarding the belief that the results of the 2020 presidential election were fraudulent and 
that action needed to be taken. Specifically, in or around December 24, 2020, 
@eddiepalmfronds posted the following comment in relation to an advertisement for a 
Guardians of Freedom fundraiser purportedly intended to “assist with our next critical 
mission on January 6th, 2021”: 

All, Please consider donating for a great cause. Patriots will go to DC Jan. 6th to 
show their patriotism and support during the time Congress will count Electoral 
College votes as this was of course a fraudulent election. We want to protect the 
people and Trump supporters as we stand up for our liberty and our Constitution. 
We are in need of you all to help us fundraise for this event. We are also in need of 
tremendous support from all of you for our members to deploy, help secure and 
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Jonathan Rockholt 

Rockholt has been identified as engaging in the conduct attributed to him above based on, 
among other things, the following: 

1. Hotel records reflect that Rockholt was one of the guests associated with the Black Group 
reservation. 

2. Investigators have reviewed images of Rockholt from his Florida driver’s license, booking 
photos from a 2016 arrest in Flagler County, Florida, and images that appear to be of 
Rockholt from the publicly available portions of the Rockholt Facebook account. 
Investigators have also compared open-source images and videos of the individual believed 
to be Rockholt on January 6 (as described above) and images and video that appear to be 
Rockholt at other events. While no individual image or video was dispositive as to 
Rockholt’s identity as the member of Subgroup B attributed to him above, the cumulative 
result of such comparisons and the information described below indicates that there is at 
least probable cause to believe that Rockholt is such person. 

3. For example, investigators reviewed an image from a Facebook website of a group of 
individuals at an unidentified event. On the right side of the group is an individual who 
appears to be Rockholt based on a comparison of the known/suspected images of Rockholt. 
In the picture, Rockholt and the others appear to be standing in front of a III% related flag 
and Rockholt appears to be wearing a shirt with a skull like the skull logo associated with 
the Marvel character the Punisher. In addition, Rockholt is standing in front of a Gadsden 
flag based on another image from the Facebook website that shows the flag unobstructed. 
As described above, the tactical vest believed to be worn by Rockholt on January 6 
contained a III% logo on the front, and his helmet had a Gadsden flag on the side and a 
skull like the skull logo associated with the Punisher on the back. Cropped portions of the 
referenced Facebook images are below. 
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4. An open-source video posted on August 2, 2021, which appears to be of an anti-vaccine 
protest in Orlando, Florida, appears to depict Rockholt wearing shoes like the ones worn 
by the individual believed to be Rockholt at the Capitol on January 6. Specifically, in the 
video, Rockholt appears to be wearing black gym shoes with a white sole, black bottom, 
and a logo consistent with an “S.” On the left below is an image of Rockholt at the Orlando 
protest. The images to the right depict Rockholt’s shoes on January 6 at the Capitol. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. Investigators reviewed an image from a Facebook page that appears to depict a group of 
individuals, including Rockholt, exhibiting support for former President Trump on a 
bridge, on or before July 22, 2020. In such image, Rockholt appears to be wearing the same 
or similar sunglasses to those he wore at the Capitol on January 6. On the left below is an 
image of Rockholt on the bridge. The image on the right depicts Rockholt’s sunglasses on 
January 6 at the Capitol. The nose and the profile of Rockholt as seen in the Facebook page 
are also the same as the nose and profile of the individual seen at the Capitol on January 6, 
2021. 
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6. Investigators reviewed open-source video that appears to depict Rockholt walking in 
Washington, D.C., on January 6, 2021, prior to the attack on the Capitol. In such video, 
Rockholt appears to be wearing sunglasses like those referenced in the subparagraph above 
and a thick red wristwatch. Images depicting Rockholt at the Capitol on January 6 appear 
to show him wearing the same or a similar red wristwatch. On the left below is an image 
that appears to be Rockholt walking in Washington, D.C., on January 6. The image on the 
right depicts Rockholt’s wristwatch on January 6 at the Capitol. The image below is taken 
from Rockholt Facebook. 
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7. Investigators compared open-source video and images that appear to depict Rockholt at the 
Capitol riot to images obtained from the search warrant executed upon the Rockholt 
Facebook. In the former, the individual believed to be Rockholt wears a green gaiter with 
a vertical seam on the front: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8. Investigators comp   g       kholt Facebook, which is 
an apparent selfie. The image below was sent by Rockholt to an associate on January 5, 
2021, accompanying a statement indicating he was enroute to Washington D.C. 
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Network Elements on January 7, 2021, that appear to be located in Washington, 
D.C. (“Washington”), North Carolina (“Raleigh_MTX08”) and (“Raleigh”), South 
Carolina (“Charleston_MTX4”), and Florida (“Jacksonville2”). 

d. According to Facebook records, Rockholt Facebook (i.e., “jonny.rockholt”) is 
subscribed to an individual using the name “Jonny Rocky,” whose registered email 
addresses are “jonnyrockholt@[…].com” and “jonny.rockholt@facebook.com.” A 
review of public portions of Rockholt Facebook identified, among other things: (1) 
a November 3, 2020 posting (i.e., on the day of the 2020 presidential election) of 
an image of a Gadsden flag flying at, what appears to be the residence associated 
with Rockholt’s address, based on open source images of the residence (see below); 
(2) an April 6, 2021 posting relating to and critical of the investigation and 
prosecution of those involved in the attack on the Capitol (see below); and (3) 
images of Rockholt’s unconcealed face. 
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4. On or about December 12, 2020, three days before the image above was posted to Bensch’s 
Facebook account, a pro-Trump rally was held in Washington, D.C., which resulted in 
violent clashes between Trump supporters and counter protestors. Open-source videos 
associated with the event contain images of Bensch—based on that individuals’ helmet, 
goggles, body armor, military fatigues, drab scarf, and right shoulder camera as the 
individual identified as Bensch in the images above. The two bottom photos are Bench on 
January 6  2021  
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5. In addition, at least one video from December 12, 2020, appears to depict this individual 
wearing a ring on his right forefinger. The ring matches the ring Bensch is wearing in 
images from Bensch Facebook. The image on the left below is from one such video. The 
two images on the right were taken from public postings on Bensch Facebook. Although 
the video is from December 12, 2020, the helmet, goggles, and scarf match the items that 
Bensch wore at the Capitol on January 6, 2021. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
6. According to a search of the website www.backstage.com, which is used to, among other 

things, find professional acting roles, Bensch has a public profile on which it appears that 
he has posted images of himself wearing, what appear to be the same or very similar 
military fatigues and drab scarf as those he wore on January 6, 2021. 
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General Information 

Questions or comments pertaining to this policy guide (PG) can be directed to: 

Federal Bureau of Investigation Headqua1ters (FBil·IQ), 
Information Management Division (IlvID) 

Prepublication Review Office:! pr FBIPREPlJB@fbi.gov 

Supersession Information 

This docwnent supersedes the Prepubhcation Review Policy Guide (0792PG). 

This document and its contents are the property of the FBI. If t11e document or its contents are 
provided to an outside agency, it and its contents are not to be distributed outside of that agency 

without the written pem1ission of the unit listed in the contact section of this PG. 
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1. Introduction 

1.1. Purpose 

This policy guide (PG) outlines specific policies and procedures regarding prepublication review 
and establishes requirements regulating individual conduct. 

Under the First Arnendrnent to the United States Constitution, Americans enjoy the right to free 
speech, which includes a right to publish. However, with regard to public employees, 
specifically, Federal Bureau oflnvestigation (FBI) personnel, this right rnust comport with the 
FBI' s significant law enforcement and national security responsibilities and the FBI' s interest in 
maintaining effective and efficient operations. Accordingly, in matters concerning the use of FBI 
inforrnation, it is necessary for the :FBJ to protect its information from disclosures that could 
endanger substantial government interests. This policy sets forth program guidance relating to 
disclosure of FBI information outside of official use and ensures adequate protections for FBI 
personnel's constitutionaJ!y protected rights as citizens. 

1.2. Scope 

This PG applies to all FBI personnel. 

1.3. Exemptions 

There are no exemptions to this PG. 

1. 
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2. Roles and Responsibilities 
2.1. Information i'\fanagement Division (!MD) 

JMD is responsible for providing guidance on all prepublication reviev,,. issues, including those 
not explicitly covered in this PG. 

2.2. IMD Assistant Director (AD) 

The l1vID AD must: 

• Oversee a comprehensive, FBI-wide prepublication review program. 

• Serve as the final decision maker on adverse decision appeals, subject to the exceptions 
in subsection.43.2. below. 

2.3. :Prepublication Review Otlice, Record/lnformation Dissemination Section (RIDS), 
ThlD 

The Prepublication Review Office must: 

• Establish and disseminate policies, procedures, and training relating to the development, 
coordination, and overall management of the prepublication review program. 

• Review and adjudicate prepublication submissions. 

2.4. Federal Bureau of lnvestigation Headquarters (]<'BIHQ) Division, Field Offices 
(FO), and Legal Attaches (Legat) Heads 

FBfHQ division, FO, and Legat heads, or their designees, must designate subject matter experts 
(SME) to review prepublication submissions upon request from IMD. 

2.5. FBl Personnel 

FBI personnel must: 

• Comply with prepublication review requirements and with the following agreements: 

o FD '79L "FBJ Enrn1ovrnent Agreement," signed by all FBI personnel as a condition of 
employment 

o Analogous forms, such as the FD--868. "Nondisclosure Agreement for Joint Task 
Force Members, Contractors, Deta·i!ees, Assianees, and Interns," signed by task force 
members, contractors, and the like 

o FD-857, "Sensitive Information Nondisdo:mre Af!-reemenf' 

o Standard Fom1 (SF}-312, "Classified Infonnation Non.disclosure A11,reement," signed 
by all FBI personnel as a condition of being granted access to classified information 

o Form 4414, "Sensitive Companmen.ted Information Nondisclosure Arrreement" 
signed by all FBI personnel ½~th access to Sensitive Compartmented :Information 
(SCI) information as a condition of this access 

• Contact their respective chief division counsel (CDC) or the Office of the General 
Counsel (OGC..:), and comply with the Self..Reporting .Requiremen!.s Pobcv Guide 
(1037PG), before malcing any comt appearances or responses to subpoenas in a personal 

2 
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capacity that could require them to divulge FBI information set forth in Title 28 Code of 
Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 16, Subpart B . 

3 
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All information created and acquired by current and fonner FBI personnel in connection with 
official FBI duties, as well as all official material to which FBr personnel have access, is the 
property of the United States. FBI personnel must surrender all materials in their possession. that 
contain FBI information upon :FBI demand or upon separation from the FBL Unauthorized 
disclosure, misuse, or negligent handling of FBI infonnation could adversely affect national 
security, place human life in jeopardy, result in the denial of due process, obstruct j ustice, 
prevent the FBI from effectively discharging its responsibilities, or violate federal law. 

Before disclosing FBI information outside of their official duty requirements, FBI personnel 
must submit the proposed disclosures to the Prepublication Review Office, RJDS, 111:0 for 
review. This prepublication revievv affords the FBI the opportunity to ( l) assess whether the 
proposed disclosure includes prohibited infon11ation, (2) advise submitting FBI personnel of any 
such concerns, and (3) work \>v-ith the submitter to resolve such concerns. 

The legality or propriety of a proposed disclosure will be reviewed during the prepublication 
review. The :FBI prepublication review process does not encompass factual accuracy or grammar 
checks of the proposed disclosure. Completion of the prepublication review process does not 
constitute an FBI endorsement of the author or the material disclosed. FBI personnel who fail to 
comply with the prepublication review process or who rnake prohibited disclosures are subject to 
administrative actions, clearance revocations, disciplinary actions, civil suits, and/or criminal 
sanctions, as appropriate. 

Compliance \Vith this PG does not relieve FBI personnel from the obligation to comply with FBI 
outside employment rules or 5 CFR Part 2635 (Standards of Ethical Conduct for Employees of 
the Executive Bran.ch), in.eluding any applicable limitations on compensation.. lt is FBI 
personnel's obligation to seek guidance from IN.ID and the Office of faltegritv and Compliance 
(OIC) on all prepublication review issues not explicitly covered in this section. 

All provisions of this PG are severable. If a court should detem1ine that any provision is 
unenforceable, that provision would be void, but the remainder would continue in fi.dl force. 
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4. Processes and Procedures 
4.1. Scope of Prepublication 

4.1.1. Oral, \Vritten, or Electronic Disclosures 

This policy applies to any public disclosure by FBI personnel, including oral, written, or 
electronic, of any informati on identified in 2<,;_!it~i'i-~?~Jig.n.4.J.,.1., of this PG. Methods of disclosure 
include, but are not limited to, resumes, biogs, Web sites, articles, and books. This PG also 
applies to disclosures of drafts, initial manuscripts, and similar preliminary works to anyone, 
including non-FBI attorneys, ghost \/.,Titers, co-authors, and publishers. The only exception to this 
rule is for disclosures by FBI personnel who are testifying as defendants in criminal cases in the 
United States. In that limited situation, this policy does not cover disclosures made during 
testimony or during privileged conversations between FBI personnel and their attorneys. 

FBI personnel who wish to make court appearances or respond to subpoenas in their personal 
capacities, which could require them to divulge FBI information, should contact their CDCs or 
the OGC for additional guidance. Disclosure of Department of Justice (DOJ)/F.Bt information in 
federal or state proceedings is subject to the provisions of 28 CFR Part 16, Subpart B. 

4.1.2. Extemporaneous Oral Disclosures 

Advance review of contemporaneous oral disclosures in general ca1mot be done; however, this 
does not mean that FBI personnel may disregard the requirements of review when making 
planned oral disclosures. At a minimum, FBI personnel. must provide outlines of their 
presentations. Except in those rare instances in which deferring comment would not be 
practicable due to unusuaJly compelling circumstances beyond an individual's control, FBl 
personnel must defor comment until they can comply with this policy by providing an outline 
prior to public disclosure. lf an individual makes a disclosure without the appropriate review, he 
or she may be subject to post-disclosure administrative action, clearnnce revocation, disciplinary 
action, civil suits, and/or criminal sanctions, if warranted by the content of the disclosure. 

4.l.3. Disclosures Not Subject to Prepublication Policy 

Official speeches, writings, presentations, and publications made in the petformance of official 
duties aJe outside the scope of this PG. Personnel should consult the Public Affairs Policv C,uide: 
A1edia Relations, .External Communications. anclPersonat Use olSocialiHedia 0002PG) for 
guidance. 

Disclosures that clearly have nothing to do with the FBI or its activities, investigations, missions, 
or operations and are not otherwise related to any FBl information are not subject to this PG. 

Disclosures protected by law include disclosures to Congress (including by members of the 
militaiy) regarding illegality, waste, fraud, abuse, mismanagement, public health or safety threats 
that could expose confidential government agents or compromise national security (see Section 
~)-

4.l.4. Prohibited Disclosures 

.FBI personnel who fail to comply with the prepublication review process or w ho make 
prohibited disc.losures are subject to administrative actions, clearance revocations, disciplinary 
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actions, civil suits, and/or criminal sanctions, as appropriate. FBI personnel must not disclose to 
unauthorized recipients: 

• Information protected from disclosure by the Privacy Act of 1974, as amended. 

• Classified information, the disclosure of which could harm national security. To the 
extent that proposed disclosures involve classified information, prepublication review 
processing will be conducted in conformance with 28 Cf'R § 17.18, in addition to 28 
CFR.Part 16. 

• Information that reveals sensitive law enforcement, intelligence, counterintelligence, or 
counterterrorism techniques, sources, or methods of the FBI or any other governmental 
entity. 

• Information that would reveal grand jury material protected from disclosure by Rule 6(e) 
of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure (FRCP). 

• Information that would tend to reveal the identity of a confidential human source (CHS) 
or the identity of a private institution or a government agency or authority when the 
information was furnished on a confidential basis. 

• Information that relates to any sensitive operational details or the substantive merits of 
any ongoing or open investigation or case. 

• Proprietary information and trade secrets. 

• Information pertaining to wiretaps or intercepts, electronic communications (including 
storage mechanisms), or foreign intelligence protected or regulated by Title IlI (Title 18 
United States Code [U.S.C.] §§ 25]0-2520) or the Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Act 
{FISA) (50 U.S.C §§ 1801-1862). 

• Information pertaining to currency transaction. reports regulated or protected by 31 U.S.C. 
§§ 5313-5319. 

• Tax return information regulated or protected by 26 U.S.C. § 6103. 

• Information pe1taining to contractor bids or proposals or source-selection information 
before the award of the procurement contract to which the information relates. 

• Any other information that is prohibited by executive order (EO), law, statute, or 
regulation 

• Any other information that the FBI would have discretion to \Vithhold from disclosure 
pursuant to civil discovery obligations, court orders, the Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA), or any other statute, law, or regulation. 

4.1.5. Accountability for Permitted Disclosures 

Disclosures will not be prohibited, pursuant to this PG, solely because they are critical or 
disparaging of the FBI, the government, or any individual. Any disclosures by current FBI 
personnel, however, that adversely affect the ability to effectively and efficiently fulfill their 
official responsibilities or that interfere with FBI operations may subject the individuals to 
administrative or disciplinary actions for the consequences of the disclosures. Examples of 

6 
UNCLASSI:Flf:D 

247 of 315



UNCLASSIFIED 
Prepublication Review Policy Guide 

disclosures that are not prohibited under this PG, but still may subject FBI personnel to 
disciplinaTy actions, are the disclosures of private grievances and disclosures that significantly 
impair discipline or harmony among co\vorkers. These types of disclosures could have 
detrimental effects on close working relationships where personal loyalty or confidence is 
necessary, impede the performance of the duties of FBI personnel, or interfere with regular FBI 
operations. In such cases, FBI personnel will not be prohibited from making such disclosures, 
but they may be held accountable for the consequences of the disclosures. This subsection does 
not apply to disclosures not subject to the prepublication review policy (see subsection.41.J.). 

FBI personnel may ordinarily speak or write about matters unrelated to their employment if they 
are expressing their personal views. However, when expressing such views to an audience that is 
aware of an individual 's FBI employment, FBI personnel must make clear that they are stating 
their personal opinions, not the opinions of the FBI, and not their official opinions as FB 1 
employees, contractors, or other members of FBI personnel. 

Certain matters of significant public concern are so closely related to the responsibilities and 
missions of the FBI that there is a significant likelihood that any comments on such matters by 
FBI personnel will be perceived as reflecting an individual ' s official view in his or her official 
capacity with the FBI. Therefore, when communicating on matters closely related to the 
responsibilities, missions, or operations of the FBI, FBI personnel must make absolutely clear 
that they are expressing their personal opinions. Further, certain personnel may be precluded 
from publicly communicating their personal opinions on particular matters. For ex.ample, it may 
be inappropriate for a senior FBI official to publicly express his or her personal view regarding 
matters within the jurisdiction of the FBL This is because others are likely to perceive the 
personal views of a senior management employee possessing substantial policy-making authority 
as indistinguishable from his or her official position as a senior FBI manager. 

4.2. Administration and l\fanagement of Prepublication 

4.2.l. Submission of PrepubJkation Review Requests 

In general, FBI personnel must submit to IlvID the full text of all proposed disclosures containing 
FBI information at least 30 working days in advance of the proposed disclosure. Prepublication 
review submissions must be made in writing, even if oral disclosure is contemplated. FBI 
personnel must first submit prepublication requests to their supervisors or the relevant S11.Es 
prior to submitting them to JlVlD. Approval from the individual's supervisor or SME must be 
submitted to IMD with the prepublication request. FBI personnel should consult the 
Prepublication Review Office BONET page for additional guidance. Mate1ial should be 
submitted either by unclassified e-mail at FBIPREPUB@tbi.gov or by mail addressed to the 
Prepublication Review Office, Information Mana lement Division 170 Marcel Drive, 
Winchester VA 22602-4842 b7E 

4.2.2. Submissions That Contain Operational or Intelligence Matte1·s 

Submissions that contain operational or intelligence matters by nature require review outside the 
prepublication review office. Accordingly, submitters should not expect proposed disclosures of 
such material to be reviewed ,vithin 30 working days. Although IM.D will endeavor to review 
materials in a timely manner, the prepublication review requirement ,,,,~ 11 not be satisfied until 
reviews aJe complete and FIH personnel have been notified. 
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4.2.3. Submissions Developed in Pursuit of Academic Degrees 

During their FBl employment, FBf personnel occasionally elect to pursue academic degrees that 
require them to conduct research-based studies, write thesis papers, or create other projects as 
part of their educational pursuits. To the extent th.at information contained in an education­
related product is the type of FBI information prohibited from djscJosure under subsection 4 . .l .4 , 
that document constitutes an oral , written, or electronic disclosure within the scope of this PG 
and must be submitted for prepublication revie"\v. Because of the nature of academic studies and 
the deadlines often associated with completing academic work, FBI personnel are highly advised 
to submit, in accordance vvith subsection 4.2.1 ., any abstracts that describe, in sufficient detail , 
the scope of work to be completed in order to secure preliminary approval of the desired 
submission' s subject, as well as information reasonably foreseen to be contained in any resulting 
publication. Upon the FBI personnel member' s finalization of the submission, he or she must 
submit the docurnent for final review and approval via the prepublication review process. 

4.2.4. Submissions Involving Human-Based Research 

FBI personnel seeking publication based on research conducted on human subjects are required 
to receive approval by the FBI Institutional Review Boa.rd [for Human Subject Research] (IRB) 
prior to conducting the research or submitting any publications for review to LvID. The IRB is 
responsible for the prior review of all research projects that are conducted or supported by the 
FBI and that involve human subjects and are not otherwise exempt. Research involves human 
subjects under FBI regulations even if it only includes the use of nonpublic infom1ation about 
living human beings. For an overview of the [RB, see the "Overview of the Institutional Review 
Board." 

171e JR.B may approve the project, reject the project, or require modifications in order for the 
project to be approved. Approved projects involving human-based research are subject to 
continuing review by the IRB at least once per year If the IRB determines that an approved 
project has failed to meet the yearly continued review requirement in a timely manner, has not 
been conducted in accordance with its requirements, or has resulted in unexpected, serious harm 
to the subjects, the project may be suspended. li\1D will not review any publication that has 
fai led to receive initial [RB approval or any subsequent requisite IRB approvals. 

4.3. Information Management Division Prepublication Review 

IMD must conduct the prepublication review, answer questions from FBI personnel about the 
prepublication review process, and review and process all requests as fo llows: 

• Ilv.ID may consult or coordinate v.~th FBI personnel who can assist in determining how to 
proceed with the prepublication review process. This may include seeking assistance to 
assess the content or potential impact of the proposed disclosure or to initiate appropriate 
responses to the proposed disclosure. In such instances, the proposed disclosure will be 
fo1warded to the FBIHQ division(s) that has subject matter expertise concerning the 
proposed disclosure. FJHHQ division heads must designate points of contact (POC) for 
prepublication review coordination. 

• IMD may consult with other government agencies (OGA) as needed. 
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• Ilv.ID should infonn the Ofl-1.ce of Congressional Affairs (OCA) and the Office of Public 
Affairs (OPA) of the likely publication so that OCA and OPA may be prepared for 
subsequent congressionaJ or press inquiries. 

• If the proposed disclosure includes material that HvlD finds cannot be disclosed, Il'.vID 
must notify the submitter and propose modifications that would make the material 
acceptable. Ilv1D must work with the individual and attempt to resolve all concerns. 

4.3.1. Information Management Division Response Time 

u'VlD vvill respond substantively to prepublication review requests within 30 working days from 
receipt of the written requests, per 28 CFR § 17.18. Additional time may be necessary for outside 
consultations with specific FBI sections and OGAs, as well as for sensitive, large, or technical 
submissions. If the review requires additional time, Itv:ID will provide periodic progress reports. 

4.3.2. Appealing an Adverse Decision 

FBI personnel who receive adverse decisions may appeal those decisions to H~1!2.' s AD, who will 
act pursuant to a delegation of authority from the Director and process the appeals \>Vithin 15 
working days of receipt. The decision of Ilv:ID' s AD is final, ,vith the exception of decisions 
relating to the deletion of classified infomrntion, ,vhich may be appealed to the deputy Attorney 
General (DAG) pursuant to 28 CFR § 17.18(j)(3). 

4.3.3. Post-Disclosure Reviews 

Actual disclosures are subject to post-disclosure reviews. As set forth in subsection 4. J .5., an 
individual may be subject to a post-disclosure administrative or disciplinary action if the 
disclosure adversely affects the ability of other FBI personnel to effectively and efficiently fulfill 
their official responsibilities (including disclosures of private grievances or inforrnation that 
impairs discipline or harmony among coworkers) and thus has a detrimental effect on the work 
environment, impedes the performance of FBI personnel ' s duties, or interferes with the regular 
operations of the FBI 
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The following legal summaries pertain to the authorities cited in this PG and provide additional 
information for understanding the policies and procedures set forth in this PG. 

• 28 CFR § 17.18 (Prepublication Review) (Includes provisions governing appeals of 
prepublication decisions. See subsection 4.3.2.) 

• 5 CFR Parts 2635 (Standards of Ethical Conduct for Employees of the Executive Branch) 

• 5 CFR Part 3801 (Supplemental Standards of Ethical Conduct for Employees of tl1e 
Department of Justice) 

The following legal authorities provide guidance with respect to ce1tain prohibited disclosures 
(see subsection_4 .1_.4.): 

• 5 U.S.C. § 552a (Privacy Act of 1974) 

• Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure Rule 6(e) 

• 18 U .S.C. §§ 2510-2520 (Wire and electronic conununic.ations interception and 
interception of oral communications) and .50 U.S.C. §§ 1801-1862 (FISA) 

• 31 U .S.C. §§ 5313-5319 (Reports on domestic coins and currency transactions) 

• 26 U.S.C. § 6]03 (Confidentiality and disclosure of returns and return infonnation) 

• Any other information that the FBI would have discretion to withhold from disclosure 
pursuant to civil discovery obligations, the :Freedom oflnformation Act (5 U.S.C. § 552), 
EO 13 526 (Classification of National Security Information), or any other statute, law, or 
regulation. 

Disclosures protected by law (see subsection 4.1.3 ) include the following: 

• 5 U.S.C. § 7211 (governing disclosures to Congress) 

• lO U S C. § l 034, as amended by the Military Whistleblower Protection Act (governing 
disclosure to Congress by members of the military) 

• 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b )(8), as amended by the Whistleblower Protection Act (governing 
disclosures of illegality, waste, fraud, abuse, or public health or safety threats) 

• 5 U.S C. § 2303 and 28 CFR J.>art 27, the FBJ Whistleblm,ver Protection Act (governing 
disclosures of illegality, mismanagement, waste, fraud, abuse, or public health or safety 
threats) 

• 50 lJ.S.C. § 421 , et seq., the lntelligence Identities Protection Act of 1982 (governing 
disclosures that could expose confidential government agents) 

• 18 U.S.C. §§ 641,793, 794, 798, and 952 and Section 4(b) of the Subversive Activities 
Act of 1950 (50 U.S.C. § 783(b)) (statutes that protect against disclosure that may 
compromise national security) 
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6. Recordkeeping Requirements 
The prepublication review files contain a copy of the proposed publication (e.g. , manuscript, 
article, or pamphlet); correspondence between the prepublication review staff and Sl\'1:Es; notes; 
and correspondence with the author, including objections to the release of certain information 
and/or requests to modi(y portions of the publication. 

The prepublication. review files are uploaded in Sentinel into a designated case file. A new case 
file is opened each year. 
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Appendix A: References 

Applicable Policies and Other Guidance: 

• FB.l_Seal_Name_lnitials _and.Special Agent _Gold_Bm{,;e_.Pobcv _Directive _(0625D} 

• PVork Schedule Directive and Policv Guide (0576DPG} 

• FBI.Ethics and_.fntegritv.Progrmn.Policy Directive_aml_Policy Guide(07.54DPG) 

• Safeguarding Classified Nalfonal Securitv Information Directive and Policv Guide 
(0632.I)P(}} 

Applicable Forms: 

• FD--291, "FBI Employment Agreement" 

• FD-868, "Nondisclosure A11,reernent for Joint Task Force :.\fombers. Contractors. 
Detai1ees. Assignees, and l.nterns" 

• FD-857. "Sensitive foforrnation Nondisclosure _Ag._reemenf' 

• SF--312, "Classified h1fom1atlon Nondisclosure Agreement" 

• Form __ 44 l4 .. _ "Sensitive CornpartrnentedJnformation _Nondi_sdosure _Agreement" 
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Appendix B: Definitions and Acronyms 

Definitions 

Assignee: any person assigned a task with FBI-related rnaterial. 

F'BI employee: for the purposes of this policy, a full-time equivalent employee of the f'Bl who is 
authori.zed to represent the Bureau in matters involving official government business. 

FBI information: any knowledge gained through FBI employment or assignments related to the 
FBI. 

FBI personnel: individuals employed by, detailed, or assigned to the FBI, including task force 
officers, members, and participants; members of the armed forces; experts and consultants to the 
FBI; industrial and commercial contractors, licensees, certificate holders, or grantees of the FBI, 
including all subcontractors; personal service contractors of the FBI; and any other category or 
person who acts for or on behalf of the FBI, as determined by the FBI Director. 

Government contractor employee: an employee of a contractor organization conducting 
business with the FBI, the DOJ, or an OGA. 

Intern: a person working for the FB1 under special appointment. 

Prepublication review: the process whereby FBI-related information is reviewed for potential 
approval for distJibution to external sources. 

Prohibited disclosure: specific infomrntion that is not releasable to external sources. 

Proposed disclosure: FBI-related information for possible release to external sources. 

Task force officer: see the Domestic Investigations and Operations Guide (DIOG), subsection 
3.3.2.1. 

Task force member: see DIOG subsection 3.3.2.2. 

Task force participant: see DIOG subsection 3 .3 .2.3. 

Unauthorized recipient: any person without appropriate clearance to review FBJ-related 
infom1ation. 

AD 

CDC 

CFR 

CHS 

DA.G 

DlOG 

assi stant director 

chief division counsel 

Code of Federal Regulations 

confidential human source 

deputy Attorney General, 

Domestic Investigations and Operations Guide 
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DOJ 

EO 

FBI 

FBrHQ 

FISA 

FO 

FOIA. 

:FRCP 

UvfD 

IRB 

Legat 

OCA 

()GA 

OGC 

OIC 

OPA 

PG 

POC 

RIDS 

SCI 

SF 

SME 

US.C. 
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Department of Justice 

executive order 

Federal Bureau of Investigation 

Federal Bureau of Investigation Headquarters 

Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Act 

field office 

Freedom of Infonnation Act 

Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure 

l11fom1ation Management Division 

Institutional Review Board 

legal attache 

Office of Congressional Affairs 

other government agency 

Office of the General Counsel 

Office of Integrity and Compliance 

Office of Public Affairs 

policy guide 

point of contact 

Record/Information Dissemination Section 

Sensitive Compartmented Information 

standard form 

subject matter expert 

United States Code 

B-2 
UNCLASSI:Flf:D 

255 of 315
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OMB No. 1124-0004; Expires July 31, 2023

u.s. Department of Justice Exhibit B to Registration Statement
Washington, dc 20530 Pursuant to the Foreign Agents Registration Act of

1938, as amended

INSTRUCTIONS. A registrant must furnish as an Exhibit B copies of each written agreement and the terms and conditions of each oral agr eement 
with his foreign principal, including all modifications of such agreements, or, where no contract exists, a full statement of all the circumstances by 
reason of which the registrant is acting as an agent of a foreign principal. Compliance is accomplished by filing an electronic Exhibit B form at 
https://www fara.gov.

Privacy Act Statement. The filing of this document is required for the Foreign Agents Registration Act of 1938, as amended, 22 U.S.C. § 611 er seq., 
for the purposes of registration under the Act and public disclosure. Provision of the information requested is mandatory, and failure to provide 
the information is subject to the penalty and enforcement provisions established in Section 8 of the Act. Every registration statement, short form 
registration statement, supplemental statement, exhibit, amendment, copy of informational materials or other document or information filed with the 
Attorney General under this Act is a public record open to public examination, inspection and copying during the posted business hours of the 
FARA Unit in Washington, DC. Statements are also available online at the FARA Unit’s webpage: https://www fara. gov. One copy of every such 
document, other than informational materials, is automatically provided to the Secretary of State pursuant to Section 6(b) of the Act, and copies of 
any and all documents are routinely made available to other agencies, departments and Congress pursuant to Section 6(c) of the Act. The Attorney 
General also transmits a semi-annual report to Congress on the administration of the Act which lists the names of all agents registered under the Act 
and the foreign principals they represent. This report is available to the public in print and online at: https://www fara.gov

Public Reporting Burden. Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average .32 hours per response, including the 
tune for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the 
collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions 
for reducing this burden to Chief, FARA Unit, Counterintelligence and Export Control Section, National Security Division, U.S. Department of 
Justice, Washington, DC 20530; and to the Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs, Office of Management and Budget, Washington, DC 20503.

1. Name of Registrant 
Ghebi LLC

2. Registration Number
6869

3. Name of Foreign Principal
Federal State Unitary Enterprise Rossiya Segodnya International Information Agency

Check Appropriate Box:

4. 0 The agreement between the registrant and the above-named foreign principal is a formal written contract. If this box is
checked, attach a copy of the contract to this exhibit.

5. □ There is no fomial written contract between the registrant and the foreign prmcipal. The agreement with the above-named
foreign principal has resulted from an exchange of correspondence. If this box is checked, attach a copy of all pertinent 
correspondence, including a copy of any initial proposal which has been adopted by reference in such correspondence.

6. □ The agreement or understanding between the registrant and the foreign prmcipal is the result of neither a formal written
contract nor an exchange of correspondence between the parties. If this box is checked, give a complete description below of 
the terms and conditions of the oral agreement or understanding, its duration, the fees and expenses, if any, to be received.

7. What is the date of the contract or agreement with the foreign principal? 08/01/2022

8. Describe fully the nature and method of performance of the above indicated agreement or understanding.

The nature and performance of the contract are set forth in the attached contract. Registrant produces 
radio shows, newswires and web articles which are predominantly distributed by other entities. Registrant 
has editorial control over these programs, newswires and web articles and journalists are given reasonable 
creative discretion.
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9. Describe fully the activities the registrant engages in or proposes to engage in on behalf of the above foreign principal.
Registrant produces radio shows, newswires and web articles which are predominantly distributed by other 
entities. Registrant has editorial control over these programs, newswires and web articles and journalists 
are given reasonable creative discretion.

10. Will the activities on behalf of the above foreign principal include political activities as defined in Section l(o) of the Act1. 

Yes 0 No □

If yes, describe all such political activities indicating, among other things, the relations, interests or policies to be influenced 
together with the means to be employed to achieve this purpose. The response must include, but not be limited to, activities 
involving lobbying, promotion, perception management, public relations, economic development, and preparation and 
dissemination of infomiational materials.
Registrant produces radio shows, newswires and web articles which are predominantly distributed by other 
entities. Registrant has editorial control over these programs, newswires and web articles and 
journalists are given reasonable creative discretion. 11

11. Prior to the date of registration2 for this foreign principal has the registrant engaged in any registrable activities, such as political 
activities, for this foreign principal?

YesfU No [U N/A - This statement is filed to update the registrant's
agreement/contract with the foreign principal.

If yes, describe in full detail all such activities. The response should include, among other things, the relations, interests, and 
policies sought to be influenced and the means employed to achieve this purpose. If the registrant arranged, sponsored, or 
delivered speeches, lectures, social media, internet postings, or media broadcasts, give details as to dates, places of delivery, 
names of speakers, and subject matter. The response must also include, but not be limited to, activities involving lobbying, 
promotion, perception management, public relations, economic development, and preparation and dissemination of 
informational materials.

Set forth below a general description of the registrant's activities, including political activities.

Set forth below in the required detail the registrant's political activities.

Date Contact Method Purpose
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12. During the period beginning 60 days prior to the obligation to register3 for this foreign principal, has the registrant received from 
the foreign principal, or from any other source, for or in the interests of the foreign principal, any contributions, income, money, 
or thing of value either as compensation, or for disbursement, or otherwise?

Yes O No [H N/A - This statement is filed to update the registrant's
agreement/contract with the foreign principal.

If yes, set forth below in the required detail an account of such monies or things of value.

Date Received From Whom Purpose Amount/Thing of Value

13. During the period beginning 60 days prior to the obligation to register4 for this foreign principal, has the registrant disbursed or 

expended monies in comiection with activity on behalf of the foreign principal or transmitted monies to the foreign principal?

Yes Cd No CD N/A - This statement is filed to update the registrant's
agreement/contract with the foreign principal.

If yes, set forth below in the required detail and separately an account of such monies, including monies transmitted, if any. 

Date Recipient Purpose Amount 1

1 "Political activity," as defined in Section l(o) of the Act, means any activity which the person engaging in believes will, or that the person intends to. in any way influence 
any agency or official of the Government of the United States or any section of the public withm the United States with reference to formulating, adopting, or changing the 
domestic or foreign policies of the United States or with reference to the political or public interests, policies, or relations of a government of a foreign country or a foreign 
political party.

2,3,4 Pursuant to Section 2(a) of the Act, an agent must register within ten days of becoming an agent, and before acting as such.
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EXECUTION

In accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 1746, and subject to the penalties of 18 U.S.C. § 1001 and 22 U.S.C. § 618, the undersigned swears or 
affirms under penalty of perjury that he/she has read the information set forth in this statement filed pursuant to the Foreign Agents 
Registration Act of 1938, as amended, 22 U.S.C. § 611 et seq., that he/she is familiar with the contents thereof, and that such contents 
are in their entirety true and accurate to the best of his/her knowledge and belief.

Date Prmted Name Signature

08/02/2022 Mindia Gavasheli /s/Mindia Gavasheli

Received by NSD/FARA Registration Unit 08/02/2022 12:43:48 PM
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EXECUTION

In accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 1746, and subject to the penalties of 18 U.S.C. § 1001 and 22 U.S.C. § 618, the undersigned swears or 
affirms under penalty of perjury that he/she has read the information set forth in this statement filed pursuant to the Foreign Agents 
Registration Act of 1938, as amended, 22 U.S.C. § 611 et seq., that he/she is familiar with the contents thereof, and that such contents 
are in their entirety true and accurate to the best of his/her knowledge and belief.

Date Printed Name

' d itf fa

Signature

/

Received by NSD/FARA Registration Unit 08/02/2022 12:43:48 PM
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(@ffite cf t~e Attcrnel! Q§)eneral 
J!Ias ~ingtant il.Qt. 20,530 

October 4, 2021 

MEMORANDUM FOR DIRECTOR, FEDERAL BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION 
DIRECTOR, EXECUTIVE OFFICE FOR U.S. ATTORNEYS 
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL, CRIM~~IVISfN 

UNITED STATES ATTORNE~S ~\ 

FROM: THE ATTORNEY GENERAL (_Ja,IU 
SUBJECT: PARTNERSHIP AMONG FE ERAL, STATE, LOCAL, TRIBAL, 

AND TERRITORIAL LAW ENFORCEMENT TO ADDRESS 
THREATS AGAINST SCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS, BOARD 
MEMBERS, TEACHERS, AND STAFF 

In recent months, there has been a disturbing spike in harassment, intimidation, and 
threats of violence against school administrators, board members, teachers, and staff who 
participate in the vital work of running our nation's public schools. While spirited debate about 
policy matters is protected under our Constitution, that protection does not extend to threats of 
violence or efforts to intimidate individuals based on their views. 

Threats against public servants are not only illegal, they run counter to our nation's core 
values. Those who dedicate their time and energy to ensuring that our children receive a proper 
education in a safe environment deserve to be able to do their work without fear for their safety. 

The Department takes these incidents seriously and is committed to using its authority 
and resources to discourage these threats, identify them when they occur, and prosecute them 
when appropriate. In the coming days, the Department will announce a series of measures 
designed to address the rise in criminal conduct directed toward school personnel. 

Coordination and partnership with local law enforcement is critical to implementing these 
measures for the benefit of our nation's nearly 14,000 public school districts. To this end, I am 
directing the Federal Bureau of Investigation, working with each United States Attorney, to 
convene meetings with federal, state, local, Tribal, and territorial leaders in each federal judicial 
district within 30 days of the issuance of this memorandum. These meetings will facilitate the 
discussion of strategies for addressing threats against school administrators, board members, 
teachers, and staff, and will open dedicated lines of communication for threat reporting, 
assessment, and response. 

The Department is steadfast in its commitment to protect all people in the United States 
from violence, threats of violence, and other forms of intimidation arid harassment. 
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May 11, 2022 
 

The Honorable Merrick B. Garland 
Attorney General 
Department of Justice 
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. 
Washington, DC 20535 
 
Dear Attorney General Garland:  
 

In sworn testimony before this Committee, you denied that the Department of Justice or 
its components were using counterterrorism statutes and resources to target parents at school 
board meetings.1 We now have evidence that contrary to your testimony, the Federal Bureau of 
Investigation has labeled at least dozens of investigations into parents with a threat tag created by 
the FBI’s Counterterrorism Division to assess and track investigations related to school boards. 
These cases include investigations into parents upset about mask mandates and state elected 
officials who publicly voiced opposition to vaccine mandates. These investigations into 
concerned parents are the direct result of, and would not have occurred but for, your directive to 
federal law enforcement to target these categories of people.    

 
On October 4, 2021, in response to a request from the National School Boards 

Association that the federal government use counterterrorism tools, including the Patriot Act, to 
target parents at school board meetings, you issued a memorandum directing the FBI to address 
these threats.2 The press release accompanying your memorandum highlighted the FBI’s 
National Threat Operations Center to serve as a snitch-line for tips about parents at school board 
meetings.3 By October 20, the FBI had operationalized your directive. In an FBI-wide email, the 
FBI’s Counterterrorism Division and Criminal Division announced the creation of a new threat 
tag—EDUOFFICIALS—and directed all FBI personnel to apply it to school board-related 
threats.4 

 
 

1 Oversight of the United States Department of Justice: Hearing Before the H. comm. on the Judiciary, 117th Cong. 
(2021) (testimony from Hon. Merrick Garland, Atty Gen., U.S. Dep’t of Justice). 
2 Memorandum from Atty Gen. Merrick Garland, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, Partnership Among Federal, State, Local, 
Tribal, And Territorial Law Enforcement to Address Threats Against School Administrators, Board Members, 
Teachers, and Staff (Oct. 4, 2021). 
3 Press Release, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, Justice Department Addresses Violent Threats Against School Officials and 
Teachers (Oct. 4, 2021). 
4 Email from Carlton Peeples, Deputy Assistant Director, Criminal Investigative Div., Fed. Bureau of Investigation, 
to FBI_SACS (Oct. 20, 2021). 
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The Honorable Merrick B. Garland 
May 11, 2022 
Page 2 
 

 

We have learned from brave whistleblowers that the FBI has opened investigations with 
the EDUOFFICIALS threat tag in almost every region of the country and relating to all types of 
educational settings. The information we have received shows how, as a direct result of your 
directive, federal law enforcement is using counterterrorism resources to investigate protected 
First Amendment activity. For example: 
 

• In one investigation begun following your directive, the FBI’s  Field 
Office interviewed a mom for allegedly telling a local school board “we are 
coming for you.” The complaint, which came into the FBI through the National 
Threat Operations Center snitch-line, alleged that the mom was a threat because 
she belonged to a “right wing mom’s group” known as “Moms for Liberty” and 
because she “is a gun owner.” When an FBI agent interviewed the mom, she told 
the agent that she was upset about the school board’s mask mandates and that her 
statement was a warning that her organization would seek to replace the school 
board with new members through the electoral process.  

 
• The FBI’s  Field Office opened an investigation, subsequent to your 

directive, into a dad opposed to mask mandates. The complaint came in through 
the National Threat Operations Center snitch-line and alleged that the dad “fit the 
profile of an insurrectionist” because he “rails against the government,” “believes 
all conspiracy theories,” and “has a lot of guns and threatens to use them.” When 
an FBI agent interviewed the complainant, the complainant admitted they had “no 
specific information or observations of . . . any crimes or threats,” but they 
contacted the FBI after learning the Justice Department had a website “to submit 
tips to the FBI in regards to any concerning behavior directed toward school 
boards.”  

 
• In another case initiated after your directive, the FBI’s  Field Office 

opened an investigation into Republican state elected officials over allegations 
from a state Democratic party official that the Republicans “incited violence” by 
expressing public displeasure with school districts’ vaccine mandates. This 
complaint also came into the FBI through the National Threat Operations Center 
snitch-line. 

 
This whistleblower information is startling. You have subjected these moms and dads to 

the opening of an FBI investigation about them, the establishment of an FBI case file that 
includes their political views, and the application of a “threat tag” to their names as a direct result 
of their exercise of their fundamental constitutional right to speak and advocate for their 
children. This information is evidence of how the Biden Administration is using federal law 
enforcement, including counterterrorism resources, to investigate concerned parents for protected 
First Amendment activity. Although FBI agents ultimately—and rightly—determined that these 
cases did not implicate federal criminal statutes, the agents still exerted their limited time and 
resources investigating these complaints. This valuable law-enforcement time and resources 
could have been expended on real and pressing threats. 
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These investigations into concerned parents were the direct result of your October 4 
directive to the FBI. Each of the cases was initiated following your directive. Each of the 
complaints came into the FBI through the same snitch-line—the National Threat Operations 
Center—highlighted in the press release accompanying your October 4 memorandum. One 
complainant even told an FBI agent that they reported the tip to the FBI because of the snitch-
line, despite having “no specific information” about any actual threat. These facts lead us to 
conclude that these investigations into concerned parents, and likely many more like them, 
would not have occurred but for your directive. 

 
Parents have an undisputed right to direct the upbringing and education of their children,5 

which includes voicing their strong opposition to controversial curricula at local schools. This 
whistleblower information raises serious concerns that your October 4 memorandum will chill 
protected First Amendment activity as parents will rightfully fear that their passionate advocacy 
for their children could result in a visit from federal law enforcement. You have refused to 
rescind your October 4 memorandum and its anti-parent directives. In light of this new 
whistleblower information, we again call on you to rescind your October 4 memorandum. 

 
Committee Republicans have been investigating the Biden Administration’s misuse of 

law-enforcement resources to target concerned parents since last fall.6 You have failed to 
substantively respond to our requests for documents and your sworn testimony to the Committee 
is now contradicted by whistleblower information. Please be assured that Committee 
Republicans will not let this matter drop. Accordingly, we request the following information: 

 
1. Produce all documents and materials identified in our letters to Departmental 

components dated November 1, 2021, November 2, 2021, November 3, 2021, and 
November 18, 2021, immediately; and 
 

2. Take all reasonable steps immediately to preserve all records responsive to our 
letters to Department components. 

 
In addition, we remind you that whistleblower disclosures to Congress are protected by 

law and that we will not tolerate any effort to retaliate against whistleblowers for their 
disclosures. 
 

Sincerely, 
 

    
Jim Jordan     Mike Johnson 
Ranking Member    Ranking Member  

        Subcommittee on the Constitution,  
Civil Rights and Civil Liberties  

 
 

5 Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 65 (2000) (citing Meyer v. Nebraska, 262 U.S. 390, 399 (1923)). 
6 Letter from House Judiciary Committee Republicans to Hon. Christopher A. Wray, Dir., Fed. Bureau of 
Investigation (Nov. 3, 2021). 
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cc: The Honorable Jerrold L. Nadler 
 Chairman 
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August 10, 2022 
 
Ms. Jill Sanborn 
Senior Director Geopolitical Strategy & Risk Analysis 
Roku Inc. 
1701 Junction Court, Suite 100 
San Jose, CA 95112      
 
Dear Ms. Sanborn: 
 
 On July 27, 2022, we wrote to FBI Director Christopher Wray about whistleblower 
disclosures that FBI officials were pressuring agents to reclassify cases as “domestic violent 
extremism” (DVEs) even if the cases do not meet the criteria for such a classification.1 Between 
January 2020 and April 2021, according to public information, you served as the Assistant 
Director of the FBI Counterterrorism Division, and then as Executive Assistant Director of the 
National Security Branch until you left federal service.2 Accordingly, we believe that you may 
possess information relating to this matter and we request your assistance with our inquiry.  
 

Whistleblower disclosures made by multiple FBI employees from different field offices 
suggest that FBI agents are bolstering the number of cases of DVEs to satisfy their supervisors. 
For example, one whistleblower explained that because agents are not finding enough DVE 
cases, they are encouraged and incentivized to reclassify cases as DVE cases even though there 
is minimal, circumstantial evidence to support the reclassification. Another whistleblower stated 
that a field office Counterterrorism Assistant Special Agent in Charge and the FBI’s then-
Assistant Director of the Counterterrorism Division pressured agents to move cases into the DVE 
category to hit self-created performance metrics. This whistleblower identified you as one 
official who exerted pressure on agents to reclassify cases as DVE matters. 
 

The Committee on the Judiciary has legislative and oversight jurisdiction over the 
Department of Justice and the FBI pursuant to Rule X of the Rules of the House of 
Representatives. We are investigating several allegations concerning the politicization of the 
FBI, including allegations that the FBI is padding its DVE data. Your testimony is necessary to 

 
1 Letter from Jim Jordan, Ranking Member, H. Comm. on the Judiciary, to Christopher A. Wray, Dir. Fed. Bureau 
of Investigation (July 27, 2022). 
2 @Jill Sanborn, LINKEDIN, https://www.linkedin.com/in/jill-sanborn-74a402190; Press Release, Fed. Bureau of 
Investigation, Jill Sanborn Named Assistant Director of the Counterterrorism Division (Jan. 8, 2020); Press Release, 
Fed. Bureau of Investigation, Jill Sanborn Named Executive Assistant Director of the National Security Branch, 
(May 7, 2021).  
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Ms. Jill Sanborn 
August 10, 2022 
Page 2 
 

advance our oversight. We therefore ask that you please contact Committee staff to schedule a 
transcribed interview as soon as possible, but no later than 5:00 p.m. on August 24, 2022. You 
may contact Committee staff at (202) 225-6906. 

 
Thank you for your attention to this matter. 

  
Sincerely, 
 
  
 

   Jim Jordan     Mike Johnson  
   Ranking Member    Ranking Member  

Subcommittee on the Constitution, 
Civil Rights and Civil Liberties  
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� 
Department of the Treasury 

f_m Internal Revenue Service 

IRS 
Tax Exempt and Government Entities 
P.O. Box 2508 
Cincinnati, OH 45201 

KASH FOUNDATION INC 
717 KING STREET SUITE 200 
ALEXANDRIA, VA 22314 

Dear Applicant: 

Date: 

07/26/2022 

Employer ID number: 

88-1807315

Person to contact: 

Name: Customer SeNice 

ID number: 31954 

Telephone: (877) 829-5500 

Accounting period ending: 

December 31 

Public charity status: 

170(b )(1 )(A)(vi) 

Form 990 / 990-EZ / 990-N required: 

Yes 

Effective date of exemption: 

April 8, 2022 

Contribution deductibility: 

Yes 

Addendum applies: 

No 

DLN: 

26053586005532 

We're pleased to tell you we determined you're exempt from federal income tax under Internal Revenue Code 
(IRC) Section 501(c)(3). Donors can deduct contributions they make to you under IRC Section 170. You're also 

qualified to receive tax deductible bequests, devises, transfers or gifts under Section 2055, 2106, or 2522. This 
letter could help resolve questions on your exempt status. Please keep it for your records. 

Organizations exempt under IRC Section 501( c )(3) are further classified as either public charities or private 
foundations. We determined you're a public charity under the IRC Section listed at the top of this letter. 

If we indicated at the top of this letter that you're required to file Form 990/990-EZ/990-N, our records show 
you're required to file an annual information return (Form 990 or Form 990-EZ) or electronic notice (Form 
990-N, the e-Postcard). If you don't file a required return or notice for three consecutive years, your exempt
status will be automatically revoked.

If we indicated at the top of this letter that an addendum applies, the enclosed addendum is an integral part of 

this letter. 

Letter 947 (Rev. 2-2020) 
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For important information about your responsibilities as a tax-exempt organization, go to www.irs.gov/charities. 
Enter "4221-PC" in the search bar to view Publication 4221-PC, Compliance Guide for 501(c)(3) Public 

Charities, which describes your rccordkccping, reporting, and disclosure requirements. 

We sent a copy of this letter to your representative as indicated in your power of attorney. 

Sincerely, 

�tL--� 

Stephen A. Martin 

Director, Exempt Organizations 
Rulings and Agreements 

Letter 947 (Rev. 2-2020) 
Catalog Number 35152P 309 of 315



The Honorable Debra Steidel Wall 
Acting Archivist of the United States 

DONALD J. TRUMP 

June 19, 2022 

U.S. National Archives and Records Administration 
Washington, D.C. 

Dear Ms. Wall, 

I write to designate two individuals - Kash Patel and John Solomon - as my representatives for 
access to Presidential records of my administration, pursuant to the Presidential Records Act, 44 
U.S.C. §§ 2201 - 2207, and 36 C.F.R. § 1270.44(a)(4). 

Kashyap Pramod "Kash" Patel can be reached at patelkpp@gmail.com and (516) 330-628. John 
Solomon can be reached at Jsolomon@justthenews.com and (202) 236-5606. Both individuals 
meet the requirements for access to records under 36 C.F.R. § 1270.44(a)(4). 

Thank you for your attention to this request. 

cc: Mr. Gary M. Stem 
Mr. John Laster 

Sincerely, 
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Use Only

Under section 501(c), 527, or 4947(a)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code (except private foundations)
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Under penalties of perjury, I declare that I have examined this return, including accompanying schedules and statements, and to the best of my knowledge and belief, it is

true, correct, and complete. Declaration of preparer (other than officer) is based on all information of which preparer has any knowledge.

Signature of officer Date

Type or print name and title

Date PTINPrint/Type preparer's name Preparer's signature

Firm's name Firm's EIN

Firm's address

Phone no.

 

Form

Name of organization

Doing business as

Number and street Telephone number

City or town, state or province, country, and ZIP or foreign postal code

Is this a group return 

for subordinates?Name and address of principal officer: ~~

If "No," attach a list. See instructions

Group exemption number  |

Tax-exempt status:

Briefly describe the organization's mission or most significant activities:

Check this box if the organization discontinued its operations or disposed of more than 25% of its net assets.

Number of voting members of the governing body (Part VI, line 1a)

Number of independent voting members of the governing body (Part VI, line 1b)

Total number of individuals employed in calendar year 2021 (Part V, line 2a)

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Total number of volunteers (estimate if necessary)

Total unrelated business revenue from Part VIII, column (C), line 12

Net unrelated business taxable income from Form 990-T, Part I, line 11

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

������������������

Contributions and grants (Part VIII, line 1h) ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Program service revenue (Part VIII, line 2g) ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~Investment income (Part VIII, column (A), lines 3, 4, and 7d)

Other revenue (Part VIII, column (A), lines 5, 6d, 8c, 9c, 10c, and 11e) ~~~~~~~~

Total revenue - add lines 8 through 11 (must equal Part VIII, column (A), line 12) ���

Grants and similar amounts paid (Part IX, column (A), lines 1-3)

Benefits paid to or for members (Part IX, column (A), line 4)

Salaries, other compensation, employee benefits (Part IX, column (A), lines 5-10)

~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~

Professional fundraising fees (Part IX, column (A), line 11e)

Total fundraising expenses (Part IX, column (D), line 25)

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Other expenses (Part IX, column (A), lines 11a-11d, 11f-24e)

Total expenses. Add lines 13-17 (must equal Part IX, column (A), line 25)

Revenue less expenses. Subtract line 18 from line 12

~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~

����������������

Total assets (Part X, line 16)

Total liabilities (Part X, line 26)

Net assets or fund balances. Subtract line 21 from line 20

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

��������������

May the IRS discuss this return with the preparer shown above? See instructions ���������������������

LHA Form (2021)

Part I Summary

Signature BlockPart II

990

990 2021
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=
=

999

Return of Organization Exempt From Income Tax

Center for Renewing America, Inc.
X 85-4307005
X

300 Independence Avenue SE 202-656-8825
1,042,274.

Washington, DC  20003
Russell Vought X

same as C above
X

www.americarenewing.com
X 2020 DE

Conduct original research and
analysis of public polic to advance a renewing of America.

5
4
7
9
0.
0.

1,042,274.
0.
0.
0.

1,042,274.
0.
0.

403,658.
0.

57,544.
333,074.
736,732.
305,542.

354,539.
48,997.
305,542.

Russell Vought, President

Daren Daiga P01074795
Capin Crouse, LLP 36-3990892
1330 Avenue of the Americas, Suite 23A
New York, NY 10019 505-502-2746

X

** Public Disclosure Copy **

11/15/2022
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Extended to November 15, 2022
OA) Ne 1545 004/Return of Organization Exempt From Income Tax

Under section 501(c), 527, or 4947[a|(1) of the Internal Revenue Code (except privato founcdations)
Do not enter social security numbers on this form as it may be made public.

Go towww.irs.gov/Forn990forinstructionsandthelatestiníormation.

990 2021Form

OpentoPublic
inspectionpvent e thnireasun

neenslReven Srviee
A For the 2021 calendar year, or tax year beginning
8 Check CName of organization

and ending
D Employer identification number

aooieealbl

Adre Conservative Partnership Institute
Doingbusinessas

Number and street (or P.0. box t mail s not delvered to sircel adress)

300 Independence Ave SE
City or town, state or province, country, and ZIP or foreign postal code

82-1470217ehano
reltrn
Final

Room/sıuntcE Tclephone number
(202)742-8988

net
G Goss receiats $ 45,707,730.aled

e Washington, DC 20003 H(a) Is this a group return

H(b) Aealtsabordin ts incsen

H(C) Groupexernption numbcr

JYes XNO
No

Apohc FNameandaddressofprincipalolficer.Edward Corrigan
same as C above

for subordinales?enng
Yes

Tax exemptstatus: LXl501(c)(3)
JWebsite:WWWW.cpi.org
K Form of organization: Corporation

Partl Summary

50t(c)( )4 (insertno.)L.4947(a)X1)ar J s27| If "No. atuacha list See instructions

TrustJAssociation Oher LYcarofformatigp: 2017 MSlateoflegaldomicile:DE

Brieflydescnbetheorganization'smissionormostsignificantactivitios:See Schedule 0 for complete1

mission statement.
2 Check this box it the organization discontinuced its operations or cdisposed of more than 25% of its net assets
3 Number of voting members of the goveming body (Part VI, line 1a)
4 Number of independent voting mermbers of the goveming body (Part Vl, line 1b)
5 Total number of individuals employed in calendar year 2021 (Part V. line 2a)
6 Total number of volunteers (estimate if necessary)
7a Total unrelated business revenue from Part VIll, column (C). line 12

31TION
0.
0.b NetunrelatedbusinesstaxabieincomefromForm990-T,Part I,linc 1 7

Prior Year Current Year
8
9
10

Contributionsandgrants(PartVIll,line1h) .
Program service revenue (Part VIll, line 29)
Investment income (Part VIll, column A). lines 3, 4, and 7d)
Other revenue (Part Vll, column (A), lines 5, 6d, 8c, 9c. 10€, and 11e)

7,106,027: 45,027,954.
653,505.

2,892.
23,379.

15,485.
3,776.

-922,881.11

12 Total revenue- add lines 8 through 11 (mustequal PartVIll,column(A),linc12)
13 Grants and similar amounts paid (Part IX, column (A), lines 1-3)
14 Benefits paid to or for members (Part lIX, cokunn (A, line 4)
15 Salaries, other compensation, employee benetts (Part IX, column (A), lines 5-10)
16a Professional fundraising fees (Part X, column (A), line 11e)

6,202, 407- 45,707,730.
3,907,356.0.4,654,508.

0.0.3,133,402
0 0

► 3,010, 594.b Total fundraising expenses (Part X, column (D), line 25)
17 Other expenses (Part lX. colunn (A), lines 11a-11d. 11124e)
18 Total expenses. Add lines 13-17 (must equal Part IX, column (A). line 25)

8,598,558.
5,948,594. 17,160,422.
2,815,192.

19 Revenue lessexpenses. Subiract line 18from line 12 253,813. 28,547,308.
Beginning of Current Year End of Year

A 2021 Totalassets(PartXline 16).......
Totalliabilities(Part X line 26)
Netassets or fundbalances.Subtract line 21 from line 20

2,629,044. 31,688,292.
1,611,496.

1,397,428. 30,076, 796.
1,231,616.

Z22Part ll|Signature Block
Under penalties of perjury, A declare that l have examined this return, includıng accompanying schedules and slatements, and to the best of my knowledge and beliel, it is

true, correct, and complete. Deçlaration of preparer (other than olficer) is based on all inlormalıon of which preparer bas any knowledgc.

Signatureofo n
Eâward Corrigan,
Type or printnameandtitle

1Wpvembor 2e22Date
Sign
Here President and CEO

TDatePrin/Type preparer'sname
Hemali Kane, EA

Preparer's signalure

km 11/15/221 P01337292Paid

PreparerFirn'sname Rogers & Company PLLC
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